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PREFACE
PURPOSE AND PLAN OF THIS STUDY

This study of the works of Carmen Laforet was
undertaken after reading two of her short storlies, Al
colegio and Rogemunda. These guentos made such an out-
standing impression because the vivid and haunting charac-
terizations and the sharp expressions of longing and
anguish were g0 real that the feelings of the characters
were transmitted to the reader. They prompted a desire to
know more about the writings of this author who can malke
her readers suffer through the painful and moving experiences
of her charsoters but who, unlike many Spanish authors,
usually avoids leaving them with a feeling of desolation
and despalr. She acocomplishes this by closing her nsrra-
tives with a note of hopeful uncertainty about things to
conme,

In all of her writings Carmen Laforet makes little
use of description of the physical appearance of cheracters,
setting, and location, or of development of plot. Most of
her stories could have taken place anywhere, Instead, her
emphasis is on characterization. Her works are filled
with personalities who strike against each other, the
psychologically disturbded, individuals filled with angulsh
and longings for unfulfilled desires, disillusioned and




suiling adolesoents, lonely individuals moved about by
cruel forces, vegabonds, vague and mysterious men, persons
suffering from oconfliot with moral responsibilities and
religious bellefs.

The purpoase of this study 1s to explore and examine
the nature of the emotional conflicts that Carmen Laforet
has portrayed in her writings and to determine her treat-
ment of these. In general, the conflicts can be ldentified
as those that involve inter-personal relatlonships and
those that involve conflict with envirommental and soclo-
loglcal factors. These will be discussed under seven
different areas of sonflict: (1) person with his family
(mother, father, siblings, relatives); (2) person with his
spouse and/or spouege's family; (3) person with friends
and/or other individuals; (4) person with self; (5) person
with his enviromment (economic status, social status, home);
(6) person with religion; (7) and person with ocustoms and
mores.

The complete works of Carmen Laforet were read as
published in Novelas, one volume which includes her three
long novels, seven short novels, ten short stories, a
prologue, and introductory comments by the author to each
novel and group of works.l This "Primer tomo" contains

lcarmen Laforet, Novelas (Barcelona: Editorial
Planeta, 1963).



vi

the following novels: Unas lfneas de la autora {(Prélogo),

vada, L& isla y los demonios, La llamada, ©1 dltimo verano,

Un novizago, El piano,_La nifia, Los emvlazados, El viale
divertido, and La mujer nueva. The following cuentos ere

also included: La muerta, El veraneo, Ls fotograffa, In la

edad del pato, Ultima noche, Rosamunda, 21 colegio, Il
regreso, Un matrimonio, and El 2guinaldo.
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CHAPDYT T
THE LIFn AND WORK3 OF CARMEN LAFORET

Carmen Lafaoret has been declared by some crities
&8s the first important woman writer in Spain since Conche
Zspina, whose most famous work, La esfinge maragata was
published in 1914 and whose novel Altar mayor won the
Primo Naclonal de Literatura in 1926.2 Of all the modern
Spanish authors of post Civil War novels, Carmen Laforet
has obtained, along with Camilo Jofe Cela, the greatest
popularity and renown inside and outside 3pain. 3Seversl
olrcunstances, in addition to the excellence of her first
novel Nada, contributed to her sudden prominence and popu-
larity. One of them was the establishment of the Zugenio
Nadal prize by the directors of the weekly Destino of
Baroelona in 1944, a prize that contimues to be the most
distinguished literary award given in Spain. It was eztablished
in honor of the young editorial secretary of that newspaper,
Eugenlo Nadal, who died that year. The first novel to
receive this prize was Nada. This clrcumstance alone was
sufficlient to make Carmen Laforet famous overnight, though

she was only twenty-three and had been completely unknown

2Richard E. Chandler and Kessel Schwartz, A New

H;g&g;% o Snig;gg Literature (Baton Rouge: Louisians
tate nT%éra ty Press, 1961), p. 259.



to the literary oirecles of Spain,3 She opened the con-
tenporary period of invasion of women into the field of
Spanish letters, where they have competed with men with
dignity and brilliance for a period of twenty years. In
no epoch have there been so many women cultlivating the
novel, one of the most significant facts in Spanisgh litera-
ture of the post-war period.h This situation is probebly
due in part to the increase in attendance of women at the
universities with the conszequent improvement of their capacity
for nmajor literary undertakings, but no doubt it was
encouraged by the success of Laforet,

The Spanish eritic, Juan Luig Alborg, in discussing
the works of flfteen selected Spanish novelists of today,
states that Nada and La famille de Pascuel Duarte by Cela
were the novels that raised the Spanlaﬁ novel to a level
approaching that of the early twentieth century, and
captured the interest and curiosity of the 3panish publie
vith a2 result that was almost sensational. The Jpanicsh
public had lost the custom of buying books ty native authors,
but Carmen Laforet's [ladz sold like "dally breac, made the

public aware that e Svarish novel once more exicted, end

3Rodolfo Cardona (ed.), Noyelistas sspaficles de
Hoy (New York: ¥W. W. Norton and Company, Inc., 1959), p. 28.
“Eniliano Dieg~ -Echarri and José Marfa Roca Franquesa,

Historla de la literature espafiola e hispanoamericans
&y Aguilar, 1960), p. 1397.



made the editing of the Spanlish novel a good business
agein, Alborg =msays:

Neda . . . se vendlds, en camdio, como el pan, hasta
el punto de gque pocas novelas esgpafiolas sme habrdn
vendldo tanto. Con ella, pues, se lograba el milagro
de que la novela espafiola se convirtiera hasta en un
claro negoslo editorial, y ella fue la que acosgtumbré
a nuestro pdblico a la idea de que volvia & existir una
novela espafiola, y le tornéd a la perdida costumbre de
comprarla.

There have been fifteen editions and more than one hundred
thousand coples of Nada 8014.6 It went on to win further
honors by being awarded in 1949 the Fastenrath Prize of the
Royal Spanish Aocademy, given to a published novel in honor
of the great German Hispanist, Johannen PFastenrath.

Although he considers Nada an important book, it is

the belilef of Alhorg that Carmen Laforet gained fame for
Nada not because it is an exceptional novel, but because

it was the first Nadal prige winner. He believes the result
would have been the same if the book had been less superior.
If 1t had been published today when there is an abundanoce
of Spanish novelists, its diffusion and fame would be much
less and 1its author would not have been elevated to her

present high position in the literary ocircles of Spain.

5Juan Luis Alborg, Hora actual de la novela espafiola
(¥adrid: Taurus, 1958), p. %52

6chandler and Schwartz, op. cit., p. 260,
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In his opinion, there have been many Spanish novels superior
to Nada published since 1944 which have not aroused such
public interest.?

Carmen Laforet, in her book Mig pdginas me jore .8
gives a short sutoblozraphy. She was born September 6, 1921
in Barcelona. At the age of two she went with her parents
to 1live in Las Palmas in the Canary Islands. Her father,
who a8 an architect, was also & professor of the school
La Zscuela de Peritaje Industrial, and this posltion took
him there. e was from Seville, the son of & French father
and Basque mother. Fducated in Barcelona, he was a chame
pion marksman, a good boatman, and had won numerocus bicycle
racesg., Ile taught Carmen and her brothers, Edward and John,
to swim, to endure long excursions through the interior
of the 1s5land, and the art of good marksmanship with the
plstol.

Her mother married when she was eighteen end Carmen,
her first child, was born when she was twenty. The mother
died at the age of thirty~three, while the fanilr was still
livins in the Canary Islands. Carmen remeanhers her as
small of stature, kind and friendly, highly intelligent,

the possessor of enormous spiritual enersy, snd an inflexible

7Ibid., pp. 133-13k.

8Carmen Leforet, .1z nf:-inas mejores (. =24rid:
£ditorisl Gredos, 1956), pp. 9~-11.




Castilizn sense of duty. She taught her children the
importance of truth, of not leaving tasks half done, and
of acocepting responsibility for their own actions., The
author's relationship with her two brothers, she states,
has always been one of mutual understanding and companion-
ship. Later, her father remarried. She refers to her
step-mother as one who conducted herself like those in
falry stories. She says of her:

s + « & pegar de todas mis resistenclias a oreer en
los cuentos de hadas, me confirmé su veracidad,
comportdndose ocomo las madrastas de esos cuentos. De
ella aprendf que la fantasfa slempre es pobre comparada
oon la realidsd.?

The end of the Spanish Civil War, in September, 1939,
allowed Carmen to return to Barcelona, where she lived for
three years with an aunt and studied phillosophy and litera-
ture at the University of Barcelona in preparation for
entering Law School at the University of Madrid. She did
not finish her work in either school. In January, 1944
while 1living in Madrid, this girl, whose only previous
publication had been a Mother'!s Day article in a magagine,
began writing the novel, Nada, the idea for wnich came fronm
the shock she experienced upon her arrival in Barcelona
lmmediately after the end of the Spanish Civil War, far

from the friendly and peaceful world of the Canary Islands.10

9Ibid., pp. 10-11.
101p34., p. 13.
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The book was written hastily, in fact, the first chapter
eppeared in print Jjust as she had penned it the first time,
She really had no time for revision bvecause the closing
date for the newly announced lNadal competition was near.
She completed the bock in September.

There was an interval of geven years between the
first and second novel during which kiss Laforet married
the writer and Jjournalist, Manuel Cerezales, and had her
first three children. S8he wrote nothing the first three
years of this periocd. Then she began to publish some mis-
cellaneous articles and various short stories. Among them
was "una estampe de vida", Al colegio, and two short
stories, Rosspunds and La muerta, published later in one
volume entitled La muexrta. Of her artieies ghe says:

Mis artfculos son intrascendentes, casl son

confidenciag, ninguno de ellos trata de temas que

no entren puramente dentro de la libre composiocidn
literaria.ll

She wrote her second novel, La isla y los demonios, published
in February, 1952, while awaiting the birth of a fourth child.
Seven short novels followed, written between 1952

and 1955, as well as some magazine articles. Under the
title of lLa llamada, four of the short novels, Un noviazgo,
El pleno, La lladama, and El dltimo yverano, were published

l1psa., p. 37.
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in one volume in 1954. Her third novel, La mujer nueva,

was published in 1955 and that same year was awarded the
Menorca prige, the largest monetary award given in Spain,
established in memory of Fernando Rubio.12 In 1956 the
book received the lMiguel Cervantes award, the "Premio
Nacional de Literatura.!

Carmen Laforet 18 now the mother of five children
and resides with her famlly in hHadrid, where she has been
living since 1942, 8She divides her time between domestic
and literary tasks. Her fourth novel, La ingolacidn, the
first of a trilogy 1reg pasog fuera del tiempo, was published
in Bercelona by Editorial Planeta in March, 1963. Al volver
i8 esquina, the second of the group, has also been published,
and the author is in the process of wr1t1né the third,
Jague Mate. The three books mark three periods in the life
of a man, Martin Soto, beginning in 1940 in his fourteenth
year, and also * . . . tres momentos de la vida de estos
dltimos veinte afios en Espafia. 13

Of her own success as an author Carmen Laforet has
salds

Es diffoll imaginar a un joven méds dispuesto a
segulr un duro ocamino literario, y que haya

12m4., p. 207.

13carmen Laforet, La insolaclén (Barcelona: Editorial
Planeta, 1963), pp. 7-8.



encontrado un OOﬂienzo méds fdcll; una popularidad
nds inesperada.l

She admits that 1t 1s impossible for her to correct
a book because she does not have great patience. There-
fore, Af some of her pages are written in correct and
harmonious Spanish, it is a spontaneous result, ", . . esB
porque asf salld de mi pluma, esponténeemente., . . . al
leer unas galeradas, es raro que las corrija, porque,
preocupada por la idea general del 1libro, las olvido."
The author has stated that her ohief interests are "la

observacidn, la oreacidén de le vida." She 1s concerned

with the vigor of her characters, the manner of relating
the facts, which she expresses objectlvely in order that
the reader may be the judge and acocept or reject_them as

he pleases. Her profound love of 1life is the motive and
inspiration for her vocation as a novelist. The world
about which she writes is that of the novelist and ". . .
no es mil autoblogreffa, como han querido ver algunos
orfticos."l5

As previously stated, the novel Nada has prompted
much discussion by readers and oritics alike, among whom
was Azorfn,16 who asdmired Carmen Laforet and wrote an

14Laforct. Mis pdginas meljores, op oit., p. 7.
15m1d., pp. 8-9.

16Harguer1te C. Rand, "AzorfIn in 1960 and after,"”
Hispania, XLV (Maxrch, 1962), p. 34.



9
article about the book at the time of its first appearance

in 1944, Professor Sherman Zoff of Washington University
in an article on Nada regards the book as a rather con-
spicuous exception to the heavy atmosphere of discouragement
concerning man's place in the world, which is a prominent
aspeot of the contemporary Spanish novel. He considers it
unique in 1its declsiveness of technique and 1ts conoentra-
tion of artistic energy toward a novelistic goal. He
states that Carmen Laforet has blended one version of
nihllistioc outlook with a distinetive literary form and
her accomplishment has the appearance of an enthusiastic
experimentation in reproducing a vision of '“mechanistle
dynamlcos"--the motivation of human bodles in an area of
relationships dominated by physical forces. She gives a
Tivid image of human beinga tossed to and fro as though
impelled by a law of mechanics,l?

Some oritiocs feel that the message of Nada is that
of the decadence of modern Spain. "Others see it as an
existentlalism of people hemmed in by various boundaries
or limiting situations they camnot overcome, unable to
communicate, gnawed by congtant suffering and remorse."
The characters fit into almost a Dostoievskian mold with
solitude, frustration, hate, misunderstanding, suffering,

l7Sherman Eoff, "Nada by Cermen Laforet: A Venture
in Mechanistic Dynamios," Hispania, XXXV (May, 1952), 207-211.
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ag thelr dally lot. The work is "tremendista'", though no
tremendous events take place. It is doubtful whether the
young author had any ldeology in mind when she wrote the
book, but she has summed up beautifully an age where faith
in absolute values has glven w~y to the search for one's
own authentlelty in the face of nothingness.l8 1In an
article on present day novels published in Books Abroad,
Jacob Ornsteln and James Y. Causey desoribe Nads as a
story of people living in a spiritual and material void,
in nothingness. It could be a tale of Europeans in many
lands leading a hand-to-mouth existence in a wretched
envirorment.l9 Although Laforet denies that Nada is auto-
biographical, Zamora, a member of the jury that selected
the book for the Nadal prize, believes the novel has the
unmistakable flavor of authenticity, of somethling experienced
and transformed into literature. He considers it not best
in quality but the most publicized and talked-about book
in the Spanish language in this half- century. Its greatest
charm is in its spontaneity and freshnesa. It ig compar-
able to Wuthering Helghts by Emily Bront8. It is not occupied

18chandler and Schwartz, op. sit., p. 250.

19Jacob Ornsteln and James Y. Causey, "Novels and
Novelists in Present Day Spain,'" Books Abroad, (Norman:
University of Oklahoma Press), XXIV (Summer 1950), 246.
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with style and language. Of Ardrea, the protegonist of the
book, he says, "she keeps throughout the novel her smille
of astonishment snd is like Laforet herself”,20 Although
Laforet gives BrontB no ocredit for either her techniques
or cholce of material, Alborg belleves that Wuthering
Helghts may have influenced Laforet in writing Nada. Ve
concurs with Zamora that the novel is convineing becaurce
the fundamental basge of the novel comes from experiences
the author has lived. Alborg finds parts of the novel are
not genuine, however, and he considers this a true defect
in the book. He sights as examples the occupation of
Gloria and the attack that tock place in the "bsrrio chino”.
He mays:

day ingenuldedeg, sin embargo, como la ocupacién

de Gloria para traer dineroc a casa, que repregentan
un verdadero fallo en la novela. Lo mismo podria
decirse de la incursidn, totalmente inneceparia, por
el "barrio chino" barcelonéds, que parece incrustada
all? para dar un remalazo de acento masculino,
completamente equivocado.?2l

As to the ability of Carmen Laforet, Alborg states that

she has the rare secret of defining with accurate stroles,

human passions, the world, and the weaknesses of human beings

of her own sex, Iier women characters are nuch better than

20g, VAsquez Zamora, "Appearance of Carmen Laforet
on the Spanish Literary Scene,” Books Abroad, XXX (Autumn
1956), 394-396.

21r1borg, op. cit., pp. 133-135.



12
the men, who escape the reader frequently in a oloud of
idealization and deformation, but the women are always
"dotadas de sdlida verdad". Laforet possesses an instinct
so precise that she 1is able to delve into the secrets of
their ridiculous situation or their wretchedness in order
to capture their enthusiasm, their ardor, thelr 1llusions.Z22
She seems partiocularly interested in her female charaoters,
and the majority of her protagonistes are women.

Coneerning her second novel, La igla y los demonios,
Carmen Laforet wrote that the title of the book corresponds
to the two forces that made her write it., The first, the
most important, was the embellished and meglcal memories
of her adolesence spent on the island of Gran Canaria
where the story takes place. The other, ", . . la trama
de pasiones humanas--giempre las mismas en todas las
latitudes--, a las que yo llamo "los demonios."23 These
human passions, "los demonilos", are prevalent in all parts
of the world, lodged in the heart of all men. These demons
sre the seven capital sins.24 A11 the characters in the

novel are demon-ridden,

221p14., p. 136.

23Laforet, Mis pdginas mejores, op. cit., ». 57.

2hretoret, Novelas, op. cit., p. 634,
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Gongzalo Torrente Ballester, in a oritioism of ocone-
temporary Spanish literature, wrote that La isla y los
demonios would be Carmen Laforet's best novel if she had
not written Nada. Although the narrative material in this
second novel is repetitiocus of the first, the story is
more skillfully written.25 Alborg agrees with Torrente
Ballester when he writes that if la isla y los demonios had
been the Nadal winner of 1944, it would have received the
recognition which it merits. It demonstrates the author's
abllity to repeat her first success. Alborg believes that
this seocond novel has the same good qualities and the same
defeots as Nada. It holds the interest of the reader, the
author's ability to narrate is evident (always in the manner
of the traditional and classical novel), and the style is
clear, pure, and conoise. The women contimue to be the prin-
cipal characters and the most aseurately portrayed. Carmen
Laforet is a "skillful painter” of their appearance, their
gestures, their words. The men continue to be elusive,
except for some well-done episodes with José€, the brother
of the heroine narta.26

25Gonzslo Torrente Balloltor

26A1borg. op. ¢it., p. 138,
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La isla y los demonlos 1s considered by Professor
Cyrus C. De Coster of Kansas University as a less forceful
novel than Nada, although simllar in theme, structure, and
technique. There is less tension between characters;
there is not the unrelieved bickering and brutality of
Nada; nor, since the family is wealthy, is there the
oppressive presoccupation with money, the constant fight
againgst hunger, the squalor and filth of surroundings.
The gloom 1s relieved by the beauty of the landscape and
gaerdens, Ilost of the action takes place in lLas Palmag,
which the author descridbes vividly as having charm and
besuty, sandy beaches, luxuriant flowers, and cragey,
volcanic mountains. In the holocaust of the Civil Var it
1s an asylum of peace, a marked contrast to Laforett!s
typlcal distraught characters. It is not a reglonal
novel, for only the servant Vicenta is a characteristic
1sland type, but it 1s the only one of her works in which
the setting plays a slgnificant role. ZHoth Yada and La

1sls y los demonios are pessimistic in tone. The majority

of the charactsrs are unhappy, tormented individuale.?2?
More immortant than the setting, however, 1is the
plot, whlch Zamora pointe out to be more comnlicated than

that of }Nada. The author uses more varied techniques and

273yrus C. De Coster, "Carmen Iaforet: .. Tentativre
Evaluation," Hispania, XL (May, 1957), 188,
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is more conscious of style. JSentiments and characters
are analyzed more deeply. The Marta of La 1isla y los
demonios could well be Andrea of Nads at fifteen or
sixteen, but the bHooks are not continuous and there are
scarcely any autoblographical elements apparent in the
plot of La isla y los demonlos. It follows the asuthor's
previous tone: literature of the smiling disillusiomment,
Marta soes on, as Andrea of Nada, maintalning the same
spirit, full of pure inclinations that clesh with brutal
reality. Also, as in Nada, there is a familiar group of
persons who border on the psychopathle. There is no
religions finality in the presentation of emotional problems
or conseguences. The best part of the novel, in Zamora's
opinion, 1s the most objective in theme, namely the story
of the servant of the house, Vicenta, and her daughters.
lere Laforet begins to describe from an adult point of
view the lives of others, and in this achleves "extra-
ordinary and expressive vlgor".zs In this section ghe
rresents some of the superstitions and folklore of the
mountain-.dwelling natives of the Canary Islands.

There is greater variety in Laforett's volume of
stories, called La muerta, and in her volume of short novels,

called La llsmada. In spite of the harrassing strugele

287amore, op. cit., p. 396.
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with economic difficulties, many of the characters main-
tain their optimism and their faith in themselves and in
others. Some find consolation and a source of strength
in religion, which had played virtually no role in her
first two novels. The brief novel, El vialje divertido,
has a moralistioc twist with a real emphasis on religion,
in a highly sentimental tone. El aguinaldo and El noviagzgo
belong to this new orientation. Of the short novel, El
noviaggo, Alborg says, ". . . se centra en torno a dos
personajes que son puro aclerto. Una obra lograda en este
gfnexro.” He considers the male protagonist of this storyonec
of the best of his kind in literature, "el mejor de su
especie que lleva ocreado hasta ahora."29

Of Laforet!s short works Professor De Coster oon-
siders the best to be E] yeranso, El novisrgo, and El regreso,
written in her earlier manner with none of her new idealism.
La muerta, La fotografds, E]l gdltimo verano, and E] pilano,
are glorifications of characters who, in spite of adversity,
maintain thelr oourage, thelr optimism, amd their basic
faith. At times, as in E] ditimo verano, Laforet's opti-
mism 1s faclile and she falls into the sentimental. She
is even more unconvincing in E] matrimonio. A rich young
playboy marries a chorus girl when he discovers she is

2a1vorg, op. git., p. 1hL,
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expecting a child by him. His family outs him off, but
his new responsibilities prove to be his salvation. The
characterization of the macabre, would~be aotress in La
llemada 1s in the traditional style of Laforet's women
characters and is good, but the conoclusion is contrived
and unsatisfactory. In all these stories the emphasis 1is
on ocharacterization rather than on plot. Several of them
are merely brief sketches which strive to catch a mood or
deplct a character. De Coster considers them uneven in
quality, "the best of them are very good; the weakest do
not rise above the level of the filction in women's maga-
zines."30 In a discussion of reocent novels of Spain,

Dr. Willie Knapp Jones of Miami University describes Miss
Laforet's writings through this period by saying:

To this author, a novel is a combination of a
little sentiment, a little imagination, and the obser-
vation of many and varied types. 5She gives the
impression of a smiling but disillusionsd person.
Selze on a slice of 1ife, feel it and mould it into &
story, is her formula.3l

Laforet's fifth book and third novel, La mujer nueva,

is her most ambitious work to date. It is a longer novel,
the actlion covers a period of some fifteen years, and the

locale shifts between Villa de Robre, an imaginary small

Xpe coster, op. oit.. p. 190.

lwillts Knapp Jones, "Recent Novels of Spain:
1936-56," BEispania, XL (September, 1957), 306.
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town in the province of Ledn, and Madrid. In the book
Laforet treats more fully the theme of religion. De Coster
oconsiders her only partially sucecessful ir her attempt and
that La mujler nueva is a weaker novel than Nada or La isla
de los demonios.32 In the opinion of Jones, "Though 1t won
the 200,000 peseta 1955 Menorca Prize, the largest sum ever
pald & Spanish suthor, as well as the 1956 'Premio Naclonal
de Literatursa', it is dull, with religiocus talk replaocing
aotion."33 Three previously mentioned sources, Chandler and
Schwartz, and the two Spanish critics, Torrente Ballester and
Alborg, all agree with the above critiocism, that the thene
of this nevel does not draw ocut Laforet'!s ocapabilities and
that Paulina, the heroine, fails to be oconvinoing, except
in part. It is a story of human passions. Alborg con-
siders the first part of the book to be an objeotive,
realistic treatment of the emotional confliocts of Pauline
(an adulterous and tormented woman), as much better than
the part that follows after she experiences a religious
erisis. The novel then shifts to the religious and ethical
aspirationg of "la mujer mieva™. He states the oconversion
of Paulina is too rapid and easy and that there is a lack
of developument of psychological motives. Paulina, the

32pe Coster, logc. git.
33Jones, log. git.
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ginner, is absolutely convincing, but "la mujer nueva” is
too disoriented, and becomes "dashed to pleces on the
rocks of vulgarity and sontlmontalium".3“ Torrente Ballester
believes the first part of the novel superior to the second,
both because of the authenticity of the material and the
manner of relating the story.35

In a review of La mujer nueva in Books Abroad,
Olga F. Ferrer of the University of Buffalo asserts that
were it not widely known by her own admission that Laforet
became converted to Catholicism, one would wonder "if the
psychologiocal inocoherence of the main character and over-
whelming profusion of a vapld religious language are not
aimed at a parody of a theme about which so many readers
Ain Spain have felt happy and by which they have been edi-
flied," Ferrer considers the extramarital love affair dull
and of no value to the book.36

On the positive side, Zamora believes that in her
last narratives Carmen Laforet has found her balance and
has gained in art what she has lost in "creative frengy”
and in Neo-Romanticism. While he admires her powerful
outbursts of light and shadow, of one's own purity and

y‘nbOrg. 22. —O-LE" p. 139.
3Srorrente Ballester, op. cit., p. 424.

36013. F. Ferrer, Review of La mujer nueva, Books
Abroad, XXX (Fall 1956) Lok. = = =
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other's lmpurity as in jNadas, he feels that now she has
found the right pitch and that her personages are more
simply human.>? De Coster considers parts of the novel--
the account of Faullna's adolescence and her idyllic
youthful romance with Zuloglo--as well done. Laforet
succeeds in making her alternating periods of elation and
doubt after hexr conversiocn, quite convinecing. Other parts
ring false, There is lack of motivation for the final
action between Paulina and Eulogio. The whole episode of
Julidn Mateos, the apprentice, and the brutal murder he
commits, are irrelevant to the maln action. e concludes
that while La muler nueva 1s readable, and in some ways
interesting, 1t does not bear close analysis. "It has in
large part been arranged to illustrate the author's
thesis, 38

In a preface to excerpts froa the book, Laforet
atates that her own conversion in December, 1951 to the
Catholic falth motivated the theme of this novel. Although
she had been baptized at birth, she had never before con-
cerned herself with religion. Of the book itselfl she
clalms to prefer it to the rest. JShe says, "La mujer

nueva~-tédnicamente--ha sido también la mds diflcil de mis

37Zamora, loc. cit.
38pe Coster, op. oit., pp. 190-191.
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novelas, y quizd por esto--0 porque es la Wltima que he
hecho-=la prefiero a las demds, "9

In a general summary of Laforet's works, De Coster
points out that although her stories take plase during the
decade following the Civil War, except La isla y los
demonios which occurs during the last months of the war,
the war itself plays a small role in her work. Several
secondary characters in La mujer nueva were assassinated
during the war, but Laforet does not dwell on its horror
or the tragedy of a divided people, We see reflected the
difficult economic and arid epiritusal conditions prevalent
in present-day Spain, but she scarcely suggests the war
was regponsible for this. Her writing is completely
apolitical. The pessimistic tone of many of her stories
1s common to much of the literature of the twentieth
century. There is 1little astual vioclence in her work, one
suicide and a murder. Sex plays an important role only
in La mujer nueva, and here it is rapidly glossed over.

In all her novels there are neurotic, warped individuals
at odds with thenselves and their families, with no
direction to their lives, who succeed only in hurting each
other. The pessgimistic disheartemment of the individual

expressed in Nada becomes progressively less dynamic in

3Laforet, Mis pdginas mejores, op. oit., p. 208.



22

succeeding novels., In her recent works Laforet strives
to establish values to which the inmdividual ocan e¢ling, but
when she 1z 1dealistic, she tends= to be sentimental.
Where religion 1= the answer, she is not entirely convinoing.

Carmen lLaforet, however, is considered one of the
begt young novelists writing in Spain todeay. She is
eminently successful, for her books have bsen well received
by both critice and the pudlic. In the edition of her
latest novel Ls ingolagidn (1963), the editors state her
books have been translated into eight different languasges,
She has definite qualities., She narrates well, 1sg seldom
4Aull, her style is simple and forceful. She iz best when
portrayinzg the deluded individuals, those tortured with
anguish and unfulfilled desires, unadle to ad just to life.
Most critics seem to feel her last four books, not ineclud-
ing La insolacidn, fall to live up to the promise of Nads.
Dr. De Coster suggests she is less gucceasful when she
attempts to express positive ildeals because "Human weakness
is easier to treat effectively than virtue, "0

Patt and Nozick in their anthology say thet through-
cut the work of Carmen Laforet there is a sensitivity and

acouracy of obgservation found in only a few of her

401)0 Coster. op. m.' P 191.
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contemporaries. In thelr opinion she has been faithful
to her chief interests, "la obeervacidn, la creacidn de

1o vida". ¥l

Mpeatrice P. Patt and Martin Noziok (eds.), The

Generatio & 1898 and After (New York: Dodd, Mead
Company, §9 Y: P. 323,



CHAPTER II

REALISTIC THEATMENT OF EMOTIONAL CONFLICTS
IN THE LONG NOVELS

The plot of Carmen Laforet's first novel, gggg.hz
iz basically very simple. The protagonist and narrator,
Andrea, an eizhteen-year-old orphan, arrived in Barselona
to stay with her grandmother in order tc attend the univere.
8ity. She had hoped to find there a free and stimulating
life but instead she bhecame hopelessly and tragiocally
sntangled with the lives of the thwarted, antagoenisatioc,
abnormal members of her family, and Nada is the story of
her experiences. The author is concerned with her characters
and the portrayal of the moral and intellectual climate of
postwar Spain. Throughout all the pages of the book one
feels the deep and inevitable grief and paln suffered by
the six persons of this family who, united by relationship
but divided by indifference and dislike, live together in
a2 shabby apartment in a house in "la calle de Aribau”.

The chief interest of the book is centered in these
8ix people, their disocordant relationships, their frus-
trations, the futility of their lives, which is symbolized
by the title, Nada, taken from a poem by Juan Remén Jiménez.

42patoret, Novelss, op. eit., pp. 23-260. All
references to the novel Nada are within these pages.
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Professor De Coster pmointed out in his discussion of the
book that this spirit of nihilism, typical of the dis-
11lustiomment of a country which had suffered the ravages
of war, was emphasized by the dire economic straits into
whioch the family hed fellen and by the shabby, cluttered,
filthy apartment in which they lived; however, the author
was less concerned with analyzing the causes for this atmos-
phere of spiritual decadence than in studying the characters
thenselves, 3

The family of Andrea consisted of the decrepit old
grandmother, unselfish but weak, whom Andrea seld when
shie sew her, "conservaba una sonrisa de bondad tan dulce,
que tuve la seguridad que era ni abuela"uhg Romdn an uncle
who had been a promising musiclan and was capable of much
charm but had done nothing with his talents and was devoting
himself to unscrupulous deals on the black market; another
uncle, Juan, a mediocre painter who refused to recognize
his lack of real talent, who was half gick from living a
deprived existence, and who compensated for his failures
by treating his wife end family brutally:; an umarried
sunt, Augustias, who had grown bitter and ill-tempered
after being frustrated in love and who was working as a

“BDE Coster. @n gi_t_o. P 18?.

u“Laforet, Novelas, op. cit., p. 25.
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secretary to don Jerdnimo, her former lover, now married
to a woman he neglected because of his desire for Augustias;
and Gloria, the wife of Juan, an attraoctive woman from a
sensual point of view, a "ochild of the street” whom Juan
had met dAuring the war and had sent home to live with his
mother when she became pregnant with his child. Andrea
herself was an intelligent girl, courageous in the face of
the poverty and the rancor of the home, the vagabond type
determined to have her freedom and to pursue her education
in splte of the indifferent and depressing circumstances
in which she found herself,

Andrea's reaction to the physical environment when she
arrived at the house en "la calle de Aribau" is described
in her own words, ". . . me parecid todo una pesadilla.

o« + » Quise pensar gque me habfa equivocado de piso, . . ."
She saw an entrance hall lighted by a single, dim buld

that ", . . quedaba sujeta a uno de los brazos de la ldémpara,
megnifica y sucla de teleraflas, que colgaba del techo. Un
fondo oscuro de muebles colocados unos sobre otros como en
las mudanzas" (page 25). About the family that gathered
around her in the gloomy hall she felt: ", . . todas
aquellas figuras . . . igualmente alargadas . . . quletas

y tristes, como luces de un velatorio de pueblo"” (pages 26~
27). In describing her reaction to Antonio, the servant,

she sald, "Casl sent? erigzarse mi piel al vislumbrar a una
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de ellas, vestida con un traje negro . « . Todo en
aquella mujer parecfa horrible y desastrado, hasta la
verdosa dentadura que me sonrefa® (page 2(). Partioularly
vivid is her desoription of the bathroocm and her feelings
about 1it:

En el manchado espejo del lavabo . . . se reflejabe
el bajo techo cargado de telas de arafia, y mi proplo cuerpo
procurando no tocar aquellas paredes sucias, . . « .
Parecfa una casa de brujas . . . . Las paredas tiznadas
oconservaban la huella 4¢ manos ganchudas, de gritos
de desesperanza. Por todas partes los desconchados
abrZan sus boocas desdentadas rerumantes de humedad
(pages 28-29).

Equally revolting and terrifying was her impression of the
living room, which seemed to her like "la buhsrdilla de
un palacio abandonado" in which she was to sleep on an
improvised bed in the center of the room ", . . como un
tdrnulo funerario rodeado de dolientes seres--aquella dodble
fila de sillones destripados--, una cama turoa, oublerta
por una manta negra, . . .". It was lighted by a single
candle and "E1l hedor que se advertfa en toda la casa llegd
en una rdfaga mds fuerte. Erea un olor a porqueris de
gato" (page 29). Andrea described her reaction to the
place and the people, both of which had changed so much
since she visited there as a child, by saying:

Tenla una sensacidn de inseguridad frente a todo
lo que 2112 hadbfs cambiado, y esta sensacién se
agudizgé mucho cuando tuve que pensar en enfrentarme
ocon los personajes que habfa entrevisto la noche

antes . . . Y estaba allf en la canma, vacilando sin
atreverme a afrontarloas (page 32).
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After a disoussion with Augustias the next morning in
which the aunt warned Andrea against assoocletion with
other members of the household and advising, ". . « no te
de Jaré dar un paso sin ml permimso"” (page 35) Andrea sald:
"Yo me sentfa oprimida como bajo un cielo pesado de
tormenta, . . ." (page 37). Later she added: "Aquellos
reoorridos de Barcelona eran més triates de lo que se pueda
imaginar" (page 41). When she spoke of her relationship
with the familily she commented "con frecuencia me encontyd
sorprendida, entre aquellas gentes . . . por el aspecto de
tragedia que tomaban los sucesos nés minimos, a pesar de
que aquellos seres llevaban cada unc un peso, una obsesidn
real dentro de 8f, . . ." (page 70). After the events that
followed Roman's death by sulcide, she said: "No =€ cudntas
horag estuve sin dormir, con los ojos abiertos y resecos
reooglendo todos los dolores que pululaban, vivos como
gusanos, en las entrafias de la casa”" (page 249). Thus
Andrea desoribed, in general, her feelings about the house
and the famzilly with whom she spent a year.

Andrea was plagued by other envirommental faoctors,
both eoccnomic and sooclal. Andrea had an inocome of two
hundred pesetas a month whioch was sent directly to Augustias,
who kept all of it and who reminded Andrea that ", , , en
esta $pooca no alcanzard ni para la mitad de tu manutenocidn
» o +" (page 36). Andrea was forced to subsist on the
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meager and unappetizing food prepared for the famlly and

could not participate in the custom of her best friend
Ena to freguent the bar because she sald: "Yo no tenla
dinero para una taza de café. Tampooco lo tenie para pagar
el tranvia . . . nl para ocomprar castafias calientes a la
hora del sol" (page 71). After Agustias' relationship with
her employer became so compromlsing that she escaped by
entering a convent, the allowance went direotly to Andrea.
Augustias admonished her to pay her grandmother for her
board and added: "No te tengo que declr que gastas en ti
el minimo posible. El dfa que falte ml sueldo, esta casa
va a ser un desastre" (page 100). However, the day that
Augustlias left the home Andrea announced she did not wish
to eat her meals there and that she would pay only for her
Toom. Juan replied ", ., . td contribuyes a la casa . . .
porque yo . . . no estoy para mantener a nedie , . ."
After the grandmother began to ory amd announced that her
granddaughter need not pay for room in her grandmother's
house, 1t was decided indrea would pay only for ". . . mi
pan diario" (page 112). Thus, when her next allowance
errived Andrea went shopping and about this she sald: . . .
adquirf en seguida aquellas fruslerfas que tanto deseaba

e ¢ o Jabfn bueno, perfume y tsmbidn una blusa nueva para
presentarme en ocaso de Ena . . « Ademéls unas roses para su

madre” (page 113). These expeniitures resulted in lack



of money to buy food and a quarrel with Juan who sald,
"Te vas a morir de hambre" when, according to Andresa,

"Me habla cogldo beblendo el agua que sotraba de gocer l1s
verdura y que estaba fria olvidada en un rincdn de la
cocina, dispuesta a ser tirada” (page 116). Andrea
refused to recomsider her living arrangements in spite of
Juan's fury because she said:

La verdad es que me sentfa mds felilz desde que
estaba desligada de aquel nmudo de las comidas en la
casa. No importaba que agquel mee hubliera gastado
dezasiado y epenas me alcanzara sl presupuesto de
una peseta diaria para comer: 1la hora del mediodfa
es la mds hermosa en invierno. Una hora buena para
pasarla al sol en un parque . . . A veces se ne
ocurris pensar, oon delicia, en lo que sucederfa en
ocasa, Los ofdos se me llenaban c¢on los chillldos del
lorc y las palabrotas de Juan. Preferfa mi vagabundeo
libre (page 117).

However, Andrea admitted later that there were days when

she was heavy hearted, not because of the events in "la

calle de Aribau®™ but . . . a la visidn desenfocads ds mis

nervios demasiado afilados por un hambre gque a fuerza de

ser orénica llegu€ casl a no sentirla” (pages 129-130).

She added that "En la cslle de Aribau tambilén pasaban hembre

sin las compensacionss que a mf me reportaba” (page 118).
Andrea was also disturbed by lack of sociasl status

brought on by the gradual deterioration of both the economic

and moral standards of the family. At one time the family

had been a part of the soclal life of Barcelone but,

acoording to Andrea, "Augustias era el dnico ser que se
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conservaba asido desesperadamente a la sociedad, en la
casa nuestra" and when she announced her intention of
going into a convent friends came to say goodbye who
", « +» eran las mismes queé habfan valsado a los compases
del plano de la abuelita. . . . Todos recordaban los
tiempos viejos de la casa" (page 10l). Ena, Andrea's
best friend whom she had avoided bringing to her home,
said to her on one occasion: "--Hay cosas en ti que no me
gustan, Andrea. Te avergiienzas de tu familia . . ."

(page 148). Ena contimued: "Y el d4fa en que fui a
buscarte a tu ocasa, . . . no podfas disimular tu irritacidn
¥ tu disgusto" (page 149).

On one cocasion Andrea accepted an invitation to a
party at the magnificent home of Pons, a wealthy oclassmate
at the University, who had shown interest in her. As she
stocd before the elaborately dressed mother of Pons she
recalled: '"Me sentd en un momento angustiada por la pobreza
de ml atavfo” (page 196). About Pons she sald "Mi amigo--
que me habfa suplicado tanto, que me habfa llegado a
conmover con su ocarifio--aquella tarde sin duda, se sentfa
avergongado de mf . . ." (page 198). She said to him, when
he asked her to dance, "No, gracias. No me encuentro bien
aquf y quisiera marcharme" (page 199). As Andrea left
this house she knew that her dream of marrying Pons in
order to escape her grandmother'’s house would never de
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realiged, in fact, she said: "Llegaba ami cesa, de la que
ninguna invitacidn a un veraneo maravillosc me iba a
galvar . . ." (page 202).

Andres's reaction to the situation in whioch she
found herself at Pons' party was very realistic. ©&She

said:

Me sentf muy tifmida entre ellas . . . ganas de
llorar . . . No me atrevia a separarme de Pons paras
nads y empecd a sentir con terror que €1 se ponia
un poco nervioso delante de los . . . o0jos cargados
de malicia gque nos estaban observanio (page 196-197).

Even a girl with more experience than Andrea and more
properly dressed, would have felt uncomfortable. The
author's descriptioms of the girl's feelings of desperation
are 80 vivid that the reader identifies with her when,
upon seeing a familiar face in the crowd, Andrea thought,
"No sabfa yo sl aceroarse a €1, pues me sentfa humilde y
anslosa de oompafifa oomo un perro . . ." (pages 197-198).
One shares her discomfort when she apologiezes to Pons,

"Ya ves gue ni siquiera he venido vestida a propdésito.

{Ho te has fijado que he trafdo unos viejos zapatoa de
deporte?” (page 200), an apology typlecal of any person who
finds himself improperly dressed for the occasion.

Andrea's feeling of shame and humiliation conecerning

the status of the household was carried over in her atti-
tude toward her grandmother. As she gazed on the ploture

of her grandparents she realized: “Me complacf en pensar
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en que loas dos estaban muertos hacfa afios. . . . en pensar
que nada tenfa que ver la joven del velo de tul con la
pequefia momia irreconocible que me habfa ablerto la

puerta" (psge 33). Andrea sald when she accompanied her
grandmother to church: "Iba a ml lado tan contenta, que

me atormentd un turblo remordimiento de no quererla més®
(page 73). Some months later Andrea desorided her feelings
for her grandmother when she said:

La miré ocon oarifio. Tenfa siempre respecto a
¢ella unos vagos remordimientos. Algunas noches al
volver a oasa, sn las dpocas de gran penuria, cuando
no habfa podido comer ni ocenar, encontraba en mi
mesilla un plato con un poco de verdura . « . O un
mendrugo de pan . . . Comfa, empujada por una
necesidad mds fuerte que yo, aquellos booados de que
se habfa privado la pobrecilla . . . (page 223).

When her grandmother smiled at her so sweetly she saild
", « o me commovian ocomo sSi me agarrasen las ralces del
espiritu hasta entrarme ganas de llorar” (pages 223-24).
Thus Andrea's attitude, like that of the reader, bdecomes
more compassionate toward this pathetic old woman whom
Andresa sald, in regard to the family, ". . . inventa
entender a cada uno" (page 99).

Aungustias was the one member of the family whom

Andrea disliked from the beginning and toward whom she
felt rebellious. The first words Augustias spoke to her
were critiocal: " Cdémo me podfa Yo imaginar que ibas a

llegar de madrugada? . . « j que trastornoy Una eriatura
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asf, sola . . .", to which Juan replied "--iYa egtd la
bruja de Augustias estropedndolo todos" (page 27). At
the end of her filrst disocussion with Augustias, Andrea
said:

Estaba ademds desesperada porque me habfa dicho
que no podrfa moverme sin su voluntad. Y la juxgaba
8in ning"na ocompasidn, corta de luces y autoritaria.
o « o« Lo oclerto es que ocuandoc se puso blanda al
hablarme nal de Gloria, ml tla me fue mmy antipdtioa.
Creo que pensé que tal vez no me lbe a resultar
dessgradable disgustarla un poco . . « Y0 le buscadba
un detalle repugnante mientras ella continuaba su
nondlogo de drdenes y consejos, y al fin, vi sus
dientes de un color suclo . . . (pages 36-37).

Later Andrea said:

Cuando Augustias me abragaba o me dirigfa di.
mnutivos tiernos, yo experimentaba dentro de mf la
sensacidén de que algo iba torcido y mal en la marcha
de las cosas. . . . Cuando me vefa o interesarme en
la conversacidn de cualgquier otro personaje de la
casa, se volvfa humilde en sus palabras. . . . Cuando,
por el contrario, le parecfa yo triste o agustada, se
ﬁg?Ia mnuy oontenta y se volvia autoritarias (pages 39~

Andrea quarreled with Augustias beocause Andrea wished to
be independent and to be free to wander through the streets
of Barcelona in order to know the ocity, and Augustias dls-
approved. Andrea said: "E]l momento de mi lucha oon tia
Augustias se scercaba cada ver més, como una tempestad
insvitable. A la primera conversacidn que tuve con ells
supe que nunca fhamos a entendernos® (page 63). Andrea
disliked attending church with her decause %, , . a todos

los oficlos religlosos, Augustias me haocfa ir ocon ella y
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le gustaba vigilar y criticar mi devocidn¥ (page 73).
When Augustias returned home after a short absence, she
wes furlous to find Andrea had slept in her room and she
sent for Andrea, The girl described her emotions when she
gald ". . . me encontré€ en uno de amis perfodos de rebeldfa
contra Augustias; el md&s fuerte de todos. Sdbitamente me
di cuenta de que no iba a poder sufrir nds® {(page 95).
The extent of Augustias' twisted ideas and feelings towsrd
Andres are revealed in the followlng accusations she made
egainst Andree jJjust before ghe left home to enter & convent:
Td me has fallado, me has decepcionsdo. , . . T
hag e1do mi dltima 1lusidén y mil dltimo desengafio,
¢« +« +==1S1 te hublera cogido méde pequefin, te habrila
matado a palos} . . . Durante quince dfas he estado
idiendo & Dios tu muerte, o el milogro de tu salvacidn
page 99).
Avgustias in a final outburat added: "Aun Gloria tiene
nds disculpas que td en sus ansias de emancipacién y
desorden”" (page 99), and she lamented: "{Ohj{Hublers
querido matarte ocuando pequefia antes de dejarte crecer asft
e » «" (page 100). Finelly, Augusties began to cry, but
Andrea sald, " ., . . no me causaba repugnancie, sino olerto
placer" (page 100)., Andrea described her reaction to the
departure of Augustias when she said: "Yo estaba demasiado
maravillada, pues el dnico deseo de mi vida ha sido que
me dejen en pag hacer mi cepricho y en aguel momento parecia

que habla llegado la hora de conseguirlo" (page 103).
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Andrea was not the only person with whom Augustias
was in conflict. Gloria was the object of her hate and
insults and Juan quarreled with her decause she nmistreated
his wife Gloria. Augustias blamed Gloria for the dissension
and suffering in the home and said to Andrea: ", . . antes
era como el perafso y shora . . . con la mujer de tu tfo
Juan ha entrado la serplente maligna. Ella lo ha emponzcfiado
todo. ¥lla . . . ha vuelto loco a mi madre . . ." (page
99). Gloria hated Augustias and said ". . .lqué€ bien que
ge marchey . . . La otra noche me peg8 Juan por su culpa”
(page 102). Gloria referred to a beating Juan had given
her following a quarrel between Gloria and Augustias.
Augustias had discovered Gloria entering the house late
at night and demanded to know where she had been. The
soreaming wakened the whole family. Juan interceded and
expressed his hatred of Augustias when he saids
Y td, bruja, ipor qué te metes en lo que no te
importa? (Qué tienes que ver td oon mi mujer?
4Qquién eres para impedirle que salga de noche, si
le da la gana? Yo soy el dnico de esta casa a
quien ella tiene que pedir permiso . . . imdtete en tu
cuarto y no edlles mde} (page 93).
Juan finally gave vent to his bitter feelings about Augustias
in front of the family and friends gathered at the station
to tell her good-bye. As the traln was slowly leaving,
Juan, in a wild rece, started running along beside it

soreamlng acousations at Augustias concerning her illicit
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relationship with her employer. He ended by shouting:

"iY desprecias a ni mujery (Malvadot |[IY te vas con tu
aureola de santaj . . ." (pages 105-106).

Andrea's relationship with Gloris was quite
satisfactory. Although she 414 not admire Glories, she
felt sorry for her. 5She sald: "A mf gustaba hablar con
ella porque no hacfa falta contestarle nunca” . . . Creo
que mi simpatfa por ella tuvo origen el dfa en que la vi
desnuda sirviendo de modelo & Juan” (page 43). TFor Andrea,
Gloria was a comfort because she was the one person who
did not interfere and who tried to make Andrea happy. On
the other hand, Andrea was the one to whom Gloria could
take her troubles and from whom she would receive sympathy
after her violent clashes with both Juan and his brother
Romén. Glorla's parting words to Andrea when she left
the house in "la calle de Aribau' were ". . . Vuelve pronto,
Andrea, ya sabes que yo te quiero mucho . . ." (page 258).
Gloria's warm expression of friendship brought. forth a
realistic response. Andrea saild, "La abracé, y, cosa
extrafia, sentf que la querfa' (page 258).

Gloria was in constant conflict, however, with both
her husband, Juan, and Romdn and was the object of the
oonflioct between them. To Andrea, Gloria said: "--~Romdn
88 un malvado . . . ya lo irds conociendo. A mf me ha

heoho un daflo horrible . . ." (page 45). Gloria claimed
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that Romdn had made love to her when he first knew her as
Juan’'s "mujer” and had led her to bellieve he wanted her.
After she came to the home, he had treated her badly by
provoking Juan into thinking she was unfalthful to him.
Throughout the bock one feels that Gloria loves domén in
spite of the fact he ghuns her, and tnat this is the cause
of Juan mistreating his wife. There are numerous occasions
when Gloria 1a lurking in the hall outside Homén's room.

In the end, however, when Homén begged Glori: to come to

his room, she had her nmoment of triumph and she said "Me
has hecho llorar mucho, psro yo estaba esperando este
momento . . . S1 orees que adn me interesas, estéds
squivocado . . . Yo te odlo, ohico" {(pages 186-187)., To
this Romé&n replied: ‘'Puedea venir td mismc, si quieres .

+ + Derc si no vienes esta noohe, no te molestes en mirarme
a la cara munoa méa, Te doy tu dltima ccasién . . ."

(page 187). Later, Andrea realized Glorie was crying. When
Juan returned home and asked, "{Qué pasa?', Gloria replied
after a long pause: ‘'=-lNada--, Vamos a dormir" (page 188).
This apparently ended the atruggle between Homén and Gloria
but, following Romén's sulcide, Gloria became very 1ll

and in her delirium asked monotonously soncerning the details
of his death. PFinally she admitted to Andrea: "-=-Yo uil

quien hizo que Romdn se matara. Yo le denmuncié€ & la Policia
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y €1 se suicidd por €80 . . . Aguella nafiana tenfan que

venir a buscarle ., . ." (page 248). Andrea did not believe
this. One is not sure if Gloria's hatred, whioh grew

out of humilistion and rejection by romén, led her to

betray Romdn. Andrea said it would be more truthful to

say ".iomén habfa sido el espectro de un muerto. Le un
hombre que hubiera muerto muchos afios atrds y que ahora

ge volviera por fin a su infierno . . ." (page 248). ERomén's
death, however, did not solve Gloria's tortuous existence.
In the words of Andrea, "Al pronto la vids me habfa parecido
completementa igual. Leos mismos gritog lo alborotarqfibdo.
Juan le segufa pegando a Gloria” (page 254).

The relationship between Juan and Gloria, his wife,
was a stormy one. Whenever there was a famlly srzument,
often provoked by Romédn, it seemed, "La rabia de Juan Be
desvfo en un instante hacia la mujer vy la empezd a insultar.
¥lla gritaba también y al final lloré" (page 38). The
afternoon following Gloria's gquarrel with Augustias because
Gloria had come home late, Andrea gaid: ", . . me ensefio
las sefiales de la paliga que le hab?®a dado Juan la noche

antes y que empezaban = amoratarse en su cuerpo (page 101).

Typical of the harrowing strugcgle between the two
was one which took place because Juan believed Gloria was

gelling his paintings for too little money. Andrea said:
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Me desgpertaron unos gritos pidiendo socorro. En

seguida me 41 cuenta de que era Gloris la que gritaba
y de que Juan le deberfa estar pegando una paliga
bédrbara . . . Ofamos dentro tacos, insultos. Carreras
y tropezones oon los muebles. il nifio comenzd a llorar
e ¢« « De pronto se abrié la puerta . . . y Gloria
salld despedida, medio desmida y chillando. Juan « «
la arrastyrd al ocuarto de bafio . . . Juan metid & Gloria
en le baflera y, sin quitarle las ropas, so0lté la ducha
helads sobre ella., Le agarrsba brutalmente la cabeza,
d¢ modo que sl abrfa la boca no tenfe 4s remedio gue
tragar agua (page 120).

The quarrel ended by Juan deoclaring to Gloria ", . . v

cualquier dfa te matard como te vuelvas a metsr con mis

ouadros . . " (pm 12“’).

It 18 inoonceivable that any woman would remain in
the home in the ocircumstances in which Gloria lived, in
constant conflict with her husband. Ihe author, however,
presents reasons for the oonfliet and why Gloria did . not
try to escape. Juan had married Gloria because she was
pregnant, they had always lived in the mother's home in
miserable surroundings and with Romdn, who taunted Juan
for his fallures and Gloria for loving him. Juan'a feel-
inges of inadequacy were more bitter becsuse it was Gloria
who made the living. 4ith money she received from selling
Juan's plotures to a Junk dealer insteadi of an art dealer,
&8 Juan believad, she said ". . . podfa jugar por la noche
en casa de ml heraano . . . 10 gano ocasl siempre . , .*
(pages 218-219). Juan resented her ability and was ocon-

suned with Jealousy and mistrust. Being the type of people
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that they were and in the impoverished cirocumstances 1in
which they lived, there was little hope of either bettering
his situation without the other. when Juan, after Romdn's
death, became so0 cruel and menacing he seemed insane,
Gloria considered trying to put him in an asylum but her
mixed emotions were true to life. 7To Andrea she saild:

Y sl slempre fuera malo, chica, yo le podrfa aborrecer

y serfa mejor., Pero a veces me acaricia, me pide

perddn y se pone & llorar como un nifio pequeflo . . . ¥

yo ,qué voy & haocer? (page 257).
Thus realistically, the author leaves this deep-seated marital
conflict unchanged and without hope of solution.

During the months that Andrees had been in the home
there had been nothing but antagonishk, hatred, and quarrel-
ing between Juan and Homédn. Almost deily Homén caused a
scerne at the dinner table by such remsrkse as one directed
to Juan, “Hasta la imbécil de tu mujer se burla ya de ti,
Juan; ten culdado . . ." (page 42). On another occasion
he sald to Andrea:

¢Id no te has dade cuenta de que yo los manejo a

todos, de que dispongo de sus nervios, de sug pensamientos
+ + o7 i81 yo te pudlere explicar que a v=ces estoy
a punto de volver loco a Juani (page R9).
It was clear to .indres *hat Rom4n todok piemsure in belittling
Juan, in provoking jealousy and distrust toward Glorias, and

gloating, in a sunerior manner, over Juan's misery.
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After Romén's death, however, Juan was desperate with
grief. According to Andrea ". . . atin nos faltaba olrle
llorar. . . . Comprendf que Homén tenfa razén al deoir
que Juan era suyo. shora que 41 se hablfa muerto, el dolor
de Juan era impddico, enlogquecedor, como el de una mujer
por 81 amante, como el de una madre joven »or la muerte
del primer hijo" (pezes 248-249). Juan was never able to
reconcile the loss of Romén.

Andrea, in regard to her relationship with Juan
sald: "Yo no habfa entrads nunca en 1la habitacidn donde
nl tfo trabajaba, porque Juan me inspiraba clerto prsvencidn®
(page 43). Juan, however, seldom displayed antagonism
toward andrea. On one occasion it was provoked by domén,
who pointed out to Juan Andrea's efforts to clean her room
and agld "_lio te gustarfa tener una mujercita trabajasdora
cono la sobrinita?” to which Juan replied "{No sirve néds
que para hacer comedla y para querer humiller a los demds,
para eso sirve y para juntarse contigoi® (page 179). Further
provoked by Romdn, Juan continued, shoutingz: “--iLa sobrinaj
IValiente ejemploy . . . cargada de amantes, suelta por
Barcelona como un perrn . . ." {page 150). Heslizins thesge
accun~tions on the nart of Juan were prompted by his extreme
frustration and reaction to the taunts of Homén, :ndrea never

made comment,
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Andrea's relationship with Romén was as disturbing

ag that with Augustias, and probably cauged Andrea more
anxiety. Her first conclusion when she witnessed hin
provoking a quarrel with Gloria was: "Cref que mi tfo se
habla vuelto loco . . ." (page 38). In regard to her feel-
ing for him, she said "Yo, honradamente, no ne orefa
fascinada por Romdn, oasi al contrarioc, a mermudo le examinaba
con frialdad. Pero las raras noshes en que Romédn se volvia
amable después de la cena, siempre dorrascosa, y me invitaba:
1{Vienes, pequefia?', o me sentfa contenta” (page 45).

But watching him in his room Andrea said ". . . me sentia
By lejos de 461. La impresidn de sentirme orrastrada por

su simpatfa, que tuve ocuando me hablé la primera veg, no
volvis nunoca® (page 47). Romdn seemed to Andrea to be a
marvelous musiclian and of his music she said:

Iba hilando en la adsioa una alegrifa tan fina que
traspasaba los 1fmites de la tristeza. La mdsica
aquella sin nomdre . . . que mnoa més he vuelto a
ofr. . . . A nf me llegaban en oleadas, primero
ingenuos recuerdos, suefios, luchas, mi propio presente
vaclilante, y luego agudas alegrias, tristezas, desesperscidn,

una orispacién impotente de la vida y un anegarse en
la nada (page 48).

However, when Juan stopped and asked Andrea what she thought
of his music she said: "--Nada, no sd, sélo me gusta . . .
(page 48)., She would not give him the satisfaction of
admitting how much it affected her.
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Andrea referred to Christmas as an unpleasant day
", « . quizd por el extrafio estado de 4&nimo en que me dejd
respecto a mi tfo Romén, al que no tuve mds remedio gque
empezar a ver bajo un aspecto desagradable en extremo”
(page 70). Andrea finally oclashed openly with Romén when
she refused an invitation to his room and he replied: Me.
Puedes hacer lo que guieras, Andrea. . . . no eg ouestidén
de vida o muerte para mf." Andrea thought "Est4 desesperado
e « o« Bin Baber a ciencia clerta por que encontraba
desesperacidn en su vog. FEl se marchd répidamente . . ."
Then she said: '"Yo me sentfa emocionada de una maners
desagradable. . . . Hacfa 4%fas que yo rehufa la afectuosidad
de Romén, me parecfa imposible volver a sentirme amiga
Buya. . . . Pero adn me inspiraba el mds interés que los
dends de la casa juntos . . ." She concluded: "Eg mezquino,
es una persona innoble . . ." (pages 85-86),

Finally, Andrea did go to Romdn's room, but his
actions were such that, "No sabfa yo si gozaba asustdndome
o realmente estaba loco” (page 90) and it was arfter this
experience that ", . . empezaba a sentir contra Romén una
repulsidén inderinidle” (page 91). Andrea's conflict with
Romédn was intensified when her best friend Ena met him and
they became interested in each other. Andrea missed the
assoolation with the girl but more than that, she feared

for her safety with this man. Andrea's last encounter
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with Romén was when she interrupted a visit of Ena to his
room, after eavesdropping on thelr conversation, because,
she sald:

No 8€ por qué me 418 tanto miedo el tono amable y
tenso de Homén. . . . No s€ qué deviacidn de mi
fantasia me hizo pensar en su negra pistola, cuando
nl tfo acentuaba su sonrisa. Fue um cuestidn de
segundos. Me abracé a €l oomo una loca y le grité a
Ena que corriese. Sentf el empujén de Ronédn y vi Bu
cara, limpia al fin de agquella tens16n angustiosa.
Barrida por una cdlera soberbia (page 229).

This final meeting between Andrea and Romdn brought to a
nost unsatisfactory olose a relationship that had brought
pleasure, at times, to Andrea's life in the dreary house,
As she fled from him on one ococasion she had thought, "A
pesar de todo . . . Romén haoce vivir a las gentes de su
alrededor” (page 195). She felt a kind of pity for him
at times, because with his outstanding musiocal talent he
had not achieved sucoess nor had he ever been able to
relate himself satisfactorily to anyone. After his death,
Andrea missed him. 3he said:

Y no me parecfa ya tan rialo aquel hombre que sabla
coger sus proplos scllozos y oconmprimirlos en una belleza
tan espesa oomo el oro antiguo . . . Entonces me
acometfa una nostalgila de Romdn, un deseo de su preseficia
que no habfa sentido munoa cuando €1 vivia (page 252).

Thus, as often happens in life, Andrea came to recall the
pleasant things about this sadistic and tormented man and
his evil ways faded from her memory--a confliot that death

solved.
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Interwoven in the asuthor's presentation of the

story of Roméin is the story of the love affair between
hin and the mother of Andrea's best friend, Ena. This
relisves the tension oreated by the story of the bitter
sonflicts between memdbers of the family and reveals more
vividly the character of this neurotic man., It also affords
the author & way of bringing into the story and dealing
with the ever-present problem of a young girl in love with
an older man, as Ena's mother was once with Homdn. True
to his character, Romdn re jeoted the girl with a cruel
and devastating remark. To prove her love for him he hsad
asked her to ocut her beautiful hair and give it to him.
After she had sent it to Romdn he looked at her csuriously
and said:

Tengo 10 mejor de t4 en casa. Te he robado tu
enocanto . . . (JPor qué has hecho esta estupidez, mujer?
iPor qué eres como un perro para ml? (page 209).

Later Ena was able to avenge this treatmsnt of her mother
by seeking the acquaintance of LHomén, secsuring his true
interest in her, and then confronting him with these words:
éQué pensabas? (Que me ocasaria contigo, quizéd?
{Que andarfa agzorada toda la vida, temiendo tus
peticiones de dinero como mi madre? . . . Tengo todas
las pruebas. Sabes que estfs en mig manos. Por fin
se acabard esta pesadilla . . . (page 228).
This solution of Romén's conflict first with Ena's mother,
then later with Ena, 18 quite idealisties. It could haeppen,
of course, but 1t 1s not likely that true life would afford

such a satisfaoction.
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Andrea's most satisfactory relationship during the
year she spent in the house in Barcelona was with her
friend Ena, an attractive and wealthy girl whom she met
at the University. Yet Andrea was in conflict with Ena
throughout the story as a result of Andrea's great need
for the affection of this girl to compensate for the cold
indifference of her family to her problems. When she
spoke of her habit of studying with Ena and that ", . ., la
femilia de Ena empezaba & considerarme como coss suya.”
She said ", . . era aquflla la época mds feliz de mi
vida . . ." (page 118). Ena reciprocated this affection
and declared to Andrea "Y a ti1 tambidn, queridfsima . . .
Td eres mi hermana, De veras, Andrea . . ." (page 128),
But there were times when Andrea became angry with Ena
and she thought "No volveré a su casa.” "Estoy harta de
sus sonrisas de superioridad” (page 130). VWhen Ena became
interested in Romén and told Andrea not to oome to her
house any more because she would not be there Andrea said,
"La vida volvfa ser solitaria para mI" (page 137). Added
to the misery of her loneliness was Andrea's concern for
Ena's welfare ghould she really become involved with Romén.
Her feelings for Ena were so strong that, when Gloria declared
that Ena was "la amante™ de Homdn, Andrea sald:
Me puse tan encarnada que se asusté y se retirs
de mf. . . . En aquel momento estaba aterrada por

Ena. La querfa y no podfa soportar aquellas palabras
corrosivas sobre su vida (page 224).
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The conflict between indrea and Tna was resolved after
Andrea rescued Ena from Romén's room. Andrea was so
frightened and upset by Ena's actlons that she ran out of
the house and to the park, where Ena found her orying.
There Tna assured Andrea of her friendship when she sald,
{3abfa que te quiero muchfsimo, Andrea?" (page 232).
Certainly the author gives the impression that Andrea's
ability to endure the hardship, frustration, and lack of
security within her family situation was contingent upon
the satisfaction and security she gained from this relation-
ship with Ena and with her family. Without it she probably
could not have survived the ordeal.

Andrea's struggles with herself were frequent and
bitter. In spite of all the beauty of the city in autumn
she said ", . . 8in embargo me envolvia la tristeza.

Tenfa ganas de apoyarme ocontra una pered con la cabezea
entre los brazos, volver la espalda a todo y cerrar los
ojos" (page 49). Under any cirocumstances a girl in Andrea's
position would feel anxious and insecure. Andrea, however,
was determined to make the best of i1t. When she realized
that Romén considered her different than the rest ghe saiad,
"No me gustaba desllusionarle, porque vagamente yo me sentia
inferior, un poco insulsa con mis suefios y ml carga de
sentimentalismo, que ante aquella gente procuraba ocultar®

(pege 47). Andrea struggled to be the magter of her fate
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in the family oirole and to find a place for herself among

the university students, but ghe felt very much alone. On
one occasion she said:

Estaba caminando como si recorriera el proplo
canino de mi vids, desiertc. . . . Unoe seres nacen
por vivir, otros para trabajar, otros paras mirar la
vida. Yo tenfa un pequefio y ruin papel de espectadora.
« + « Imposible libsrtarme (page 201).

This fesling of loneliness haunted Andrea for again she
sald, "Sent? dolor de solsdsd--mds insoportable, por
repetido, . . ." (page 231)., Andrea's ocustomary way of
solving these struggles within herself was to rush out
into the street and walk smong the people or sit in the
park where she sald, "Estuve mucho rato llorando, allf,
en la intimidad que me proporcionaba la indiferencia de la
calle, y asf me parecid que lentamente mi alma quedaba
lavada® (page 202).

It was a fear to the point of an obsession with
Andresa that she was becoming like her relatives. At times
she identified herself with Juan for she seld, "Pensaba
en Juan y me encontraba senme jante a €1 en muchas cosas.
N1 siquiera se me ocurrfa pensar que estaba histériea por
la falta de alimento" (page 130). Ena, on the other hand,
5ai1d to her as she spoke of Romdn, "Tu tfo es una persoralidad.
S6lo con la manera d= mirar sabe decir lo que quiere.
« +» o parece algo trastornado a veces. Pero t¢ también,

Andrea, 1o pareces” (page 148).
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On another occasion Ena had seid to her: "I'd comes
demasiado poco, Andres, y eestds histdrica . . . 4&For qué
lloras sl no estds histérica? . . . iqué motivos tienes
td para llorar? . . ." (page 225). Then Andrea realized,
¥Yo hago gestos nerviosos como Juan . . . Ya me vuelvo
loco yo también . . ." (page 225). This realization alarmed
her. Only vaguely was she able to understand that torment
and hunger could account for her outburste of emotion. Ter
behavior was normal under the clroumstances.

The author carries the story to & convenient and
logleal oonclusion, and for the reader a satlisfactory one.
Andrea esoaped the nightmare existence she had endured
for a year by accepting an invitation from Ena to come to
Madrid to work in the office of her father. Thus her
conflicts against her family and its enviromment were
solved and the reader feels she had survived the ordeal
well. In her own words Andrea described her departure:

Baj® las escalsras, despacio. Sentfa una viva

emooidn. Recordaba la terrible esperanza, el anhelo
he vide con que las habla sublido por primera vez, Ile
marchaba ahora sin haber conocido nada de lo que
confusamenta esperaba: 1la vida en su plentitud, la
alegrla, el interés profundo, sl amor. De la casga de
la calle de Aribau no me llevada nada (page 260).
The story leaves the reader with the feellng, however, that
Andrea did take with her wisdom gelned from her experiences
and the hope of a dbrighter future, with the determination

to achleve it. OChe was not completely disillusioned, but



51

ghe left behind her absolute desolation and despalr, a
realistic conclusion.

Laforet's second novel, La isls y los demonios,*5
bears & striking resemblance to Nada in that the theme
As essentially the same, the efforts of a young girl to
escape her unoongeniasl surroundings and to assert her
independence. As in Nada, her struggle to do this 1ie
primarily agalnst members of her family, and the types of
oharacters portrayed in this famlly and among her friends
are quite simlilar to those of Nada. Howaver, there is leas
physical wviolence in this novel, there 1s less tenslon
between characters, and the emotional conflicts are not
8o biltter and overt. There is not the unrelieved bicker-
ing and brutality found in Nada. As previously mentloned,
the Camino family in La 1s8la y los demonlos 1s wealthy and,
therefore, the confliot between characters is not intensi-
fied by the poverty and squalor portrayed in Nada. The
story takes place toward the close of the Civil War on the
island of Gran Canaria. Although mention is made on several
oceasions of the suffering and hardships in Spaln, as told
by the relatives who fled the country and sought refuge

on the island to live comfortably at the expense of their

“5"armen Laforet, La 1isla os demonios (Barcelona:
Fdiciones Destino, 195#). Pp. L %b%
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family there, the conditions of war do not affect the
events of this story. Rather, they occur within the peace-
ful and beautiful setting of thls tropical island, which
fact tends to rellieve tension in the story.

Marta, the protagonist of the novel, 1s an intelligent
and precocious adolescent of sixteen, two years younger than
Andrea of Nade, who 1s oppressed by her neurotic and anta-
gonistlo family and is anxious to leave the island to
live her own life. Marta lives with her unattractive half-
brother José, his wife rino, and her mother, Teresa. Josd
suffers from an inferiority complex and emotional needs
dating bhack to his unfortunate childhood, and compenseates
fer his inasdequacies by being domineering end brutal.

Pinoc is eross-eyed, paranoic, hysteriocal, Jjealous, and a
completely frustrated, unhappy woman. MNarta's beautiful
mother, Teresa, had become insane after losing her husband
in an automobile accident when Marta was still a small
child and is confined to her room. The family lives in
the bdeautiful cocuntry home which had belonged to Marts's
maternal grandparents and will belong to Merta after her
mother's death.

The story begins with the arrival of Marta's rela-
tives from Spein, refugees of the Civil War, a hypochondriac
paternal uncle, Daniel, who, though he profegcses to be &

tealented musician, is an unemployed social snod who
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acoomplished nothing;: his intelligent but puritanical and

cold wife, Matilde, who haa taught and has gained some
recognition as a poetess; his sister, Marta's paternal
sunt, Honesta, a glddy woman of forty or more who tries

to pose a3 a demure anld deslirable debutants, who has
carried on affairs with numerous men, and whose name
scaroely fits her character. The only person whom Marta
finds sympathetioc is the relative's friend Pablo, a painter,
who has accompanied the refugees from France to the island,
and who becomes the somewhat unwilling confldant of Harta.

Other charaeters include ilarta's friends, Sixto, &
boy her age whom she had known through chlldhood, and
gseveral girl friends she knew at school, pearticularly
Anite, who oorresponde to some extent to Andreafs friend,
Ene, in Nede. The only other character of lmportance 1is
the servant Vicenta, a characteristic 1sland type through
whom the suthor desoribes the life and superstitions of
the natives of the island. There is some similarity of
charasoter between Vicenta and Antonia, the servant in Nada,
in that both are unswerving in their allegiance to the
ones they love and both are formidatle and mysterious.

The emotionsl conflicts in thie story are due to
ungatisfactory inter-personal relationships and do not
involve envirommentel factors such a8 economic security
or social position. The famlly enjoyed s comfortable and

elevated place in the soocliety of Las Palmas and only Pino



sk
suffered because she felt she was not accepted by friends
of the Camino family. The home surroundings, the beautiful
garden filled with trees and flowers, the distant moun-
tains, the interior of the house with all 1ts beautiful
furnishings, had remained unchanged sinoce Harta's child-
hood and were pleasing to her. In the beauty of the garden
she found solace in time of distress.

Marta quedd detrds, . . . 3e f1)8 por primera vez
en la casa donde habfa nacido . . . én el Jardin
crecfan ya los orisantemos y segufan florecidas las
dalliag. Por las paredes del edificlo trepeban
helliotropos, madreselvas, bugambillag., Todos estaban
en flor. 3Sus olores se mezcdaban ardorosamente. I[arta
se s8intid satisfecha de aquella belleza, de aquel
lujoso desbordamiento (page 25).

On ocoaslions of both extreme pleasure or distress larta
gave vent to her feelinge through contact with the natural
beauty of the island that surrounded her. On a morning
when she felt especially happy beoause she anticipated a
meeting with her friend Patlo, the author sald:

Salld a1l Jjardfn a correr cuesta arriba por la
avenlida de euoaliptos para desocargarse algo de esta
dicha casl insufrible gque la empapaba. . . . iarta
se detuvo al fin con una silenciosa risa y vid a su
alrededor el dorado mundo, . . . eruzé los brazos
detrds de su cabeza y sintid lo que deben sentir los
4rboleg en primavera, 54810 una fuerza divina, . . .
Como otrae veces, Marta metid las manos en aquel agua
para sentlirla correr entre los dedos. . . . iiarta,
como todos los isleflios, sentfa pasidn por el aguz
(page 124).

On another occaslion when Fablo told her to leave him alone,

taat he hed promised not to talk with her in the streasts
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agaln, Marta was desperate:

Imagind que se tiraba al mar. FPero--el pensamlento
la hizo sonrefrse, mientras dos gruesas légrimas le
corrfan al fin por las mejillas-~, peroc ella nadarfa
inmediataaente. Le gustaba con pasién nadar, sumergirse,
deslizarse. . . . Huyd el penmmlento del sulcidio
sustituido pcr el més placentero de imaglnarse a st
misma nadando en lucha contra los elementos (pages
155-156).

Later the author says that "derta sintiéd una flojedad, un
&livio, casl como una necesldad de sueflo airando al mar®
(page 159). Ihe child was suffering because of her
infatuation for Pablo, who rejected her childish admiration
and desire for his attention and understanding. <he
sublimated this desire by swimning dsily with a friend,
Slxto, &nd the euthor says: "lladando no se cansaba nunca
e o o« Y qulzd ¢i1 ella no hublera dado suelta asl a tantas
fuerzas . . . aquellas fuerzas la hubleran consumldo (page
164).

3eliglion played no part in the story. iarta was in
conflict, however, with the customs and mores of the
islanders, who frowned on her aggressive behavior, her
wandering alone on the streets, particulerly to seek out
Fablo, her dally swims with 5ixto, and her display of
affection for him in public. On one occaslon Fablo sald
to her " « « no se we ibane ver mds hablando contlgo por

las calle.s, porque esc entre las gentes de tu cludad, te

perjudica" (page 154). 1In discussing the gossip about
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Marte her friends sald: "FPero tenemos que decirle algo.
« + Lsa calamidd no se da cuanta nunca de que todo el
mando la eritica" (page 166). Actually ilarta was not
disturbed by thls because she believed her actions were
not wrong.

The most bitter and brutal conflicts that ilarta
experienced were between herself and her half-brother José
and his wife Pino. When Marta's mother became emotionally
111, Marta had gone to live with her maternal grandfather.
There her life had been happy. Upon his death she was
placed in a convent where she remained for two years, until
José married Plno, & native girl who was employed in the
house as a nurse for Teresa. BEy thils time ilarta was study-
ing for "el bachillerato". She was taken home to live
with the newly married couple a8 a companion for Pino and
t¢o be near her mother, Neither Jos€ nor Pino accepted
Marte, however, nor were they happy together, and so0 the
home was not a pleasant one for iiarta. The Joy and trane
quility she felt in the beauty of her surroundings were
lost when she entered the house., The author sald:

Pero llarta no estaba tranquila. Dentro de los

auros de la casa esta placidez y tranquilided dessparecfan,

A11?2 dentro no habfe felicidaed, ni comprensidédn, ni
dulzure. . « « Plno y ella, que habfan vivido ilrdifer-
entes . . . durante zlgunas meges, se habfan encontrado
frente a frente. . . . warta, habXa sufrido entre los
recelos y la vulgaridad que escondfan aquello muros
(page 26).
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hLccording to ilarta "José era un tivo aburrido, era un
hombre vulgar . . ." (page 40) and *. . . sBlempre se

sentfa un poco asustada delante de José (page 44)., This
was not without cause because, although José ignored herxr
presence mogt of the time, he punished her vioclently when
she displeased him. ‘fhis happened on one occaslion when
Marta prompted Pino to have a spell of hysteria by her
announcenent to her relatives, "usta es la casa de mi madre
éentienden? De mil madre y umnfa « . . lLstamos muy contentas
de tenerlos" (page 72). While Karta stood astounded, not
knowilng what to do about the situation she had created,
"osé la vid . . .y le s0lté una palabrota, y lusgo dos
bofetones sonoros. Le marcd los dedos en las mejillas"
(page 73). lMarta's misery was increased on this oceasblon
by the fact that her relatives seemed to ignore the situation.

The author saild:

En squellos segundos de pesadllla, notd que . . .

Daniel y uonesta se hacfan los disimulados. a nadie

le importsba gue le castigaron . . . D16 media wuelta

y 8alld al jardin. . . . lla estaba absolutamente

sola con Dios (pages 73-74).
She aroused Jos#'e anger on another occasion when she was
telling him of her planm to study in Madrid after the war.
Josd stopped reading his paper to say, "iNi que t?d lo suefies,
vas a salir 4 la isla en tu vidat ¢&Entliendss? . . .Tienes
que ayudar a Pino a cuidar a tu madre, Y mientres ella wiva,

ime oyes? . ., . ninguno de los tres malimos de aoul" (page 149).
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The most violent soene in the novel occurred when
José confronted Marta with the fact he had learned of her
clandestine meetings with her friend Sixto and her affectionate
conduct toward him in public. José seemed so angry that
Marta wanted to flee but she was shaking so much from
fright she could not move. The author said, "Marta desoubrid
que no podfa hablar. . . . Le parecfa que nunca habfa visto a
Jogé tan colérico. . . . Nunca estuvo tan desarmada delante
de 1. . . ." (page 174). José was prompted to action by
Pino who shouted "Pero ino ves que es una . . .7 |[No eres
hombre si no la matasi" (page 174). Marta, furious at
this insult, said to Pino, "ITd no te metasy" Pino shrieked
and Jogd grabbed his sister ". . . por el ouello de la blusa
¥y la tird materialmente contre la pared." Because she was
stunned, Marta seemed to smile and then "José perdid la
cabeza y empezd a crusarle la cara a bofetonss (page 174).
Jogé was stunned by Marta's statement that she did not wish
to marry Sixto. He replled, '"Ni quleres ni puedes. Desde
hoy se acabaron los estudios, las salidas; todas aquf
dentro, . . « con Pinc y con tu madre" (page 175). The
soene ended by José locking Marta in her room to stay.

Marta was not so upset by her punishment, because
she had always believed all sin had to be punished, but she
sensed that, ". . . José no la castigd por eso" (page 175)
and this disturbed her deeply. The blow on her cheek had
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avwelkened in Marta the instinct to defend herself and to
firht., Leforet wrote: "3Supo que nadle la vencerfa a la
fuerza brute, Jjamds, jamnéds" (pege 178). .i.arta felt that
nisht that there was something strange in José's manner,

Josd egsta noche tuvo en los oJjos una friasldad, un
odio. o podfa pensar en aquello sin revolverse, sin
aborrecerle tambldn, FPero a ella no se lz alcanzaba
el por qué la notiocla de un noviazgo suyo podlae
desnertar en acuellos ojos tel aversidn (pege 178).

Insight into the cause of Jogd's actions 1s given the reader
at the close of the story when the author, in flashback
style, tells somethling about the life experlences of the
main characters. The 1ife of José expleins clearly his
antagonistic attltude toward ifarte and hils rejecction of
her. José¢'s mother died when he wacs 2 smell boy. lie

was left to the care of hisg rather irresponsible and
indifferent father, who made a fine appearance but lived
in poverty and filth and neglected amd ridiculed the bvoy.
He married Teresa, llarta's mother, & beautiful and wealthy
girl, as a matter of convenlience. He considered her
socially inferior and amused himself with other women.
José€, however, adcred her because she was the first person
who had shown him eany kindness or attention and who had
believed Air him, '"guizéd la dnica". Therefore, the author
sald:

José ge s£intié desposefdo cuando naclo iarta. Lo

era muy agradable ver a su masdrasta extasiada con
aquelle nufleca, dé4ndole el necho y jusando con ella.
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No era agradable tampoco pensar que & aquella nifla, el

dla de maflana, le pertenecerfa todo lo que José disfrutaba

como suyo: 1la casa, la finca (page 283?.
Te Jos® "Las dos cosas méds importantes de su vida fueron
el encuentro con Tereszs v el encuentro . . . con esta
finca" (page 2RB), Tor Joszé, Teress had dled long ago and
this profound love for her ". . . =e habfa ido convirtiendo
en una ndscara hajo lo que crecfa la pasidn nor esta casa
y el deseoc de hacerla suya . . ." {page 284),

Hence José# could not tolerate lMartes, with whom he
had had to share Teregsa's love and to whom the property
belonced. She was a threat to him, standins between him
and what he loved, and he feared her. As he thought of
this and his relationship with Marta he saicd to himself:

Ifste miedo es ridfculoy Jamds hice nada de 1n

que tenga que arrepentirme. (ie ahorrado para Comyrar
esto. . « . No le deseo ningdn mal. Yo qulere meterla
intern~, ni mortificarla. A ella la finca no le
importa. Mulere irse; €sa es le prueba . . . .

Tampoco zuiere casarse. .+ + » Y0 no soy inhumano

(pagze 286).

Jogé solved the conflict between himgelf and larta
to the getisfaction of both. Following the death of
Teresa, Vicents, her faithful servent openly accused Pino
of polsonine Terees and plotting to do the same to Marta.,
Taking 2dventnre of thie threat, which José€ actuslly 414
not believe, he proposed to Daniel that he take Marta back

to Spain with him. To Daniel, José said:
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La gente hablard. Si después de esto yo retengo a

mi hermana cormigo, y por casualidad le diera a la

chica por enfermar y morir, la vida se me harfa imposible

(page 288).
To Daniel's suggestion she return to the convent Jos¢
replied: “"Las gentes hablarfan también. Por mf, no me
importa, pero tengo que pensar en mil mujer . . . Yy en los
hijos que mds adelante tendremos” (page 289). Thus through
José's selfish motive Marta was able to realize her one
desire, to leave the island forever.

Pino was in conflict with Marta because she was
jealous of her. She was jealous of Marta's wealth, her
sooial position, her education, her friends, and that she
had a purpose in life. The author desoribed this ocon-
flict: "Estaba como afianzada en algo. Pino se lo notaba
« « » Se ponfa endemoniada contra ella. Llegaba a insultarla"
(page 149). She was also jealous of Marta's freedom to
oone and go, a freedom that Pino was not allowed by José
beoause she must be at home to care for Teresa. Pino
resented what she considered Marta's air of superiority.
Marta "tuvo un desesperado afén de pureza” (page 43) and
had shunnsd Pino's companionship following her first
experiences when she arrived from the convent. The author

desorided these:

Pino la habfa conquistado duranto unos dfas desoubriéns
dole un mundo sucio, hirviente. MNarta querfa saber y
habiea escuchado oon avidesz los secretos . . . . Luego
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Pino se habfa desbordado. Sus conversaciones

pareoian teflir a todas las personas que Marta conocfa

¥y queria de eata suocledad. Sus proprias aalgas,

e« « « habZfan sido metidas por Fino en estas conversaciones.

Marta se encontré de pronto en una especie de fangal

de confidenclas dlarias y de chismorreos con Pino, y

gse horrorigs de sf misma. . . . Pino, zor su parte la

persiguié ocon su aborrecimiento (pages L2-43),
Marta suffered as & result of her reletionship with Pino
but not because, "A su cuflada le gustaba mortificarla.®
It was not the words of Pino that bothered her but she
suffered ", . . por no poder estar scla, por tener que
contestar alguna ver . . . (page 182). Finally, Marta
cane to realize that Pino was overwhelmed with boredom,
confined to that house with no interests, and that ". . .
Pino por €80 la nirabs a ella ocon una grisdcea envidia de
la que ni siquiera se daba cuenta. Pino estaba enferma
de envidia por todos y de todo" (page 185). Pino's
antagonism against Marte had reached such & piteh that "Pino
hubiera querido que José arrastrara a Marta por las cabdellos
¥y le pegara una paligza tremenda. Marta le hadbfa oido
gritar estas oosas sin inmutarse"” (page 185). On another
ocecegion ", . . en la voz de Fino vidraba un rencor
apagionado. . ." as she declared to José€ that Marta should
not be in *un buen coleglio” but in a correctional school.
Pino ended the quarrel with José by saying in Marta's
presence, "Que me tienes aqul encerrada mientras otras se

rfen . . . IMira ocfmo se rfe ésta, mfrala, que la mato"”
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She Jumped up and threw a knife across the dinner table
at Marta's head but "La chica se agachd rdpidamente y el
. oiochille paséd por encima de ella" (page 186).

The conflict between Pino and Marta lessened as
soon as José announced Marta's departure. Pino even took
an interest in preparing Marta's wardrobe for the trip.
However, when Marta asked if she might take something from
the house, Pino immediately thought of Teresa's jewels and
"Miré a su ouliada oon rigidez, desconfiada". Marta, how-
ever, only wanted some of her father's books. This amaszed
Pino who "Slempre la oreyé algo boba, perc no tanto como
en agquel momento”. FPino replied: " Y quién te lo impide?"”
(page 304). Marta realized that the books were to Pino
the least wvaluable thing in the house. lMarta had gained
much understanding of Pino and asz she observed her then
she thought, ". . . Pino no se sentirfa munca feliz. Parecia
no poder soportar las paredas de su oasa Yy sin embargo
s8lo se preoocupaba de las cosas que sucedfan allf. Era
como un animal cogido en una trampa® (page 304).

Marta was seldom aware of her mother except in times
of dire distress, when she felt entirely rejected by her
family. Onoce, after a violent scens with Pino, Marta stopped
at her mother's door and for the first time felt grieved
that shes oould not go in because "Nunca habfa sentido unas

ganas tan grandes de echarse a llorar en los brazos de
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alguien que fuese comprensivo y bueno" (page 45). In
recent yesars she had thought very little about Teresa.

Ag a chilld she had asked for her persistently but when
", « + la pusieron en su presencia lloré y pataled,
desesperada, diciendo que aquelle mujer no ers su madre”
(page 242).

After Marta decided to leave the lisland, she began
to think of her mother and went ons night to her room to
talk with her. She sald to herself:

Es como sl estuviera muerta. Nunca estuviste con
ella. Nunca te necesitd . . . N1 la necesitaste desde
que de )4 de estar en tu vida. iTe habrfa entendido
alguna vez? . . . {(page 195).

Merta wondered what she would do if her mother opened her
eyes and asked Marta to stay,

Pero Teresa no podfa decir eso. No podfa detenerla.
Marta no era nadie, no se sentia atada a nadle, y eso
le daba fuerza. Teresa la habfa abandonado hacfa afios
mds que se estuviera muerta (page 196).

When Marta'!s mother died, Marta was obsessed with the idea
that the death was her mother's answer and that ". . .

habfa llegado a su vida como un peso del clelo para hundirle
¥y para detenerla en su fuga" (page 234). Marta gagzed upon
the body of her mother and was so upset when she could not
ory that she prayed in anguish: "Dios mfo que yo no sea

un monstruo, que yo pueda llorar por mi madre; yo, que lloro

por cualquier cosa insignifiocante” (page 238).
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Harta's conflict over her relationship with her
mother was finally resolved when Marta decided to remain
on the island because, as she sald to her mother, "No
quiero hacer nada que t2 consideras mal hecho’ (page 242).
After this decision she began to recall events in her child-
hood and an ooccasion when her mother had shielded her from
punishment. Then she knew that ". . . su madre era amigs
suya, complice suya, ocontra su padre y oontra todos . . .
No, su madre no le habria impedido nunca que realizarse
sus deseas. Lsa habrfa ayudado como nadie" (page 243). At
last she was able to ery. ©She realized now that "En verdsd,
los nruertos no nos abandonan tanto como suelen hacerlo los
sexeg vivos., . . . Ahora mismo, a Marta, alucinada, le
parecfa sentir aquella compaifa y agquella perdids y olvidada
complicidad" (page 243).

Marta did not remember her father but she identi-
fied herself with him. One day when she aszked her grand-
father about him he had said: "No debes hacer caso ocuando
te digan que tu padre fué un mal hombre y un gandul . . .
Era un pooo desgraciado . . . Era un tipo algo bohemio y
vagabundo . . . Slempre tiene ganas de ucrchzrse" (page 31).
Harta was convinced that she was like her father, that ". . .
algo de vagabunda tenfa ella. Siempre soflaba con ver
palaes le janos" (page 31). !Marta did not feel the lack of
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a father but she did treasure his books and these were
the only things she took with her when she left hone,

The relationship that caused larta the most pain

and anguish wes with Pablo, whom she worshipped as &
saint but who considered her the adolesoent child that
she was and refused to take seriously her adoration of him.
Marta's devotion to Pablo was prompted by the interest he
showed in the storles she had written about the legends of
the 1gland, "de demonios con patas de ocabras.' MNarta was
overwhelmed when he saild, "Me gusta mucho. . . . Te haré
un dibujo de tus demonios.” Carmen Laforet wrote that
YAnte esta desusada dulzura, Marta tuvo ganas de llorarxr’
(page 91). After this conversation Narta thought of Pablo,
the painter, ". . . como el dnico amigo posible. . . . la
chica sentfa hacia agqusl hombre un extrafio respeto. Cuando
sentfa por casualidad su noambre empezaba a latirle el
corazén . . ." (pages 109-110). DBeosuse Marta enjoyed
the attentlion and interest Fablo showed her, she began to
g0 dally to the area where ghe might meet him. O0Of Pablo
the author sald, "A Pablo le gustd hablar con la nifia en
estas ocasiones. Nunca habfa encontrado un oyente més
atento., A veces ge sentaban juntos en un bdanco . . ."
(page 120). It was Pablo who encouraged Marta's desire
to leave the island for he had said to her, '"T'd deblas
salir de la igla. No estds hecha para estar metida entre
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cuatro paredes., T tiznes algo de vagabunda'" (pages 120-
121). To Marta the things that Pablo sa2id to her ", . .
le gonsban como una mdsicse extrafia . . ." but Pablo did
not kmow that ". . . squellas conversaclones parecfan
abrirle puertas, mundos" (page 123). Neither d4id Pablo
realize the significance of the child's words to him,
"Nadie en el mundo, nadle, es tan amiga suya como yo . . "
(page 140) nor her statement, "Nunoca . . . munoca le he
querido tanto como esta noche. HNunca, ni cuando me emamore,
querré a nadie tanto ocomo a usted."” To these words Pablo
replied: "Te deseo que no te enamores nunca, hija. Tener
quince afios y aexr oomo td . . ." (page 1i44).

After this pleasant relationship Marta was stunned
at the reoception Pablo gave her when she went to his house
to see him. Although the girl smiled when she met him,

., » o« l2 voz de Pablo resultaba tan molesta y tan seoa

que no parecla suya" as he saild to her "iVayay . . . Esto
es como un atraco, ¢no? . . . Veo que no tienes nmuscho que
estudiar” (page 153). When Marta asked if she bothered

him she noted, as he ralsed his eyes, "Alld muy adentro
lucfa algo. Una chispita carifiosa, Feio muy lejana,
However, Pablo admonished her '"No debeg venir por squl &
buscarme® (page 153). Pablo seemed exasperated at her
guestion, Y , . . ¢todo squello de nuestra amisted? . . %
and he replied:
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Hijae, compréndelo . . . Yo no tengo tu edad . . .

No me hagas mfia imbéoll adn de lo que soy . . . Td,
a tus cosas . . . A tus amigtades . . . 3lento deecirte
eato asf, pero no es posible que continuamente te
encuentre delante de mf . . .iVaya, adidst (pages 153-
154).
Marta proudly replied, "Siento haberle molestadso . . . No
volverd a suceder” (page 154), dbut the girl was =o upset
and frustrated she wished ghe were dead, Laforet wrote:

S1 es verdad gue un dfa la habfa consliderado como

mujer fuerte, como amiga, hoy era sélo una nifla

molesta. . . j0jald 12 matara alguien y Pablo

reciblera horrorizado y pdlido la notlclia!l (page 155).
For weeks after this Marta avolded meeting Pablo. She was
surprised that "El1 sufrimiento ni le hadfa dadoe fiebre, ni
habfa alterado su organismo en lo méds mInimo." Like all
hopeful and long-suffering adolescents, she thought that
through this experience she had grown into a woman and
that "Alpgtn dfa Pablo lo entenderfa, y quizd buscase su
amistad . . ." (page 163).

It wag Harta, however, who finally sought Pablo
because she wanted his help in srranging to leave the
1sland with her relatives. She thought, "Unicamente 41,
en el mundo, podfa tenderle una manoc . . ." In the absence
of her relativeg, she declded they had gone to visit Pable
and, determined to follow, she set ocut alone by bus to a
far corner of the island to find himn ". . . porque nada es

4172c¢11 cuando se degsea de veras . . . ¥y eso a8l mismo

Pablo se 1o habfa dicho . . ." (psge 199). Pablo was
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astonnded to see her but not angry when he said, "Te debe
haber pasado algo muy grave., Esto es una locura.® To
this Marta replied, "Pero, aunque me oueste un disgusto,
no me importe nada., Me pareos que nunoa he sido tan felir
como mhora” (pags 206). Pablo 414 not realize as he derided
Harta about her behavior, “como una mujerzuela vulgar®,
that Marta felt pleasure in his words because ". ., . quien
castiga as! de palabra no tiene indiferencia . . ." {page
211). To Marta Pablo said, "Tengo miedo por ti porque eres
una chiquille looca . . . No 84 10 que esperas encontrar
en el mundo" (page 217). However, Pablo accompanied Marta
back to the home of her relatives and, in spite of his
exaspsration concerning her beshavior, managed to convinoe
them to give José the impression Marta had spent the week-
end with them. In his argument he said:

Td sabes que Josd aprovecharfsa cualquier ocasidn
para enocerrar a su hermana. Td mismsa has comentsdc que
ese hombre quiere tener a la nifia bien sogida, y que
de ninguna manera permitird que se case hasta que €1
l2 haya despojado de su fortuna . . . (page 221).

After this display of friendship and conocern, Pablo

departed with these words:

No me des las graclas, Haefa tiempo que no me
divertfa tanto . . . Ah, te voy a deoir una cosa.

Estos 4%a8 no se te oourra venir a varme., No conviene.
Per? 8l logras tus planes, ya sabes ., . . (pages 222~
223).

These were the last words spoken between Pablo and Marta.

That night Marta's mother died. It was then that "Marta
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BUpo . . », 8¢ atrevid a saberlo, que no era otra ooss
que amor el sentimlento que la llenaba cuando el nombre
de Pablo le haofa arder . . ." (page 291)., She believed
it was because Pablo was so reserved, so superior, so
strong, that he had re jected her friendship. Typical of
her youth she thought:
Nunca . . . podria querer a ninguna otra personsa
de esta manera. No es poslble gue un sentlimiento tan
grande, sin base alguna de realidad, se de dos veces
en la vida (page 292).
tiarta's idealist dream vanished when she saw, through her
window, Honesta and Pablo in the garden. "Lo que ellos
hacfen le hizo perder de un golpe todas sus ldeas sobre
el pudor y la decencla” (page 295). The author wrote:
¥ds tarde, empezéd & sufrir . . . no de celos, ni
de envidia, porque su cuerpo era demaslado Joven y su
emor por Pablo demaesiado egpiritusl, demasiado lleno
de idealisuo para eso. Empexd a sufrir de asco
(page 295).
She realized that Pablo considered her a child, nothing
more. It seemed to iiarta she would always suffer because
"Era demasiado jJjoven para saber la existencia pladosa,
implaecable y segura, del olvido" (page 299). +When she
learned that Pablo had left the island without seelng her,
"Aunque & ella misma le pareciese imposible, este hecho la
conmovlid poco; porque estabe como sumerglide en la fiebre
de los preparados para su propria mercha . . ." (page 301).
Thus the confllct resulting from the love and adoration of
a younyg zirl for the older aan who hefriended her was re-

solved in a true-~to-life fashion.
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Marta's relationship with her relatives was not very
satisfaoctory. She had looked forward with great expecta~
tion to their arrival and was deeply disappointed and hurt
when they had no time for her and were not interested in
meeting her friends, to whom she had boasted about them,
She had hoped that Matilde, as a writer, would be interested
in her writings but “Cuando pensaba en la manera ©oOmo
Matilde 1la habfa rechagado, hasta tenfa ganas de llorar®
(page 69). The child irritated Matilde, who gald to her
when Harta asked Matilde to look at her writings, ". . .
no quiero leer tus cosas. No ad Bl tienes talento ¢ no.
Lo mds probable serd que no lo tenges; . . . HMe repugna
verte todo el 4dfa sin hacer nada mds que penssar en ti
misma" (page 70). The first indication that this relation-
shiy was improving was Matilde'!s act of kindness when she
did not reveal to José that Marta had taken the trip alone
to see Pablo. Later she helped Marta finish her sohool-
work and study for examinations. Like Marta, she was
anxious to go to Spain., 7The author also noted that:
Matilde, desde que se enterd que su scbrina idba
con ellas, empezaba & tomar oon Marta un aire
auntoritario. A la nifis esto la asombrabra un poeco,
pero se dejabe dominar pasivemente . . . (page 302).
AfF aore interest was shown in her, #arte was gradually
becoming leses defiant and she was learning the art of

getting along with others.
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Marta's relationship with Honesta was less satis-
factory than with Matilde. Marta thought that Honesta
"era afectadfsima” and thet she was ridiculous when she
saild to Marta, "Vamos s ser nuy amiguitas, ¢eh? . . « En
medio de todo somos las Unicas chicas solteras de la casa.
{No te parece?" (page 55). Karta soon learned that "Honesta
hablaba por hablar”" and she wondered what her friends
would think of her. She knew: "Se reirfan un poco" (page
56). Merta breferred to read rather than talk with
Honesta and when Honesta followed her ". . . para segulr
hablasndo de sf misme, de enamorados . . . ¥ mil bobadas
contadas con muy poco gracla, iarta tuvo ganas de bostezar
o de taparle la boca" (page 56). Narta began to feel a
deep antipathy toward her aunt. As Marta was dancing with
a friend during a party she "Sintid un ligero placer séddloco
al ver que liones . . . /Bic,/ envejecida por el contraste
con la panda de muchachas, la miraba" (page 89). On the
night of her mother's death, as Marta observed Honestsa
come into the room "Aquel aire despreocupado ¥ prosaloco
de Honesta en aquella noche, entre aquellas velas, . . «
tenfa algo de fdnebre, de mal gusto. Algo que a Marta le
produjo nduseas" (page 24);). After seeing llonesta in the
gurden with Pablo, Marta's reactions to the women beceme
moxre violent. As Honesta embraced her when she came to

her room before Teresa's funersl:
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Marta sintié un dolar agudo, irracional, que le

hizo asomer ldgrimes a los ojJos . . . Entonces ella

noté una rabia clega, irrefrensble que la envolvii

e o« o jublere meatado e Honesta. . . . T como en

une especle de pataleta le pisoted los ples con sus

sandallas (page 297).
l'omentg leter she wondered if her action had been Just
and i1f she would have done this to Fablo. Che realized
that what she hed seen the night before between lonesta
and Pablo had "braaded her like a hot iron", that all her
ideals in life which she had struggled to obtaln had bveen
consumed as in flames and she thought, "llunca volverls a
ser la criatura clege y fellz de antes, después ée heberx
sildo mordida por los demonios" (page 298). Through lonesta
she hed leerned that Pablo was no more an extraordinary
being than Danlel or José and yet she was able to defend
him ageinst lonesta, whom she despised.

Daniel was the only relative who dlsplayed any
sympethy towerd larta., This uncle was the one who told
her the family hed discovered she was wandering the streets
of the cilty alone and had been swimming dasily with her friend
Sixto but, Lanliel said, "Yo estoy de tu parte . . . .
Puedes alrirme tu pecho como a un confesor. Yo también he
pecado mucho" (page 170), lie did not protest Hatilde's
action in protecting karta agelinst Jos€ nor did he refuse
the responsibility of taking her to spain. olnce Danlel

wes inpressed by social prestige, the fact that liarta had
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money no doubt swayed his decision and made her more
scoeptable to him ag a future responsibility.

Harta's relationship with her friends was very satisw
factory. The suthor said that '"larta no concebfa la vida
8in consultar sus preccupaciones a la pasnda de amigas., Se
sentfa unida & ellas mucho mfs que a su familia" (pages 66—
67). Her friends were also loyal to her, particularly her
best friend, aAnita. To those who were discussing the
oeriticism of ilarta's behavior, Anita saild:

Una mujer no besa a un hombre nunca sin estar
enamorada. Nc va & perder asf su dignidad. iiué
tonterfal Claro gque estd enamorada. £lla conox =
Sixto de toda la vida (page 167).

At that moment siarta thought that ", . . en verdad lo
extraordinario y lo irreal eran ellas, sus amigas, su dulce
buena fe . . ." (page 168). karta realized that she had
been granted . . . &s8te regalo de la vida que es5 la
amistad" (page 166).

Sixto, Karta's only Wy friend in the story, served
to ease the pain of rejection by Fablo. '".ra muy consoclador
también saber que ella, a Sixto, le gustaba un poco" (page
160). Whenever she was cbsessed with thoughts of Pablo
b, . . Opuso como muro la lmagen limpias y sonriente de
Bixto . . ." (page 161). Dut merta never loved sSixto, as
she declared to both José and rablo. ..fter José€ forbade

her to see Sixto agaln, liarte agreed, and this caused hner
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no concern. lowever, larta had feelings of gullt when
Sixto came to the school locklng for her and she responded
to his expressions of love and concern by saying, "Si mi
hermano me ve contigo, me mata . . ." (page 239). She did
not want to think she had behaved badly toward him and she
thought to herself that, "Hublera sido mucho més odmodo
que €1 se hablera olvidado, como ella, . . ." (page 240).
Marta felt remorse for her treatment of Sixto.

As the above conflicte with her family and with
Pablo lndicate, Marta was in constant conflict with her-
self. Often she felt there were two Martes, one trying
to contrcl the impulsive behavior of the other., As
previously indicated, Marta felt very much alone. She knew
thls about herself:
31 habfa una persona destinadsa a correr por el
mundo, €sa era ella. . . . Las mayores alegries,
las mayores penag que habfa tenldo en su ocorta vida,
las habla pasado en soledad. Eecordd sus vagebundeos,
por las calles de Las Palmag . . . ¥ recordd una noche
con lune, cuando ella se baflaba 8ola, en el mar. La
soledad no le daba miedo. Ni lo desconocido (pages
305-306) »
narta was determined to leave the 1island and certain
she would not return because she kxnew that ". . . ella no
era de los personas que wvuelven la vista atrds’ (page 3085).
Because she did not want to beglin her new life burdened
with old menmories, she decided to burn all of her childhood

writings. oOhe revecled mixed emotions concerning her
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departure, however, when she saved the legends of Alcorah,
the spirit of the island. As she walked along the familar
garden paths in the beauty of the twilight, she suddenly
realiged she 4id not need to keep the legends to remember
that beautiful island,

Todos aquellos caminos, hartos de soportar el peso
de sus sandalias, estaban dentro de su alma., La
silueta de la cumbre, y el silencio de los barrances,
el mar y las playas, humedecerfan siempre el latido
de su sangre. Dondeqguiéra gque fuese, la isla iria
con ella (page 309).

Marta not only achieved her desire to free herself from the
boundaries of the island and the authority of her half-
brother, but she was able to solve to her satisfaction the
confliot she felt in her relationship with Pablo, and to
surmount the pain and disillusionment she suffered because
of him. As a result of this experience, she developed
knowledge and understanding of herself, she was able to
resolve the confliot between the two Martas, and with self-
sssurance and antiocipation she faced her departure for
places unknown. Thus the author conoluded this novel, as
she did Nada, on a hopeful note.

There were other confliots presented by the author
as the result of unsatisfactory interpersonsl relationships
between the members of the family. As previously indicated
Josd, with his feelings of inferiority because of an unsatis-

factory relationship with his father, sought to compensate
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by a domineering manner toward everyone and particularly

toward Pino, whom he really loved. However, becauss of his
attachment to Teresa, which through the years he had trans-
ferred to love of the house and its surroundings, he had
been unable to free himself to show compassion toward
anyonse.

Pino felt sooclally inferior to the Camino family,
she was consumed with jealousy, especlally of her husband's
loyalty toward Teresa above everyone else; and she was
bored, Justifiably, by her lonely existence in the country
home where she was shut up with only the servants and the
mentally 111 woman. She was in oonfliet with everything
and everybody, she had no satisfactions in life; and, as
a result, she was a hysteriocal and truly emotionally 111l
woman.

Between Daniel and Matilde there was marital discord.
Daniel considered himselr sccially superior and beoause of
this and his feelings of inferiority dus to his unsuccessful
oareer, he had dominated and degraded Matilde. This
oreated a bittermess in her which lessened as she was able
to return to a 1life of activity on the island, outside the
doninsering atmosphere of Daniel's snobbish family. Danilel

also improved as he enjoyed success in performing a Jjob in
Josd's office.
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Honesta was a frustrated and stupid woman who led
a useless existence, and oompensated for her unsatisfactory
life by carrying on one 1llicit love affair after another.
Matilde was ashamed of her sister-in-law and Honesta
considered Metilde ocommon and inferior. Honesta remalned
frustrated and spiteful to the end.

Agide fyom the story of Marta's struggle for
independence the novel inoludes the story of the servant,
Vicenta, who had ocome to the island a bitter and lonely
woman. She had fled from another of the Canary Ielanis,
after her husband had deserted her, her favorite daughter
had been murdered, and her remalning daughter had asked
her to leave because it was believed she was practicing
witchoraft. The diffiocult life of the natives of the island
is described vividly through the story of Vieenta. Vicenta
had trunsrer?od her love and allegliance for her young
daughter to Teresa and had guarded Teresa carefully through
the sarly days of her marriage and during her long illness,
Howsver, Vioenta was looked upon with suspiolon by all
the household, she was in constant conflioct in her relation-
ship with all membeérs of the farily, and after the death
of Teresa, she walked out of the house forever. She had
never enjoyed approval, respeot, or appreciation after

Teresa's illness.
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In Pablo the author dezoribes the struggle of @&

noderately successful artist to deoclde between success as
a2 painter and the satigfaction of being with the wife

thet he loved, Pablo's greatest conflict was with him-
self because he had no respect for himself as a man. 1In
the end the reader is given the lmpression he went to join
his wife, Marfa, because life was unbearable without her.
Hie character adds interest to the story because of the
contrasting philosophy of life that, through him, the
aunthor presented to Marta,

In this book, through her diverse characters and
their circumstances, Carmen Laforet has woven a presenta-
tion of the confliets produced within a family or a eircle
of friends because of misunderstanding, frustration,
selfishness, envy, and indifference that lesd to unsatis-
factory inter-personal relationships. 8She bdrings out
clearly the fact that people are the product of their
experiences. The reader is left with the sgharp impression
that more than any other dlssetisfaction with one's environ-
ment, lack of satisfactory relationships with family and
friendis can be most devastating.

The title of the novel, La mujer _gu_g_!g_.'*ﬁaa taken
from a Biblioal passage written by Saint Paul in a letter

kécarmen Laforet, %; mujer nueva (Barcelona: Edioclones
Destino, 1960), pp. 1-291.
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to the Galatians "Porque respecto de Jesuoristo ni la
cirocuncisién ni la incirouncisién valen nada, sino el
hombre nmuevo . . ." (Galatians 6:115). However, typlcal
of Carmen Laforet's writings the main charaoter is a woman,
Paulina, the product of a broken childhood home, as was
Andrea in Nada and Marta in La isla y los demonios, who
had besn 1living a tormented and miserable existence for
the past year in the home of her mother-in-law, Marians,
with hexr husband, Fulogio, and her ten-year-old son, Miguel.
Other sharacters in the book inoclude Antonio Nives, the
second cousin of Euloglo, his beautiful but alling wife
Rita, and Rita's mother, Blanca, 18 condesa de los Vados.

The main theme of the novel is ths struggle of
Paulina with herself to reach a deolsion as to what course
her 1ife should follow. Should she remain with her estranged
husband and assume her duties as a wife and mother, or
should she follow the dloctates of her heart and go away
with Antonlo, a marrled man eight years younger than she,
with whom she was madly and passionately in love and with
whom she had been having an affalr. Religion played an
important part in this book. Paulina's struggle with her-
self involved a struggle with the bellefs of the Catholic
church and the reader is led to bellieve that her decision
18 reached not through the desires of the woman, who in the
first part of the book followed her own convictions and
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considered these a sufficient gulde, but because of the
conversion of this woman to the Catholic faith, whieh in
the last part of the story brought forth "la mujer nueva®,

Paulina's struggle with herself involved feelings
of extreme loneliness and the need for the security that
love and affection would give her. laforet again presents
the effect of marital discord on the life of a ohild.

She plctured Paulina as an unhappy and frightened girl in
the home of her father, don Pedro Goya, an uncouth amd
drunken mining-engineer, and her pious, ever-suffering,
and weeplng mother, Isabel. Don Pedro carried on extra-
marital affairs and pald no attentlion to his family and
Paulina's mother consoled herself by spending her days at
the churoh in prayer, neglecting care of the home and her
child. 3She always wore black and thus:

Paulina empezd a relaclionar el sentido religioso

de 1la vida como un especie de amor a colores osouros,
a olor suclo, a carnes enfermas y blancas cublertas
de ropas espesas que las privan del beneficio del
sol. . . . eupezé a aborrecer a los ocuras que
aconse jaban a su madre resignacidn y daban grandes
palmadas en el hombre de su padre y comfan arroz
los domingos en su oesa . . ." (page 53).
Paulina's memories of her unhappy childhood were oclosely
related to the churoh because of her mother's devotion
to 1t; and, as a result:

Para Pauline, la iglesia llegd a ser la excusa de

todos los males de la patria, de todos log gamberrismos

de los hombres . . .3 algo viejo, corrompido ¥y malo,
ocontra lo cual su Jjuventud querfa luchar (page 57).
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Paulina also had burled deep within her all the
emotlons she had felt in regard to her parents and their
relatlionship. This greatly affected her conflict with
herself in regard to the effect her conduct would have on
her chlld. Paulina saild that she was never able to tell
anyone:
« « « el sufrimiento que habfa sentido en las noches
de sus cinoco aflos, despertdndose en la obscuridad de
su cuarto porque su padre insulteba a su madre, que
lloraba en la habitacidn de al lado. No le expliod
¢adno se ponfa ella de rodlllas en su cama, rezando a
Dios para que los padres se reconciliasen y fuesen
buenos y hublese alegrie en ossa para slempre Jauéds
s + « (page 43).
In thege lines the author describved vividly and realistically
the bitter longings of a disturbed and frightened child
for the gseocurity of love. Because of frequent moving and
the home situation, Paulina spent most of her girlhood
with her maternal grandmother, Bel, in Madrid. This was
a happy situation from which she dreaded to go to spend
vacations with her parents. The author said, "Paulina
fue creclendo con la 1dea obsesiva de ser absolutamente
lo contrario de lo que habfan sido sus padres.” and that,
in regard to her father, "S1 este odio no se encond nds,
fue porque Paulina vivia en Nadrid y porque su padre le
pernitfa estudiar en el Instituto y luego en la Universidad
. « «" (page 56).
Paulina loved her grandmother who, the author said,

"Era la persona de su familia que mds habfa mimado a



Paulina. ILa que se habfa preocupado por ella con un

interés ansioso. . . . La abuela ocultd al padre de

Paulina . . . el largo noviazgo de Paulina". This relation-
ship between these two seemed true to life, as 4id the
grandmother's explanation to the girl, "A los hombres

cono tu padre no hay mds remedio que mentirles" (pages
Lo-i1).

In additlion to this satisfactory relatlionship with
her grandmother, Paulina was popular and had many friends.
The grandmother was concerned, however, about Paulina,
who at fifteen was, '"Una ohioca nada guapg y que atrae
como moscones a todos los nifios de su mismo ocurso. . . .
Coqueta como el demonlo. Amiga de trapos, alegre,
desparpajada”. It bothered her because of her . . . frlas
relaclones ocon lag chicas" (page 40). This did not bother
Paulina, who sald, "Creen que les quito los novios, tlenen
oelos" (page 40), a realistic conoclusion.

During the Civil War, when Paulina was left alone
in the city, apart from relatives, she was able to make
friends who continued to seek her oompany years later,
but 1t was a surprise to her that they enj)oyed her presence
without expecting anything of her. Paulina did not know
why, ". « . le costaba tanto crser que la gente pudiese
'quererla. Sin embargo, reflexiond, sdlo una vez en su

vida habfa quedado defrauvdads en su cariflo . . ."



84
(page 280), and that was with Euloglo, who, nevertheless
did not want a separation. This lack of confidence in
hersgelf seemed the logiocal result of the terrific dis-
appointment and pain she experienced in her relationship
with her hushband after he had returned from the war,
Paulina's horrible 1life during the summers she
spent in Villa de Robre, the mining village wheres her
parent’s lived, was ocomplicated by the faot she had no
friends there because mining families were not accenteqd,
for they were "“gente de pasoe'. PFrom the balcony of her
parents! home she watched the life of the family next
dooxr and oame to worship as a "especie de fdolo", Mariana
Nives, the wife of the owmer of a factory, an attractive
and efficient woman whose image she opposed to that of her
nother, It was her relationship with this woman and her
gson, Euloglo, that was the dewvasting and driving force of
Paulina's life.

Paulina met Enloglio Niven on the trzin to Villa de
Robre and when he took her hand:

Cambiaron una corriente de magnetismo tan profundo,
que & Pauline le parecfa que algo la sacaba de ella
misma, la sbsorbhfa, la anegaba., . . . ab?fza recibido
en su vida centenares de besos y era la primera veg
que la besaban, que besaba (page 57).

That was the beginning of what Psulina described as "Aquella

looura . . . obscura felicldad . . .," 2 feelins which
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during the last year Paulina had forgotten. "En el
dltimo afio se habfa convertido en polve, perc estuve vivo,
ardiendo, en ella y en Fulogio, en los dos" (page 69).
Paulina did not reslize that at that time Eulogio %, . .
tenlia la cabeza torturada porque su cerebro, acostumbrado
2l orden y a una seria disoiplina, le estaba dlciendo gque
no podfa dejarse iy con aquella muchacha, a la que amaba,
pero oon le que jamds se casarfa" (page 71).

This problem was solved within & few weeks when the
Civil War began and Euloglo went into the service as an
ageistant to his uncle in Barcelona. Paulina's father
had been shot as & political prisoner, her mother was
dead, and Paulina was alone in the house. Eunlogio took
her with him, and later they were married by military
officials. The satigfaction of this relationship was
vividly expressed when Euleogio sald, “.-Nunca mfz podrfa »
estar con una mujer despuds de haber estado contigo® to k
which Paulina replied "-..Yo s€ una oopa sola: 8Bé que no
me importarfa mairme, despuds de esta felicidad" (page 78).
Paulina followed him, living in aceomodations found in
villeges, of which the author said "El dnico hepar que
Paulina recordaba ocomo suyo en toda su vidse fue aguella
cagita de San Gervasio" (page 8l). After Evlogio fled to
France and on to South America, Paulina was renounced by

her landleadies and wes put in prison, where Miguel was
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born. For ten years Pauline struggled to support her-
self and Miguel, with little help from her mother-in-law
until Eulogio returned., Then began the most torturous
existence of Paulina's life. Euloglo returned much differ-
ent from the man she loved. 3She gaild:

La vida en comdn oasi desde el momento en que
Euloglo abandond su avidn en Barajas y fue acerodndose
al grupo de personas ., . . que le espsraban . . .

Casl desde el momento en que 41 abragd a liariana, y
levanté del suelo, en un alarde, a Miguel, y 4o0lo uncs
nimtos mds tarde se volvid para encontrar los ojos
asustados de Paulina, s, desde ese arranque todo fue
dirfcil (page 116).
Faulina wes crushed by Euloglo!s lack of desire for her
above 2l]l others, a natural reaction, and edded to this she
was hurt by his tone of voice when he spoke to her, and
the fact that, as she said:

Disponfa los menores detalles =sin consultar en
absoluto la opinién de Panlina, . . . Cambid de
coleglo a hMiguel; oriticd su educacidén. Dessutorizé
e Paulina delante del chieo (page 117).

This would have been difficult for any women, but it was
especially so for Pauline because she had had complete
authority over the boy since hig birth, she hsd provided
for him, and she was used to making decisions. Added to
this wae the deep hurt she felt at this displey of laek
of eppreciation for vhat she had done, eand lack of eon-
gideration and love for her. In this conflict between
Eulogio and Pauline the author deseoribed 2 situation that

has existed hetween thousendes of couples following any war.
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Paulinats resction was normal, ". . . con los nervios

desatados, llevd las de perder. Gritaba. . . ." (page
117). To a2ll this Euloglo shrugged his shoulders and
gald "Coses de mujeres.” Naturally, his reaction was
passed on to his son who would repeat "Cosas de mujeres
« « « No hagas caso, padre” (page 117).

This loss of devotion from her son as well as her
husband was more than Paulina ocould bear., VWhen Eulogio
asked her to be married in the church, she refused.
Because they were expesting another child and Paulins
was not well, the family moved to the home of Marisna in
Villa de Robre., Following the birth of the child, who
died, Pauline became gravely 1ll. After that time Eulogio
had not insisted on the marriage but had said: "No guiero
forzarte: pié€nsalo" . . . and Paulina thought, "3i algmma
vez me case, . . . no serd contigo, emiguito . . ."

(page 117),

Tt wag from this situation, whieh inelvded lMariena's
disapproval of hexr, that Pauline was fleeing when the
story opened. She sald, "Es terridble gentirse svjeta a
un homdbre aque la trata a una como s8i une fuesge slrulen
a8in ni siquiera uso de ravén . . ." (page 188). Fuloglo
agreed to her departure to live alone in MNedrid while she
declded whether sghe wished to merry in the church and live

with him for the sake of their son. VWhen, lster, Psulina
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told him she had 3decided not to return beocause, "Eg peor
vivir con padres mal avenidos . . . Ademds, yo me conozco,
No soporto el campo”, Eulogio replied firmly., "Yo he wvuelto
a ti, por mi hijo." The bhasis of Paulina's conflict is
truly revealed when she replied "Yo te esperd a ti por ti
mismo, sl quieres saberlo” (page 212).

Complicating the conflict between Euloglo and
Paulina, end partioculerly Paulina with herself, was the
fact Pauline was not sure the marriage had been registered
and if not, she was a free woman. If she were free, she
would be relieved of some of the gnlilt she felt over her
affalr with Antonio., Eulogzio finally told her he had not
been frank with her, that he had bdeen afraid to tell her
he haed dilscovered the marriage was not recorded, and that
gshe was free, After this admission Paulina- wanted teo
confese to him that in losing her, he was not losing “Una
joya" and she sald, "No he sido tan intachable como td
crees" (page 213). Fulogio stopped her confession. Fis
words revealed clearly his position in the matter and why
Paulina, a woman who all her life had been starved for
love, ocould not bring herself to return to him snd there-
fore had encouraged him to find another wife. TFulorio said:

Paulina . . . no 8€ pvor lo que t?® valpas o dejes de

valer, por _lo gue guie casarme oontigo. Ls porgue
eres 1a madre &e ng &153. ¥ poraque, apgrte de gua aquisras
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locura o debllidad, eres una mujer que se hea
saorificado por mi hijo. X ninguna mujer que yo
metiese en casa, ninguna podrfa substituirte a ti,
Junto a nuestro chico. Es por eso . . ., simplemente
por eso . . . (page 214),

When Paulina began to ory, Euloglo watched her coldly.
Eulogio further expressed his attitude by replying to her
suggestion that there were other women who could make him
happy:

No seas tonta, Paulina. Las mujeres os credéis
siempre lo principal del universo. S5in mujer también
puede vivir un hombre muy a gusto (page 217).

To thls he added '"--Ya sabes que espero, Paunlina,"

Paulina's struggle with herself and ageinst Luloglo

wag intensified by her "conversion” on the traein, when
she fled to iadrid, becaume in spite of 211 her study,
prayer, confession, and conference with members of the
clergy, it was not clear to her what wes the "task" that
ghould be her's to aceept. Even after Pauline rejected
the love of Antonio, free to marry after his wife died,
she was tormented with longing for direction and know-
ledge "of the will of God". Her answer came when early
one morning she went co ihe church to pray and witnessed
there the marriage of an elderly oouple, Ag she heard the
words of the marrisge vows "Para siempre”, che Xnew that
"Ella tambidn ge hadbfa dado as?f. ¥Yo como en unz =zventura,

"sino para toda la vida" (paze 286). Then this thourht canme

to her:
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No importeba que sus impulsos egofstas hacla
BEuloglo hublesen terminedo. INo importaba que le
horrizase mucho més la 1dee de vivir con €1 en el
camp0 . . + O ilmporte nade. Dlos le darfa la gracia
necesaria para segulr su camino, porque ella era la
mujer de ivlogio . . . (page 286).

Although it 1s certsin thet Paullnat's decislion to return
to the country to live with Euloglo was influenced by her
feelings for her son Miguel, the author makes it quite
clear that this was not the real basis for her decislion.
when Paulina suddenly deolded to return to #adrid, Zuloglo
remembered that "Paulina ni siquiera habla esperado el
regreso de rilguel . . o in la dltima temporada, ri su hijo
parecla importarle. 5in embargo, habla vivido dedicado

al nifio durante diez afios" (page 15). This perplexed
Bulogio. Later Antonio questioned her about her plans for
Miguel because she had declared that, regardless of .iguel,
she would go away with him, and Paulina said, "5i tud
quleres, nada me importa", and she gontinued:

Mo le perderé del todo . . . Lstoy blen segura de
que para los hijos es mejor una separacién amistoea
que unos padres gue no se quieren, amargdndose la
vide (pace 59).

This was & loglcal conclusgion for a woman whose childhood
had been miegerable bacausge of the marital discord in the
home,

Later Paullna wrote to Tuloglo to come mr her say-

‘ing, "Cal como lo vefa acuella mujer meve en acue ellas sge
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habfa ido convirtiendo por su amor a Cristo" (page 287).
When he arrived and greeted her with a smmile, ". . « tuvo
la seguridad de gque su vida al lado de agquel hombre podfa
ser profundamente buena" (page 290) and, asg she left with
him, Carmen Laforet notes:
Paulina empezd a notar en ells un gran confianta.
Y una gran paz. La pag de haber empezado, al fin, su
camino y de andar en espiritd y en verdad. Esa paz
de Cristo que supera todo sentido y que la envolvia
ent;ranonto. cuando regresaron hacia la casa (page
291).
Typical of the author, the story ends on & happy note and
the reader is left with the impression that, for Paulina,

the future will be a happy one.

In the midst of her extreme oconfusion concerning her
religlious bellefs and her destiny, during which time she
was ocompletely distraught, Paulina became concerned about
Miguel because she thought,

« « « on toda aguella baradnda sentimental, le
habfa de jado & un lado. Y su hijo era una tarea muy
clara que Dios le habfa puesto a slla . . . Pero,ila
nerecia? . . . Pensd que no merecfa ella el moldear
el espfritu de su hijo. La nissa Mariana, aunque
incrédula, con su espiritu prdotico, y su gran
rectitud y bondad, influirfa mejor que ella misma en
un ouidado directo del nific. Ella era una mujer
débil y extrafia. Una mujer incapaz . . . (page 173).

Thus, in a state of complete self-incrimination,
self-denial, and sengse of inadequacy, Paulina faced the
_ possibility of giving up her cochild for his sake. After
Miguel had been with her for a year, attending school in
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Hadrid, Paulina wrote to Mariana, telling her of her
decision to become a nun and that "El sacrificio més grande
es ¢l de separarme del niffo, pero he pensado, . . . que
el nifio se lo puedo dejar totalmente a Eulogio y tambidén
ati..." (page 246). This plan was abandoned when
Miguel's sudden obstinate behavior attracted Paulina's
attention and she found ocut what was bothering him. She
spent the day trying to analyrze the situation, "Siempre
orefa que podfa abandonarle . . . y ahors . . .* (page
259). Ia Paulina's ¢uwn words she thought:

e + « nO habla 85140 minca demasiado tierna con
Miguel. Habla tenido miedo de mimarlo. Pero le
divertfa hacer cosas ocon Miguel ocomo si fuesen
compafieros mds quec madre ¢ hijo. 3lemprs se habfan
lievado bien . . . (page 260).

FPinally she asked the hoy why he was going about with "los
ojos himedos, a punto de llorar® and was smazed at his

answer:

e« s o 8ntes querfas a papd, vivias oon 81, ocomo
todas las madres, . . . mi abuela les dijo . . . que
td te querfas meter monja de ésas gque ya nunca mds se
ven ¥y . . . que ni mi padre ni yo te habfamos importado
mnea, ¥ « « « (page 262),

The child began to ory and Paulins realized that she had
been mistaken when she thought she could leave him. She
said ". . . no hijito . . . No me marchard nunoca a un
convento, mientras tengas necesidad de mf* (page 263). She
decided she would dedicate herself to his care and train-

ing and that some day, when he was a man, he would understand
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his parents were living apart because ". . . no hayamos

querido hacer esa farsa de matrimonio sin amor" {page 263).

The author dealt realistically with the problem that
arose over the care of HMiguel and Paulina's decision was
to be expected. Clinging to her love for Antonio and his
desire for her, she could not fece life with Eulogio who
did not love her passionately, She was convinced, as
previously indicated, that without love they should live
apart with Migeul dividing his time between them.

Paulina's oconfliot over her passionate love for
Antonio, her cousin by marriage, and her need for his love
caused her the deespest anguish. They had met following the
war, when Paulina was living in Madrid, teaching mathe-
maties to support herself and her son, Antonlo was then
living in Barcelona. Antonlo fell in love with her and
went to see her as often as possible. The author said it
was "E1 cldsico amor del adoleseente, por una mujer oocho
afios nds vieja” ard that ", . . siempre la tuvo poi un ser
puro, intachable. Esto era lo mds gracloso” (page 37).
Paulina looked upon him with indulgence, ". . . Gomo & un
nifio no muy inteligente, perc sensitivo y enamorado. Un
muchacho bueno . . ." (page 45). If Paulina had been the
sane girl as before the war, this would have been the end
‘of it, but she had just been released from & political
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prison and ., . . no tenfa mds patrimonio que su
juventud y el deseo de reunirse pronto con Euloglo, en
aquel momento aquel niffo sensible, cargante, molesto y
8in embargo enamorado de ella, la conmovid" (page 46).
However, Paulina was still in love with Eulogio and when
Antonlo acocused her of coquetry, they quarreled. Antonio
married his childhood sweetheart, Rita Vados, and Euloglo
returned from America. The two did not meet again until
Antonio and Rita returned to live in Villa de Robre because
Rita was incurably 111 and needed the care of her mother,
the Countess Blanca. Eulogio and Paulina went to live there
with Sulogio's mother beoause Paulina was 111l and expeot-
ing another child. Thus, the author said, ". . . volvid
a ver a Antonio. Sintiéndose en pleno hundimento, en
plena decadencisa . . . Fea . . . Vieja . . ." (page 47).
At a time when Paulina needed friendship, love, and
understanding Antonio "Atendié a Paulina con la misma
solicitud que hublese tenido para una pariente anolana.
Con una mueca como de burla en la boca . . ." (page 48).
It was after this that the affair began between Paulina
and Antonio and it was because of it that Paulina decided
she must leave. She could no longer face Blanca, who had
been so kind to her during her illness and had come to care
for her, To have an affair with the husband of Blanca's
daughter, and realize that Blanca knew sbout it, was
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unbearable. Antonlo, frantic when he found Paulina gone,
followed her and declared his love. Paulina realized the
importance of this love to her when the priest told her
she must give up this married man. The author said:

Entonces Paulina sintid un dolor insoportable, una
pena que taapoco tenfa nada de sentimental, que era
unK pens pura . . . La pena de verse privada de aquel
amor, de aquella presencia (page 121).

When Antonlo telephoned to tell her he was coming to
Madrid, frantio because he had not heard from her, in
spite of her deoision not to see him, she was filled with
Joy. It was then she knew "Ella necesitaba esa desesperacidn
de Antonio, alguna vex. Negesitaba la exasperacidn de esa
voz querida.” She thought "No es pecado esta alegrila, no
es pecado . . . No lo puedo remediar." (page 167). She
felt, upset, tired, and lonely when he could not come. It
was not until she returned home one day to find him there
that she knew why her life had seemed B0 sad, "Su tristeza
oconsistfa en que habfa intentado, en gue intentaba todo

el dfa no penear nunca en Antonio . . . Y estaba vacla

sin €1 . . ." (page 187). As Antonio declared his love
for her saying, "Yo no quiero hijos de ti, te quiero a

t2 . . «," (page 191), Paulina knew that, ". . ., 41 shora
la querfa de veras, casl como la habfs querido de muchscho;
que €1, ahora, si pudiese, se casarfas con ella" (page 150).

But Paulina answered this declaration of love by telling
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intonlo to go away. Antonio's reaction was a normal one
as he replied, shocked and angry, "--Sabes lo que me
pareces? Una histérica mojigata; eso me pareces , . ."
to which Paulins replied "--Es que . . . YO no soy
hipdorita. Nunca hago las cosas cuando creo gue no debo".
intonio began to laugh and then, "lLe lanzé una palabra
dura" (page 192), and left, slamming the door.

Paulina spent a night of milisery, wondering how
she could have done this to Antonlo. She thought:
Antes, estaba deoldida a abandonar a mi proplo
hijo por Antonio . . . Ahora parece que #olo tenga
miedo al inflerno « . « Yo le he bugeado, y0 « « + Y
ahora le dejo (page 194).
This conflict with herself over Antonlo ended by Faulina
telephoning him. When he did not answer after several
calls, she was desperate, Antonlio ocalled her the next
norning and to him she said, "Ven a buscarme.” As she
left with Antonio she thought "--No voy a pensar en nada
e« « &nnada . + ." (page 196)., Later she ssid to him
"Voy a condenar mi alma por ti" (pege 229). For Paulins
to have made this decision to go with Antonlo was a
realistic one in the face of her loneliness and need for
love., It also served the author's purposs. As Paulina
gained more strength from her religious conviotions, she

was more able to accept the posgibility of giving up
Antonlo.
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Antonlo's reactlion was also realistic. 4as Paullna
became more uncertain of her decision to marry him,
Antonio became more determined to have her. Antonlo
thought:

Le habfa dado siempre su temura y habfa compartlido
los secretos de su espfritu mucho antes de que le
hublese dado su cuerpo.. . . . Nadie habfa podido
darle m4s que Paulina ., . . Nadle podfea ser su
verdadera compaflera mds que ella (page 229).

In this expression of Antonlo!s feelings for Fsulina as
contrasted with those of Euloglo, the reader is well able

to understand why Paulina wanted to marry this man who
loved her for her own gake. However, when Antonio

returned to see her, Paulina sent him away saying to him,

"Y te quiero. No e3 necesario mentir. Pero sf es necesario
que no te lo vuelva a decir nada mda" (page 236).

Antonio refused to believe that Paulina's deoclsion
was the result of her conversion. He salid to her: "Td
hes 8ido siempre una muler puramente espiritual., . . .

Lo que te pasa ea una consecuencia natural . . . de tu
migmo cardcter" (paze 240). Paulina was not able to answer
Antonio when he saild to her as he went away that no matter
what happened he was going to marry her. The author seid:

Las palebras del hombre no tenfan algunc para ella.
El presentimento de que Jaméds volverfa a ofr esta voz
la golpeaba y le quitabe toda otra percepcidn . . ..
Pauline . . . empezéndose a dar cuenta , . . de la

profunda pena que . . . podfa acuchillarla tan
ferozmente (page 241).
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Later the author said that Paulina's study of the profound
mysteries of relizlion had changed her life, that she
"Tenfa una motivacldén vdlida aquel dolor sentido al apartarse
de Antonio, y se sentfa contento de haberlo hecho" (page
255). Thus the author achieved her purpose in putting
the extra-marital affalr in the story.

There were two other persons in the book with whom
Paulina was in conflict, Mariana, her mother-in-law, and
Blanca, the mother of Rita. Aa previously stated, Paulina
felt indebted to Blanca because she had befriended her
in Villa 4e Robre and nursed her during her long illness.
She felt guilty to be having an affalr with her son-in-law,
and thils feeling about Blanca was instrumental in her
declision to give up Antonio. Blanca, on the other hand,
did4 not condemn Paulina, but rather she was the one who
encouraged Paulina to become interested in religion and
prayed hersgelf for Paulina to be iluminada.

Mariana had expressed her feelings about Paulina
when she galid to Planca:

Y te conflecso que hubo un tiempo en que no fue santo

de ni devoolén . . . Pero he rectificede . . . . Cuando
vl gque ells sola salfs adelante con el nific y que me
devolvia harta el Wltimo dentimo . . . que le prestd

al salir de la cdrcel . . . desde entonces empecd a
cambiar respecto a ella. Is clerto que Eulogio podfa
heberse casado mejor, pero . . . yo estoy muy contenta
(pages 145-146),

Blanca hed not been concerned about Mariana's happiness but
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whether taulina wes happy there with her. Marilana's
fellure to consider this possibllity wes typical because,
", o« « todo se resolvfa en lo mismo" (page 1b6), and this
accounted for her poor relationship with FPaulina. Paulina
could see (larlana in retrogpect ". . . lnspecclonando su
hermose casa . « . trstando de comprender, al ver que
todo esto marchaba perfectamente, el porqué de que Faulina
hublese dejado aquel paralsoc de confort creado por ella,
por este horrible pisito . . ." (pages 172-173).

Luloglo's attitude toward his mother added to the
conflict Paulina felt with her. Eulogio admired his
mother!s efficlency, her carefully chosen clothes, her
well-groomed halr. He had always loved Marlana and had
felt an obligation as a boy to marry %o please heyr., It
was after Paulina's departure, however, that he knew ". . .
cudnto y qué verdaderamente la neocesitaba" (page 242).
buloglo's feeling of need for hls mother was Justified when
Paullina went away, leaving liguel behind. Hils disappoint-
ment in Paulins's apparent leck of interest in homemaking
and care of thelr child after his return home, would lead
to appreciation and epproval of his mother's orderly, welle
run house. sulogio's idesllstiz conception of his mother
had not been marred by her objection to hils marriage to
the girl he loved. The Civil War and his hasbty departure
had prevented that. When he returned, he was no longer the



100
1deslistic lover, and as & practical and criticel man,
long deprived of the comforts of home, hls pleasure in
that of his mother is understandable.

Faulina's confliects with herself and her environ-
ment have been discussed in connection with her confllets
with her family. The author throughout the latter part
of the book devotes many pages to a2 discussion of Paulina's
struggle to galin an understanding of her religion and to
apply thls to a solution of her problems. Without a know-
ledge of Catholioism, much of this discussion 1s meaningless
and boring, and the reader is inclined to Join Antonilo
in saying "{¢Lstds loca?" Paullnal's struggle with herself
can best be summarized in her own words as she prayed,
"Que me permitass empezar a desear de oorazdn, sin reserva
alguna, seguirte . . ." (page 233). But for Paulina,

Era A4iffclil desear ser de Cristo, cuando sabfa que
ser de Cristo hacfa despojar el corazdn de una inicua
atadura humana, tan dolorosa, tan querida, la atadura
de un amor con un hombre casado (peges 22L).

The author has injected into the story a Jjuvenile
delinquent, Julidn, who is the son of Amalias, & women who
befriended Faulina during the war and gave her a houae,

She piotured the boy as pampered and protected by a doting
mother, resentful of belng snubbed for lack of wealth and
soclal position, who finally committed a murder in an
attempt to carry out a robbery, by methods he had observed
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in smerican mnovies. he author cave a realistic and
vivid description of the boy's emotlions and brought the
crime to a loglcal conclusion, penalty of death. The
reader feels thils incident does not really belong in the
story, that it 1s introduced to give the author an opportunity
to discuss the problem of crime, from a religious view-
point.

Through two characters, Lulsa and Franclisco,
poverty-striken parents of five children, tenents in the
apartment house where Paulina lived, the author presented
the prcblems in a home where hunger created strained
nerveg, poor health, and merital discord. Along with her
discussion of the ewvil of poverty, the author discuszssed
the philogophy of birth control from the Catholic point
of wview.

The ending of this novel, the fact that Paulina
re Jected Antonlo whom she really loved, to return to the
seourity and approval of a life with Eulogio, seems very
realistlic for a woman of her sensitive nature who had endured
so much anguish and herdship. !‘owever, whether or not
the reader accepts the conversion of faulina to Catholliciam
as the reason for this decision depends upon the recder's
religlous beliefs., The author, who states she wrote the
book after her own conversion, has no doubt developed the

plot in this manner %o express her own convictions and
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feelings sbout her religious belief, However, for a
woman who declared that she knew richt from wrong and had
always forced herself to follow her convictions, and who,
in her youth, had become determined not to be like her
father, the decision to return to her husband and make a
secure and heppy home for her son, ig & realistic one,

Some agpecte of this novel, however, are not convino-

inz. The reader wonders why Fulogio, who hed been so
much in love with Paulina, showed so little interest in
Paulina upon his arrivel home, after nine years in Amerioa.
jeither does there seem to bde adecuete motivation for
Antonic's love for Paunlina and the ensuing affelr after
she returned to Villa de Rodbre, 111, ugly, and despondent.
Sympathy hardly seems an adequate explanstion for such
an outcome., One wounld expect a man of Antonio's disposie
tion to choose a more gay =snd beautiful woman to replace
his alling wife, especially when an affalr with 2 memtep
of the fanmily posed so many diffioulties. ithout an
explenation of these points, this part of the novel is

not reslistic.



CHAPTER TII

REALISTIC TREATMENT OF EMOTIONAL CONFLICTS

IN THE SHORT NOVELS

In La 1lamada¥? the characters suffer deep and
turbulent emotional confliots. There are sharp contraests
between them; between the good and the bad; between warm,
human compasszion and cold indifference. To intensify these
contrasts of characters the author adds contrest of gettings
and envircrment. Against comfort and security rhe portrays
the micery of poverty. She slludes to the hunper and pri-
vation suffered by all classes of civilisnes during the
Spanish Civil War. Against the £ilth and squelor of the
home of Hercedes, the protagonist, in the emall sea-port
village and later her living conditione in the voverty-
striken distrioct of Barcelona, the asuthor contrasts her
childhood home and background and the smnll, comfortsble,
clean, and white-~curtained spartment of her niece, Lolita.

Through the worde of the old crandmother, dofia
Zlofca, the avthor expresgses her ideas about the nlisht of
the poor snd deprived, about those for whom life ceems

hard and those for whom life seems ez2szy, She gleo uses

b7ratoret, Novelss, op. cit., pv. £37-1010. £11 the
short novels dlsonaaod in this ohapter are within these
pages,
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this character to present the problem of old age, the
insecurity, frus.ratlon and angulsihh suffered by the
elderly person versus the reactions of the youngecr rela=-
tives who are responsiblc foir Ner., The light and the
dark stand in bold relief throughout the novel. All of
this is tempered by the religious aspect, the expressions
of faith and the prayers for protection and guldance on
the part of dofia £lofsa, & deeply relliglous and compassionate
0ld wonman.

Hercedes, now middle-aged and slatternly, had heen
in conflioct through the years with her environment, her
family and friends, later her husband and children, the
mores of her class, and, especlally, with herself., iierxr
family had heen faced with financial insecurity when her
father diled, lewing his wife and two small daughters
dependent upon a small pension and the help of relatives.
Mercedes was a beautiful child. DBoth she and her sister,
Marfa Rosa, were pampered by an older brother of her father,
Carlos Mart? and his wife Ana Marfa. The girls attended
the beat schools, associated with the chlldren of the
famillies with money and good 2o0cial position, and spent
much time in the home of their Unocle Carlos, who was a

physician. While Marfa Rosa conformed to expectations and
married well, Merocedes was a flighty girl desirous of a

career as an actress. At the age of eighteen she rebelled
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with disastrous results egainst heyr family's plane for
her. 3he ren off with 2 stage manarer of questionable
cnaracter, She was located and returned to her homs, but
from that dey forward she was never allowed tec enter the
unecle!'s house nor d4¢é she or her mother receive any further
finenclial assistance from him. Fer rullt wes magnified
by the fact that her aunt became 111 from shock and grief
and died shortly after.

On the verge of starvaetion and decperste, Mercedesg
nerried e man beneeth her social position, a fellow
recently dicscharged from the gervice, whom she described
as a good sort. VFer mother went to live with the csircter
¥earfa Rosa., Only dofia Elofsa, the mother of Mercedesg!
brother-indaw, questioned the wisdcm of the marriare,
Mercedes thourht this was beceuse she d41d not went her
son to have the responsibllity of Mercedes'! mother and
this idea made Mercedes more determined to go throush with
the merrisce, although she 4414 not love the man, Her
mother told her love weuld come with children, but this
did not heppen., Fercedes felt deceived arnd chested., She
contirmed to long for o career in the thestre, vhich her
husband could not understend., When she too% money to
attend = preduction, her hurbend beat her. Ahout her

hsbend che said:
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Me engafi¢ ¢ mf. . . . Mi novio hablaba de gue

tenfa tierras por agquf . . . Y las tanfa, ya lo
ereo . » o Pero todo desaparecid. . . . Tuvimos
hijos, pero el carifio no ha venido. . ., . Cuando
tengo dinerc y hay teatro me escapo al teatro . « o
wntonces €1 me muele las costillas . . « Forgue yo
no he verdiio mis aficiones . . . (page 651).

Both her husband and children considered Mercedes
chiflada, and the neighbors described her as un poquilio
lela, a simpleton. Her husband's attitude toward her is
best descrived by this reply to her guestion about visit-
ing her family in Barcelona, "Vete adonde quieras; mientras
méds lejos mejor . « « Y no fastidlies. . . . A ver si
disaspareces un buen dfa y nos dejas vivir* (nage 655).
Mercedes had the mame feeling for her husband, '"the
farther away, the better'". To dofila Elofsa's susgestion that
was o terridble life she replied, "iéVida terrible? . . .
Usted no sabe lo que es una vida terrible . . . Vida
terrible la que yo llevéd al lado de aquel hombre” (nace
666).

ilercedes was in no better standings with her children,
according to her own admission. When dofia hlofsa asked
if she had any children she replied, "Siete. . . . Cinco
murieron . . . Los dos gue quedan son graendes y no me
quieren. Salieron al nadre . . . (page 666), Ver mon

expressed his attitude of unconcern towerd his mother when

he =ald, "Ml madre, 1la nobre, estd as?, como auien dice,
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elego guillade, Acquells cese estd muy abandonade . . . No
es gue a mfI me importe; yo a2llf no vivo, soy un honbre
casadd ., .+ ." (page 645)., The fifteen-year-old daughter’s
concern for her father was expressed ln an accusation toward
her mother, *“MNo habrd preparado la comida de nadre, éiverdad?”
(nage A52) as she disapneared into the kitchen in search
of food for him,

This sttlitude on the part of the children was
possibly the result of Mercedes' lack of concern and
affection for them, which seemed evident from the marner
in which she referred to them, When dofia !11lofsa asked
if she ever thought about them liercedes replied, "No
pienso, no . . . No plenso. Ya eB hora de que una vez en
la vida piense en m?, en mf . . .* (page 666). Cne
gethers thet liercedes hed alweys been more concerned about
hergelf sand the career she believed she had sacrificed than
about her fomily. DLon Jusn, & close friend of her uncle
Carloe and o childhood acquaintance of Mercedes, was shocked
&t the cold, calm manner with which she referred to the
children she had lost. In the words of the author:

Don Juen hebfa visto muchae cosas en su vide y no

era capar de asustarse demasiado, pero aquella
trenguilidad de Fercedes hablendo dn sus hijos ruertos
le estremecid. rensd en su propia hija, que {enfs la
misma edad de Mercedes. . . .iPod2¥a hablar ac? st hija,

eun después de una vida como la gque iercedes habla
llevado? Don .Juan confisba en que no (nare 652),
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When an acqueintarnce, prompted by self-pity, said that
Mercedes dld not know what 1t was to lose a chlld, Hercedes
reelized that was true. She realirzed "Que todas aquellas
criaturas que se le habfsn muerto, eran de otra mujerxr
le jane, insensible” (nHage 668).

1t seems evident that Hercedes had been unable to
face the unfamiliar world Jn which she found herself after
her girlhood folly had caused her to lose both sociel
status and financial security. Narriasge had not been the
solution and hercedes had escaped from this vainful world
into one of her cwn in which she lived for the dsy she
could ember* upon her theatrical cereer. She harbored
memories of her childhood when she was loved and admired,
she cherished an old photograph of herself as a beautiful
child in fine clothing., She ignored completely her hus-
bend, her children, her surroundings, When she thought of
them a2t 811 1t wes only to blame them for her sorry state
and for standing in the way of her future success. She
withdrev from the conflict with her environment and her
family by isnoring both, tut she remasined in conflict with
herself, She felt deen anrulsh and frustration, loneliness,
a desire to be understood a2and apnreclasted in terms of suocess
as an actress, not as 2 horemeker., Fer lonrinc for this
career had been so stron~ that she once was 2ccustomed to

go domm to the seps-shore 2nd stand on 2 rock tn recite
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poetry, her arms thrown anart ss the actresses she had
seen in nhotorrenhs, It had been years since she had
done this, however, because of the stonlng she had
received the last time, "Unos chiquililos, escondidos, la
acechaban . . . Desde entonces no volvid! (pacze 654),

It 18 ot this point that the actlon of the story
begine. Yercedes! dreasm to return to bLarcelona to pursue
her career was made possible by an o0ld famlly friend and
professional comnanion of her uncle Carlos, don Juan, who
chanced to ston at the sea-port where Mercedes and her
family were living and to recognize a femily resemblance
in her son, = walter in the smell café., ¥Fonllowins a
sudden whim, after learninge the hoy's identlty, the o0ld
gentleman went to visit Merecedes, whom he hadrot heesrd
mentioned for yearn., He was both shocked and denressed by
the story »f her 1ife and her present sltuation. MNot
knowing whet else he could 4o, he left money for her ~né,
reluetantly, the addrese of dofla Tlofsa, the woman who had
offered friendshin to Yercedes when she predicted the
faillure of her marriare.

Mercedes arrived at the home of dofla Hlofsa in
Barcelona wearing a dirty home-made ecreen dAress, her
erimped, meroxide-blond heir disheveled from the trein
triv. She was cerrving nll her nossessions in = bagket

on her =rm, TNofla “lofne was livins with the fomilvy nf her
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crond-deurhter, Lolita, the child of lercedes! slster and
the son of dofla lol¥sa. ifercedes' conflict with both
fanmlly and® environment began anew. Lofla lofsa, a compassione
ate and understandinc old woman, received her kindly and
strove to help her arainst all odds, but Lolita was horri-
fied st the apnearance of this aunt, whom sghe hsd nsver
heard mentioned, and both she and her husband Luis, arreed
they did not wish to have her come to their home. They
were not financlslly able to keen her, ther did not wish
to do so0, nor d4ld they wish to have dofla Llofsa, whom
they supported, have anythling to do with her. To ilercedes
Iuis s=1d, "Anu? no podemos tenerla" (page (59), and Lolita
sald te dofta ilofea, ". . . te voy a pedir gque esa mujer
no entre otro d4fe en el dormitorio de mi nifio . . ."

(pare 6A7), a room which dofie Flofsa shared.

Jercedes! struggle with poverty continued. ‘hen
her money wae rone she appesled to dofis lofsa, who hed
no money but gave her an nld gold watch to use as pecurity
for 2 loen, Yith the money she boursht an eveninc dress
for her M"dd&hut!" and went to 1ive in a district frequented
by unfortunate individuvels like herself, ", . . un barrio
en el aue su facha no extrafisba, un café donde nodfa
permenecer horas al ahripo de ls calle" (pare 667). There

she witnesced true hardshins and for the first time becane
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conaerned sbont those around her. <She even shared her
money with them, leaving herself destitute again.

¥a no le quedaba casl dinero, précticamente nada
e » » 4+ todo el mundo tenfa haubre alrededor suyo.
=11la habfs aflorado muchas cosas junto a su aarido,
habfa oreldo pasar afios de mlseria . . . iero la
miserlia era esto que pululaba a su alrededor, ¥y en
lo que ella se vela envuelta . . . rOr primsera vez
se preocuvaba de los deméds (page &£0).

She refused with indignation to follow the sursestion of
a woman she 2net there that she seek the commany of men.
Hen actually showed no interest in her.

arcedes! sole concern was the opportunity to embark
on her eareer., It was thls same woman who befriended her
and who finally arranged for her apvecrance at a tavern
which sponsored a talent show for would-be artists. ier
reception by the audience at this performance was the
turning point in the life of ilercedes. Dofla rlofss was
there to witnesg the performance and the catastrophic
results. 3he closed her eyes at sight of the creature
on the rostrum in the low-cut dress, large nicture hat,
end moth-eaten furs.

Esteba horrible. Lra horrible su traje. liorrible
su cabello quemado & trozos, oon les rafces cBouras.
Horribles aquellos abalorios que se habfa puesto ., . .
win embargo, le aplaudieron antes de empezar. Llla
saludéd. Abrid los brazos y echd la cabezs hscia atrds
luego empezd. lLofla Llolsa ocexrrd los ojos para no verla,
para ofr su vog solamente, Y su voz ers sagradsble,

:é.lez)la. e« o » isuh, vios mfo; tizue talentol’ (page
79).



112
This exclamation of pleasure by dofla Llo¥sa was cut short
by the laushter that beran to comne from the audience, the
whistlinr and bvooing. Jhen ilercedes stonned, they urged
her on, but the ridicule continued until she burst forth
with an insult directed to them, stumbled dov the stens
from the rostruam, and unon reaching the table where dofia
2lof¥sa and her friend walted ", . . se echd a llorsr
desesperada’,. In response to dofia ilofsa's words of cone
solation she s2id "Iscrfbale a mi marido, dofMa lofse
« o » e vVuelvo . . ." (pape 680).

Mercedes seemed to belleve and to rein consolsztion
from éofle  lofsa's assurance that she hed enjoyed her
verfornzance, that llercedes hed much talent, ard that she
should i1~ncre the ridicule of an ignorant and uncultured
avndlence. ‘owever, she was even more impressed by recall-
in- a discussion before the performence between dofia

Tlo¥ss =nd rercedes! friend, una mujer grvess v ointads,

L8 dofin T1ofsa had lirstened to the friernd make excurzes for

Frer nisereble stote snd conclude that for sove Yife wsas

eesy and for others difficult, dofie 2lofse hed thourht that
life, in truth, was not essy for anyone. Tor her cranddanghter,
Lolita, for example, 1t would be easgier and chesner vith

her husband's meager income, to have 2 dirty 2nd nesclested
home, 11l-%ent children sand, 1f her hushand comnlained, to

g0 to bed and think about death "oomo hshfa hecho eatn
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srcedes durante oMo' (page €73)., These
thoughite, to—wether with the declaration of ilercedes!
friend thnt, were there a God he vould ot consent to
such injurtice, coused dofla Zlofsa to2 s2y in & trembling
voice:

Yo of une cota . . . qQue 2ios existe, ¥ ~ue le
miserla puede llevarsge de rmichas formas, &n casa
hemos pasads hanbre durarnte 1= ~uerrs, pero no hubo
suciednd nl abandono, porque mi nieta es una myjer
heroien; ella tilense su pepo, 2n su conclencis liwpls,
en &1 respeto de su marido. . . . No todo denende del
diunero ~1 eizulera de la jJuventud ni de 1- enlnd
(page £78),

The failure of her "débdumt¥ nlus the memory of the words
of dofina Flofsa forced Mercedas to face the truth about
hersgelf and to begin to reselve her conflicts.

Cn the day fellowing her Ydébhut®, after spending
the nicht in Y. . . aquel cuarto de pesadilla eon la amiga
rgorda . . " (page 683) and gquarreling with her friend,
Mercedes wnndered the streets thinking about her life and
dofia Elofsa's comments about Lolita. She bpegan to realize
she was vertially to blame for the fact her marrisge had
heen 80 niserable and that she had not enjoved her children
because she had thought only of herself.

This abrupt change in Herocedes and the resolution
of her confliocts with her environment, her family, and
hergelf, geems more idealistic than realistic and contrived

on the part of the author. One Sunday afternoon, &bout a
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mortth later, ‘ercedes anneared at the home of dofa “lo¥se
i» the seme ~recen dress she wes wearlins on the day of her
firct arrivel, but now clean and rell-irsaed, her face
unp~inteac, ‘ier halr well-cgroomned. he informed dofla ~lofsa
that she wag workines -g a servant 11 the home of a ~ood
fanilv =nd -ade this exnlanntion of the chan e:
Yero anrnra ne vivido. e ha dado cuents de lo que
e3 la miseria de vardad. Ue que no 8d8lo sufro yo, sino
tantbién otros . « 0 88 cBno decirle, dofla “lofsa,
perece ocue me he vuelto distinta . . . {(oage ob4).
Hercedes had gone to work to eari money to reoay dofia islofsa
for the watch she had sold. Dofla tlofsa assured her it was
& gift and suggested she use the money to buy a xift for
her daugnter and a ticket to return to her family. Lofia
£lofsa hed written to the husband, as Mercedes had requested,
and hed received a pathetio letter in whilch he sald they
were lonely without Mercedes, thét both he and their daughter
nesded ner, that ne oould not sleep without ner beside him,
de anxiously awaited her return.
‘nus derceqaes'! conflicts with her family and with
hersell were solved. 'The anthor said, ‘'nercedes sentfa
una gren paz y, 8t alegrfa . . . bra como si hubiera estado
muy enferma y un medlcamento fuerte la nubiera curado!
(page 085). uercedes was anxious to return to her home and
to an environment which she was determined would nct be

the same. .ualf asleep that night 1t occurred to her,
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No hay nada ocome viajar, para darse cuenta de las
cosas, para conocer la vida. . . . Y nds tarde se le
oourrié la idea de gque en una ventana de su casa iban
a poner cortinas blancas como las de la galerfa de
Lolita (page 685).
The suthor explains this idealistic solution to the con-
fliocts of Mercedes by the religious influence of dofia
Elofsa, who through all the years had prayed nightly for
the welfare of Mexrcedes and who had prayed fervently for
guidance in helping her after she had arrived in Barcelona.
Dofia Elofsa considered the appearance of Mercedes after
all those years as God's answer to her prayers, and that
it was His wish that she help Hercedes solve her problems.
Dofia Elofsa believed that with God's help a miracle had
been performed, but Merocedes did not believe in miracles.
She felt she had been cured through suffering,
Ella habia eatado un pooco desquieiada. Luego
habfa sufrido espantossmente, y se habfa ourado.
Aquel viaje habfa sido algo asf como unoc de esos
tratamientos que se les hacen a los locos, que o les
mata o les cura (page 686),
Dofia Elofsa would have agreed with this but she would have
continued giving thanks to God with the same enthusiasnm,
"Porque dofis Elofsas y Mercedes tenfan una idea distinta
de lo que es un milagro. Nada més" (page 686).
Dofia Elofea, the important minor character in the
story, also suffered confliots with her family, who dis-
approved of her assoclation with Mercedes and of her desire

to help her; with Mercedes of whom she disapproved; and
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with herself in her uncertainty as to where her respon-
8ibility lay. Should she follow the wishes of her grand-
daughter and leave Mercedes to her own devices, or fulfill
her promise to Meroedes that she would help her if she
ever needed a friend? Dofla Elofsa solved her oonflicts
through prayer and falth in God as her counselor, and with
the help of her spiritual advisor, el padre Jiménez, who
supported her in her belief that she was right to have
deceived her family in order to aid Mercedes. Lolita and
Luis were so disturbed by dofia Elolsa's mysterious absence
from their home until two in the morning when she attended
Mercedes "début®, by her illness that followed, and by her
refusal to explain her strange behavior, that they considered
placing her in an institution. El padre Jiménez kept her
secret but quieted their feara with theae words:

Nada, nada, tranquilidad . . . Dofia Elolsa eatd
tan bien de la cabesza ocomo ustedes o0 como yo . . . No
eatoy autorizado a contarles ddnde estuvo aguella
noche, pero sf puedo decirles que tuvo unas ragones
altrulstas para estar fuera de casa . . . lHizo una obra
de caridad . . . Quizd mal entendida . . . Quizds
inttil . . . Pero una obra de caridad al fin (page 681).
Thus for both Mercedes and dofia Elofsa there was a happy
ending.
E] dltimo verano 1s a sentimental story about the
strugzle of a oclosely knit family to provide the money
necessary to send the incurably 1ll mother, dofia Pepita,

to San Sebastidn for a vacation, the one thing she had
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longed for 211 her married life. This previously unex-
pressed desire on the part of dofla Pepita was revealed to
her youngest son, Luls, age fifteen, when he had asked
what she would like to do more than anything else, some-
thing that she had never been able to do. The question was
prompted by the faot a specliallist that day had declared
dofia Pepita might not live long, that this might be her
"dltimo verano'.

This crisis in the family, the threat of loss of
the mother, and the difficult problem of seouring funds
to grant her desire for a vacation, revealed oclearly the
inter-family relationships and the conflicts that existed
between members of the group. As 1s true in all families,
there was a conflict between ideas, interests, and sense
of responsibility among the three sons; Roberto, the oldest
and married to Lolita; Luocas, the middle son who had a
sweetheart, Marfa Pilar; and Luls, who was attendiing the
Instituto.

Both Luis and Roberto agreed that the mother's
desire for a vacation in San Sebastidn was una tonterfa
because it would cost more than the family ocould afford.
Roberto pointed out that not one son was able to contribute
and the father would need his money to meet medical expense.
Dofia Pepita concurred and was willing to dismiss the matter.
However, when Luils informed the family gathering of his
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mother's desire, Lucas unexpeotedly stated, ". . . eso
deberfan hacer los padres egte afio" (page 702). Don
Roberto, the father, Jolned forces with Luocas by suggest-
ing he might secure a loan. "Quilz4 pudiera pedir un préstamo
» « " (page 703).

Boberto, who had been unaware of the seriousness of
his mother's illness, was torn between obligation to his wife,
Lolita, who was expecting a child, and obligation to his
mother for whom Lucas asked him to saorifice Lolita's vaca-
tion money. Hoberto was willing, but Lolita would not consent
to this and Lucas departed in anger. Lolita burst into
tears and then Roberto was angry with Lucas for upsetting
his wife. However, Roberto himself was gradually becoming
annoyed with Lolita's selfishness and finally mustered the
oourage to ask her to give thelr wvacatlion fund to his mother,
Lollta became furious and accused Roberto of laock of con-
slderation for her and thelr unborn child. BRoberto knew
hls mother would say that Lolita was right, but he also
knew that were the circumstances reversed, hls mother would
have given her money to Lolita., Because Roberto was such a
good man, ". . . una perle, un muchacho de esos 'que ya no
se enouentran' . . ." (page 708), he could not hate his wife
but relieved his feelings by hating her plcture., The author
sald:
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Aquel corazén suyo, tan dulcemente moldeade por su
madre, Sentfa doloridos los ojos, y la boca anarga.
Y de ninguna manera aborrecfa a Lolita, dormida e
indefensa a su lado; pero sf somenzé a aborrecer,
incomprensible y furiosamente, al gran retrato de
Lolita ocuyo marco brillaba sobre la mesilla en aquella
semloscuridad (page 709).
Roberto could not reconclle this conflict and was deeply
disturbed, a realistic reaction. Roberto was not alone
in his conflict with his wife, Lolita. ZLucas blamed her
for Boberto's attitude, and this added to his previous
feelings of dislike for her. However, Lolita believed
Lucas 1iked her very mucn and several times mentioned this
to Roberto, who took pride in his brother's presumed
Jealousy of his good luck in finding such a wife. For the
benefit of Lucas he showed particular attention to Lolita,
a display of affeotion which Lucas consldered slekening.
After Roberto sald to him, "Ya verds lo que o8 esto, si
llegas a tener la suerte de pescar una mujercita parecida
a Lola', ILucas always repressed the reply, "lParecida a
Lola! iDlos me guardel" (page 704). While trying to
explain to the ocouple the seriouaness of the mother's
iliness, "Lucas, exasperado, pensd, como tantas otras
veces, en la paciencla de su hermano, al aguantar a seme jante
idiota® (page 705). Thus Lucas rejected both his brother
Roberto and his glister-in-law, Lolita.
Luls also considered Lolita stupid and his brother

Roberto a fool. Me believed overwork accounted for him
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mother's illness and so he regsented the preasence of IHoberto
and Lolita at dinner once a week. To his mother he sald
". « « haz el favor de no atarearte tanto por esa idlota
de Lolita" (page 694). When Roberto proposed a toast to
him after dinner because Lucas would soon be an uncle
(Roberto's way of announcing they were expecting a child),
1lule le correspondid con una mirada sombrfa. Su hermano
mayor . . . le parecld un perfecto tonto" (page 701). ie
gshared with Lucas a diallke for the oldest brother and his
wife.

The relationshlp between Luls and Lucas, the two
boys still 1living at home, also was strained, "Luls estaba
slempre a la defensiva contra aquel bruto de Lucas" (page
692), who was curious about hig affeirs. Iilere the author
degcribed a typical situation of sidbling rivalry. Like
children of hls age, Luls had sus tesorog ocultos which
he examined only in privacy. It infuriated Lucas to find
Luils locked in his room and his usual reaction was to
pound on the door and shout, ''Abre en seguida. iQué
demonlos estds haciendo?", to whioch Luis would reply,
lago lo que me da la gana® (page 700). The two brothers
also quarreled about Luls' work at school. ILucas had no
confidence in the boy and 41d not believe he studied enough.
To Luils he sald, "Te advierto que sl plerdes el ocurso te

deslomo, conque é&ndate con culdaio.” This increased the
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boyts anxiety about his success but his response was
unconcerned, "Si yo pilerdo o gano el curso no es cesa tuya.'
Lucas reminded him that he helped maintain the house and
pay his fees, which Luis new was true, but he msde the
typical retalitory reply, "Pues no ocontribuyas, y en pag™
(page 715).

Luis was very unhappy and in conflict with himself.
Added to the desperate concern he felt about his school
work, now that exsminatimn time was near, was a gullty
feeling about his reply to his mother when she said she
longed for & vacation, "Eso es una tonterfa, mamd" (page
695). Such a dream was foolish for s womean in her circum-
stances, but he had hurt her feelings and this tormented
him. He had not been wise enough to think as she, "Cada
uno es como es" (page 696), an expression she had used to
defend one child against the oriticisms of another. His
guilt féeliugu were inoreased because he had not offered
to contribute his money toward her wacation, money he had
seoretly earned and hidden in hig box of treasures, No one
knew that Luis had this money. Here again was a sonflioct
within himgelf, a conflioct of desire to help his mother
against a desire to own a blcycle.

Luis' school affeirs also caused a personal confliot.
He was the only child who had been sent to school because

his parents could not arfford to send the older boys. They
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were £l]l proud of the faoct he could attend. With anguish
Luis thought, "iQué pasarfa en =su casa sl resultase que
tuviera que repetir el ocurso entero? Tampooo esto queria
pensarlo” (pages 698-699), Why could not he have gone to
work like the rest? As a matter of fact, he had worked
part time, without thelr permission, to earn the money for
a8 bicycle and had not been studying the long hours they
presumed, but only Luocas distrusted him. The dey Lulse
received the notice he hed falled, he could not force
himmself to gzo home. He spent the deay wandering along the
river, swimming in the muriky water, lying on the bank, and
sleeping in the sun. ILuier, like characters in other storiles
by this author, went out into the open air and sunshine
to calm his troubled spirita, Contect with nature sgerved
ag a catharsis, VWhen evening came he wandered home and
crept into the house, unnoticed. As he sat on his bed,

s « « 8poyd los ecodor en las rodilles y se corid

la oabeza oon las mancs, Se daba cuenta de gque no

tenfa valor para comuniocar su suspenso. Por mucho

que quisiera olvidarlo, sabfa gque en aguella casa se

hascfan verdaderos seorificios por sus estudios, Fn

cuanto a esoaparse . . . (page 723).
Luils could not bring himself to falsify hls grades by
changing them on the report, nor ocould he face his parents.
Then he discovered his pen he prized had disappeared from
his pocket, probably astolen when he fell asleep on the

river bank, and he burst into tears. There his mother
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found him =nd sat down beside hinm. Carmen Laforet
described a2 poignant and realistio scene when she wrote:

Cesi sin notarlo, el muchacho se encontrd en sus
bragos, llorando, con la oabeza apoyads en su hoambre.
81 alguno de sus compafierocs de clase hubiera podido
verlo, Luis habrfa muerto de verglienza. Fero nadie
lo vela, y €1 se sentfa derretido en una extrafia
dulzura. Hay veces que las cosas sencillas, humildes,
tiernas, como aguellos besos que esu madre le dadba ., . .
no resultan ridfoulos ni humillantes (page 724).
Suddenly lLuis sald to his mother, "He perdido todo el
curso", a faoct the members of the fanlly already knew.
Dofia Pepita had asked them to await his admission because
she had confidence in the boy. To Luls® question, "“iPor
qué tienes confianza en mf? Nunoa hioce nada para eso,”
the mother replled, ". . . porque eres mi hijo . . ."
(page 725). For dofia Pepita, this was a convineing reply.
Lucas also had his personal oconfliots. Following
his quarrel with Roberto and Lolita about money, he felt
very ashamed and he thought, "Me he portedo como un brute,
pero . . " (page 711). There had been several peros in
the life of Luoas that day. He had suffered the greatest
grief of his life upon hearing the words of the dootor
about his mother., The following houra at the office seemed
endless and in his anguish he had forgotten to meet his
sweetheart, Marfa Fllar. Angry, she had gone off wilth

soneone else, When he went to her home to apologize he

had been rebuffed and insulted by her mother. Roberxrto
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did not knov ell of this when he had become impatient with
Luces, Here the author inserted a varagraph of thought-
provoking phllosophy, one that could serve as a gulde in
understanding the behavior of others:

Siempre hay un pero en la vida y en las acclones de
los hombres, un chorrillo de amargurs que va llenando
el corazdén hasta los bordes, y de pronto, una gota de
nada, una vacilacidn, una torpeza sin importancia, lo
hace redbosar. Lo malo es gue estas cosas son
inexplicables (page 711).

Lucas, lamenting his bad behavior, which had resulted in
the quarrels with his family and sweetheart, wandered the
streets until dawn. He gazed at the home of Harfa Pilar,
whor he longed to have near to comfort him in these hours
of anguish and torment. At church the next day he . . ,
formuld sus confusas sensaciones en un répido ruegos:
tDioa mio, que se cure mi madre y que puedsa ver yo hoy a
Marfa Pilar!"” (page 714). To his smagement, when he raised
his head from his prayer he saw Marfa Pilar sitting two
benochegs ahead of him. She never attended church but once
she had sald,

Claro que un dfa ird por verte, a esa iglesia donde
td vag ., . . Por verte y por acostumbrarme, porque
cuando nos casemos me tendr€ gque volver beata yo
también (page 715).

Lucas knew he was forgiven, for she had come to see him,

In the end the whole family orisis was resolved

because of the strong love that the boys and the father

had for the mother. Lunas forgave Roberto for his attitude
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becauce ". . . sabla que doberto querla tanto a la uadre
como &1 miamo." ‘e forgave Luls because his situation
was different. "labfa nacldo a ralz de los sustos y las
hambres de la guerra, . . . ¥y era una ser aparte en la
casa." Desldes, from Luls had come the ldea that hls
motherts last summer "debfa ser un verano muy hermoso,
lleno de ilusidn. Un verano distinto a todos . . ." (page
710). The author thus solved the antagonism between the
brothers in a satisfectory manner. ILuls solved his own
percsonal conflicts and amnazed the famlily at dinner one
night by plecling eight hundred pesetas on the table and
saying, "Fars el veraneo de los padres.” Luls admitted
he had earned it "En la loterfa de los clegos . . ." but
the famlly was so surprised and pleased that he escaped
punisghment. To Luls "Le pareclfa que era la primera vez
que sentfe una alegrfa asf de ver fellices a los demds,
gimplemente” (page 728). Lucas had been able to borrow a
thousand pesetas from hils office and his sweetheart had
added another thousand, the money she had saved for her
wedding clothes. Dofla Peplta was overwhelmed. She hed
thought Marfa Fllar a crude and ill-mennered girl, nct a
lady like Lolita. Don Roberto who knew this sald, "Fueno,
mujJer, ique dices a esto? . . ." Dofla Feplta was speeche
less in the face of such unselfishness. She asked Lucas

to deliver this message to larfa Pilar:
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Dile gue yo, a su edad, no hublera dado mis
ahorros para qQue unsa suegra desconocids se fuese de
veraneo, Esta s la verdad, y tengo que decirle®
(page 729).
Only Lolita remained selfish to the end. when dofla Iepita
arrived at the station dressed 1in & new black coat and hat,
Lollita inspected her from hsad to foot and asked about the
coat. DbLofla Peplta zssnsed she was thinking it a shaame to
waste money on a summer coat for only one sunmer. DJofla
Pepita derived satisfaction from telling Lolita .iarfa #llar
had made the coat and that she was leaving it to Lolita.
As was her custom when faced with the results of her actlons,
Lolita began to ory.
doberto suffered a week of angulsh after he promised
to give Luocaa two thousand pesetas for el dltimo verano
de su madre. He oould not bear to decelve hls wife and
take thelr savings. ile spent nights without sleep, par-
ticularly when he learned iarla Filar had glven her money.
Finally, ne went to a moneylender to whom he agreed to pay
four thousand pesetas for the loan of two thousand. Inis
meant at least two years of saorificing hls transportation
and lunch money to repay the loan so that Lollta would not
know about it. He arrivad at the station Just as the train
was leaving and tossed into his mother'!s lap a bag of
caramels with the bills inside, shouting, "l.amél . . .

shf dentro va lo que td querfas' (page 734).
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Cofla Pepita had also had conflicts about her illness.

In the beginning she feared death, but after geeing the
anxiety snd worry she was causing her family ", , . sélo
tenfa miedo de la sugustis de ellos" (page 690). A change
cane over dofla Pepita. There had been a time when she

would have expressed disapnroval of Marfe Pilar and objected
to Lueas marrying her; she would have complained aboeut the
conduct of Luls and his fallure 1in school; she would have
cried in melf-pity and created a scene. Now thingr were
different. ©She had mellowed., She realized her whole family
wag disturbed hecause this might be her last summer. As
for herself,

« « « Ella misma se portaba como 8l estuviers
despldiéndose de la vida. Comprendfa con un sentido
nds dulce y tolerante todas las cosas., Delante de la
muerte las cosas todas tienen menos lmportancla. oe
entiende gque la vida deba de ser una cosa més suave,
nds humane . . . (page 726).

Dofla Pepita actually refusged to bellieve that this would
be her last summer, but she was asking nothing for herself.
70 her husband she sald:

©8lo le he pedido a la Virgen una coas: que me
congerve la vida mientras todos sedisg tan tontos que
no pod4is adn manejaros 80los . . . 5€ que me lo
concederd ., . . Y va para largo (page 727),

As dofia Pepita, sitting beside her husband, looked cut the
train window at her family group she whispered, “Son ten

tontos que es imposible que yo me muera, Imposible , , "

(page 734). Then slic was oculet because she suddenly felt
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very 111, so 111 that she was thinking perhans thlis would

te her ltimo verano,

Thue the story ends with dofia Pepitats desire for
2 summer vacation granted and, 1t seems, her acceptance of
her destiny., A4As for her famlly, their efforte and sacri-
fice for thelr mother meem to have led to greater under-
standine between them and a better knowledse of themselves.
The conflicts they faced were typlcal of family life
although the story 1is sentimental.

El noviaezgo 18 considered one of the best of Carmen
Laforetis short novels and the author inocluded 1t in her
volume Mis pécinas mejores. It 1s in the vein of her
earlier works and contains none of the new idealism and the
gentimentalism found in most of her recent writings., There
are two principral charaoters: Alicis, now fifty, a blue-
gtocking spineter who has worked for thirty years as
seoretary to a weelthy man with whom she has always been
in love; and De Arco, now peventy-five, the wealthy emmloyer
who i8 a widower and, tired of philandering, is looking
for a restful old age and someone who will be a murse and
companion tc him in his declining years,

Aliciza, a sensmitive and shy girl, at the age of twenty
was faoced with an economic prodblem and loss of soolal
status when her father died, leaving a younger brother and

her mother dependent uvon her for support. The father had
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held e minor diplomatic post, and the family had spent
gseveral years in Ingland where Alicila had attended school
and learned the langusge. She zlso knew French and since
her father's death three years before, had egtudied typing
and shorthand, Because of these gqualifications, a fanlly
friend recommended her as secretary to a very wealthy man,
De Arco, who delt in foreign trade and belonged to the
"international set!., At that time it was rare to find a
glrl from a good family working in an office, a fact whioh
concerned Alicla, De Arco's first words to her were, "Usted
no tliene aspecto sufragista, Alicia; (por qué trabaja?"
(page 746).

Allcia's deep emotlional feeling sbout her soclal
status was clearly revealed in a family erisis. This
followed her motherts words of warning about falling in
love with her employer because, ". . . aungque estuviese
l1ibre no serfa minoca pera ti . . .". Allcla responded by
shouting insults at her mother and deoslaring that she had
never thought of De Arco as anyone other than her
employer and she added:

+ « « Pero que en caso de oasarse, 8810 un homdre
de la categoria de e Arco la podrfa satisfacer,
puesto que ella no se oconsidersba inferior en nada a
la sefiora de De Arco, ni a otras muchas brillantes
damas de la soocledad, que habfan surgido de la nada
£in haber usado nunca apellidos tan ilustres y sonoros
como los suyos, y que sgi su madre se crefe rebajada por

ser pohre, ella, Alicia, no crefa, por este hecho,
haber perdido la mds mfnima catepgorfe (page 752).
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Alicia's need to feel and apprear superior to the position
which she held was indicated 2lso by the fact that she wore
ruffled, nleated, and elaborately trimmed dresses to work
because, "Los trajes 'estllo secretariat! le daban horror”
(page 739). However, her extremely difficult economile
gituation did not allow her to buy clothing often and
therefore, "Su figura delgadita, rigida, acentuaba adn méds
esta impresidn antigua y melancdlica de maniquf” (page 739).

Faced with the worry of economlc difficulties and the
social stigma of having to work, and finding herself slone
for days in the office of the enormous house of De Arco,
", « « un verdadero palacio que De Arco habfa recibido en
herencia, junto con un tftulo de marqués, poco antes de la
guerra civil," (page 745), 1t was an easy escape for Alicla
to withdraw into an imaginary world of her own where she
dreamed she was a part of that elegant life.

Alicla had been in the office a month before she saw
De Arco ani during that time she had imagined hin as ". . .
una especie de dloe del dinero y los negocios . . . un
sefior muy serlo" (paze 747). Then she overheard a conversa-
tion between her mother and a friend in which the friend
questioned the wiesdom of letting a young girl work for
such a Don Juan whose ", . . mujer es una mértir; todo el
mundo lo sabe . . .I1" (page 747). After this De Arco

was, in the imagination of Allcle, "joven, peligroso y
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atractivo,” and "Si el amor es interés profundo, desvelo
por alguien, Alicia se sintlo enamorada de De Arco antes
de verle . . ." (page 749). This was the first time she
had been in love. She had never had a real swesetheart and
the image of this exciting man was fulfilling this umuet
need. By the time she firat saw De Arco she had gathered
all the facts about his past. She spent all her time
going through o0ld newspapers, searching socliety columns,
observing his possessions in the house. As a result,

La idea de De Arco como un elegante caballero
derrochador, guapo, infiel a su mujer, con la que=--
segdn supuso Aliscle~-ge¢ habfa casado por interés, le
llamadba la imaginacidn, indigndndola o intrigdndola
(page 748).

It had been years since life had been 30 interesting for
Allola.

When the story opens Alicia had lived for thirty
years without facing reality, lost in a world she had
created for herself, scarcely aware of what was going on
around her. From the moment of the quarrel with her
mother over the warning against love for De Arco, her
family had known a different Alicla. She was always on
guard, as if someone were going to wound or kill her, she
scarcely mentioned the name of De Aroo, her disposition
", « o+ 80 8grié, sin que ella se diera cuenta de este
fendmeno” (page 753). She beoame completely withdrawn and
sought solitude in her own home. It hed be:zn years since
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she had shared her mother's life or pald any attention to
her, "Ultimamente, Alicia se habfa convertidc en un ser
agrio, irdnico’'(page 765). In regard to her appearance,

"El tiempo habfa comenzado en aquel rostro una indefinible
labor de destruccidn, pero lo hacfa de una manera muy
espeoial, frfa y correcta como la misma Alioia"(page 738).
Aliclia was abruptly taken out of her dream world and
forced to face reality when De Arco unexpectedly proposed
marriage. She had walted thirty years for this but when
it came she was unable to accept the proposal in a realistic
manner. She was forced to face the truth of her situation
and what she saw was painful; so painful that she immediately
withdrew back into her world of fine ladles, and deshing,
attentive young men. Although she had known and loved
De Arco for thirty years, she oould not ascept as a friendly
gesture his proposal that they call each other by their
first names and use the famillar t¥. She avoided acocept-
ing the proposal by saying she would have to ask her
mother, She became hysterical when he did not phone the
night of the proposal or send flowers the next day, which
her mother often said her father had done. In the throes
of her angulsh about this, "Por la cabege de Allcla pasé
como un reldmpego la idea de que ella no amaba, sinc que
aborrecfa a De Arco" (page 771). She had spent years

", « « encerrada en una vida donde la fantasfs tenfa mucho
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que hacer . . . Muy poco lag pslabres . . . . coleccionando
sonrisas de De Arco, intentando adivinar sus gestoa, sus
pensanientos . . ." (page 753).

The truth about what had happened to Allicia was
apparent to her mother, dofia Ana, when Alicia began to make
wedding plans. She demanded a large wedding, such as she
had seen plotured in the newspaper accounts of De Arco's
first marriage; she wanted a distant relative with an
obscure title to glve her away; she wanted to be presented
to socliety, and to move to a luxurious apartment for a few
weeks before the wedding. As the mother lay awake that
night, following a dramatic scene with Allela in which
Allcia told her mother to leave her alone, "Déjeme . . .
Estoy harta de que me espfes . . . IDédjamei™ (page ?771),
she Blowly began to wonder about the sanity of Alicla:

La idea que tuvo poco antes, cuando oyé hablar de

su inexistente primo el oconde, empezd a meterse, insidiosa,
en el cerebro de la pobre gefiora . . .iEstarfa ella viviendo
con una loca? Se habria vuelto looa su podbre hija?
dY 81 no existiera tampooo aquel noviazgo con De Arco?
4Y 81 todo fuese una fantasfa de aguella desgraciada
hija suya? (peges 771-772).
The story reached a climax in the private dining room of a
country inn where De Arco took Alicia to lunch and to hear
her reply to his proposal of marriage. They were accoapanied
by Alicia's mother, dofis Ana, at the insistence of Alicla,
for the sake of propriety, but to the consternation and

anusement of De Arco. As they travelled along the way and
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doffa Ana listened to Alicials fantastie stories of the
luxurious life she had had in her childhood, dofia Ana began
to realize: "Heola afios y afios que Alicia vivia ast,
le Jana, metida como en su suefio interior . . . Y ahore que
habfae llegado la realidad . . . pues segufa sofiando" (page
779). Dofia Ana was sure of this when a disagreerent
developed between Alicle and De Arco over the wedding
ceremony. While De Arco remained patient to the end as he
pointed out the desirability of a quiet and simple wedding
for an 0ld man such as he, who would look grotesque and
ridiculous walking down the airle to the sounds of
Mendelssohn, Alleia became more and more persistent in her
demande for a fashionsble wedding with presentation to the
King (who, as De Arco pointed out, 4id not exist). At
last she burst into expresgsione of real hatred for this
mean when she sald:

Ha presumido usted demasiado de libertinoe ., . .
sefior De Arco, para que uns mujer decente pueda
cagarge con usted antes de haber sgido presentada a
toda la buena sociedad para gue sepan qud clase de
persona es su futura mujer, qué apellidos y qué
sultura tiene . . . Me ha humilladoc usted Aemasiadc,
De Arco, para soportar una humillacién néds, la peor
de todas (page 784).

Allcia had never really felt that De Arco appreciated
her. She realiged that she wvas ", . . para De Arco, fue
durante mucho, muochfsimo tiempo, un mueble més de ofiocina

.« « « (page 754),
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WYhen De Arco, unable to believe this drastic change

he was seeing in Alilcia, asked her to reconsider marrying
him in a quiet wedding cevemony and living a simple life
with him Alicis sprang to her feet, In response to his
statement "iNaturalmente que es mi dltima palabra . . .!*
she let go in the following brief declaration of triumph,
all the resentment, frustration, angulish and hate toward
De Arco that she had repressed for years:

Pues tengo el gusto, seflor De Arco, de darle csla -
bazas . . . Tengo la sstisfaccidn inmensa de darle
calsbazes . . « Tengo el orgullo de negarme a ser su
nujer . . . {Entiende usted?” Me nisgo 2 ser su mujer
(page 785).

Thues Allcia dissolved 2 conflict of thirty years in a
nagnificant performance and she suddenly felt happy, e
heppiness that was brief but splendid. She felt triusmphant,
as 1f she towered over De Arco, who looked like she had
slapped his face, To her mother she sald as she left the
roomt

(Te has fijado? iTe has fijado? . . . Jamds heable
recibido un desplente asf . . . IQuéd cara puso! . . .
En su vida habfa tropezado con una sefiora hasta hoy
(page 786).

Alicia's face was radient, but her mother could not
answer for she had burst into tears. For Alicia, who was
obviously emotionally 111, there could be no hope for a
norasl life. Hers would be one of fantasy or despeir.

De Areco fared much better than Alicia., He had a

normal and natural interest in her when, at the age of
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seventy-five, bored with business affalrs and socisl
obligations, with no desire to travel, he was locking for
companionship with someone with whom he could feel oom-
fortable, ie was in confliet with his own feelings of
loneliness, boredom, frustration and anxiety concermning
care during his old age. To Alicla he explained, "Me
siento un anclano achacoso sin tener edad pars sentirme
acl. 3S6lo contlgo me re juvenezco un poco; me parece gue
hasta me consideras peligroso . . . (page 743)., Ile waes
frank in telling her why he had decided to marry her in
preference to the many widows among hils acquaintances:

Lo Wnico que me ha hecho pensar en casarme contlgo

Y en que td aceptarfas es que sé muy bien cudnto me
has querldo y me quieres. Creo que no hey nade mds

importante para vivir juntos dos psrsonas. Al menos

a nuestra edad . . . (page 745).
De Arco was a man with not only wealth, but self-assurance
and self-esteem, to whom 1t 414 not oceur that he would be
re jected. HMarriage to Alicla was not prompted by love,
but by the prospect of excitement and new adventure, He
thought of her as a child in terms of experience and that
he would enj)oy showing her what it was to live in his
world. According to his plans,

e » ¢« Va a ser algo nuevo viajar onn ella, ensefiarle

2 vestirse, hacerla disfrutar de comodidades gque no

conoce, ¥ en fin, descudbrir su intimidad, tan cerrada;

ofrla la confeeidn del carifioc que me ha tenido toda la

vida, « . & (page ?60)-

De Arco was not crushed, not even particularly disappointed
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by Allcis's refusal, As he sat listening to her
demands,

De pronto experimentd une extrafia repulsién por
aquella mujeroita de ojos de loce a la que no le
parecfa conocer, y que volvia a aquel ridfculo usted
de siempre al dirigirse s €1 (page 784).

After Alicla's fiery depsture from the inn, De Areo felt
111, dut only from over-eating. Two months later De Arco
married one of the widows he knew. It was & very qulet
affair, "Todo se llevd a cabo de manera muy sencilles y
disoreta . . . Ni siquiera hubo noviamzgo" (page 786).

De Arco's problems were apparently solved and since, "Todo
su vida De Arco habfa detenido los impulsgos filantrdpicos
que de cuando en cuando la acometfan® (page 785), it was
not probable that his conscience was disturbed by thoughts
of either Alicis or poor dofia Ana.

El piano, like E] novigago, is considered by the

author as one of her best short novels and is also inoluded

in her volume, Mis pédginasg pajores. Professor Rodolfo
Cardona of Chathaﬁ Collegs, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, has
inocluded it in his book Novelistas espafioles de hoy as one
of four short novels which introduoce the reader to some of
the finest literary work of modern Spain. The author
includes more desoription in this novel than in many of her
writings, which background serves to contrast or to intensify
the mood of the sharacter. 3She desoribes the deserted,
dusty, burning-hot plaza at mid-day and the shabby lodgings
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that surround 1t as she bezins this ztory of the turbulent
emotional struggzle experienced by the protagonist, Rosa,

a girl with courage, strength, and optimism in the face
of poverty, illness and family oonfliets. As in several
other writings of Carmen Laforet, nature is the balm that
heals tension. Roaa takes a "vacation® from the office
and wanders like a vagabond through the park in the sun-
shine on the day she faces a traumatiec experience in her
life, the loss of her grand plano.

Roza had not been accepted by the neighborhood but
this 414 not seem to concern her, if she was ever aware
that this was true. The people could not understand why a
man s0o handsome as her hushand, Rafael, would marry a girl
"tan flaca . . . ¥ tan fea" and when she went to work they
concluded that he was ", , . un cordero para ella . . . que
no egtdn casados . . " They were indignant that a woman
", . . cOon aquella cara lavada, con aquel aire sencillo
e + o ise atrevfa a fumari”, a woman whose husband had no
vices. {page 791). But in truth, the thing the entire
neighborhood found insufferable in Rosa was

e « o aquel aire de felicidad perpetua, aguella

especle de reto 4de su zonrisa, oomo si fuera distinta
de todom, como 81 a ella no le rozara la miseria, ni el
dolor, ni la angustia . . . ¥ era tanto mds imperdonable,
cuanto que era pobre, pobrisima (page 792).

After a grand piano was installed, the neighbors began to

treat the couple with more respect. The comments emong
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them were typlesl, "o siempre lo dlje. Slempre dije que
eran gente de mucha altura . « ' It was lnexplalinable
tut the piano seemed to give ". « . & toda la calle . .
un aire de seflorfo . . . (page 794).

Fablo, the five-year-old son, also had problems in
the nelghborhood, where he was known as el gallina or el
ganbito because hls mother would not allow him to play with
the other children. Sometimes Rosa reproached herself
because she knew this was difficult for her child, but she
could not approve of the bloodthirsty games the children
played. iere the author takes an opportunity to express
her views about present-day morals in the thoughts of Rosa,
who remembered that in her childhood days it was undesirable
to be the bandit. Everyone wanted to be the hero, who was
good, Just, and honest. The young and innocent were always
saved. Times had changed:

Ahora el hdroe era el piratas o el “gangster", 7y . . .
los malvados y ridfeulos, los policXas . . . Desaparecia
la caballerosidad. Lo importante era conseguir
dinero . . . (page 800).

In the face of a difficult childbirth and lack of money

for good care, Hosa kept on smlling. When her child became
critically 111 with memengitls and Rafael, her husband, was
seriously 11l shortly after, Rosa carrled on her dally

work at the offlce and her nightly wviglil with the help of
one falthful servant, Lulsa. When a neighbor greeted herx
by saying, "iSe encuentra mal, sefiorita Rosa? . . . cuando

vienen malos tiempos todo parece que agobia mds . . .",
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Rosa looked ot her in surprise and =ald, "i&ht . . . Los
melos tiempos . . . Fueno, no s¢€ . . . (page 797).

This story is the glorification of the character, Rosa,
but more important than this is the development of & sound
phllosophy of life that emerges from Rosa's and Rafael'sg
resolution of thelr conflict over their different sense of
values.

The author uses the plano to represent wealth,
material possessions, and a luxurlous way of life, the
things that Rafael longed for., Rosa knew that, "Rafael
deseabe ser rico y famoso un dfa y a ello le parecis
consegrar su vida'" (page 801) and this made Rosa feel
glightly zullty dbecause,

Svavemente, oasi gin querer, gin que Rafael se diese
cuanta, ella habfa ido limandoe las ambiciones de aquel
honbre . . . Alimenténdolas oon palabras, y limdndolas,
al mismo tiempo, oon su falta de desec de gue se
reslizaran . . « (page 801).

Rafael had left his home town and a good futvre in
his father's business to go to the city to become & uriter,
He made this break with hle family and with Rosa, who had
been his childhood sweetheart, when a story he wrote for a
magazine won a first prize in a contest. At this point
"2l no querfa fama, sino dinero. Le gustaban las cosas
bellae, las muleres elegantes, los automdviles sllencisos
+ » " (page 802) and he thought this first success assured
him a fortune. He accepted employment in an office that
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left free hours to write, but 1instead of wealth he experienced
una heroica pobreza. He changed his literary style accord-
ing to the thinking of his c¢ircle of intellectusals in the
café, but no one took him seriously. le wag too young and
handsome to demand either fear or respect, so he was told,
end it was suggested he seek & career in the boxing ring
or movies.

At this time he agein met Rosa, who had come to the
city to attend the university. This thin and homely girl
had been most successful, ". . . era fea. Fero qulzids en
no saberlo residfa aquel encanto que le encontrabsn los que
la trataban" (page 807). She had a wide ecircle of friends
who loved and admired her. 3She had no particular gosal.

She planned to finish her course and then see "qué pasaba
en la vida" (page 803). Rosa was also having financisl
difficulty. She was an orphan and dependent upon a wealthy
sunt, who had ralsed her as a daughter. 5She quarreled with
her aunt because she wanted her independence. 1In Losga's
own words, "Yo no estoy enfadada con ella . . . 58lo que

no gquleroc vivir en su cese, porque aguello es un aburridero”
(page 803). The result of this conflict with her aunt, la
t¥e Viocaela, was loss of the house and wealth that could
have been hers 1f she had been willing to remain in the
home. »3But Rosa would have preferred to die of hunger, and

she was happy in spite of poverty. ©She was frightened to



142
realize there were people who wuuld have been willing to
lose ". « «+ lo mds hermoso de la vida, la juventud, la
alegrfa" in order to inherit that house full of furniture,
china, silver, and servants (page 809). Rafael could never
understand this, Rosa knew, although he loved her ". . .
por haberle llevado las manos vacfas, la despreocupacién
del porvenir y la sonrisa ablerta" (page 810).

Rosa believed there were two classes of poor:

Los pobres que lo son a la fuergza y los que, como,
nosotros, estamos encantados he serlo, de sentirnos
libres siéndolo., Los pobres de espiritu . . . (page
810).

To Bosa "pobre de espiritu' meant a person that,

» ¢« « &n nada estima la rigqueza . . . Pobre de
espiritu, y no 'pobre" solamente, porque el pobre de
espiritu puede poseer muchos bienes, pero nunca estard
sujeto por sllos, nmunca los querrd, y en cambio, una
persona pobre pusede eatar sujeta, angustlada, agarrada
por riquezas que ocodiclia . . . (page 811).

Rose alsc sald that the pobres de espiritu might possess
riguegza: "son los que, apenas la tiensn en sus manos, puedan
darla a otros, puedan ocambiarla, puedan hacer con ella lo

que gquieren, porque no la aman y no les da pena perderla'
(page 812). To Rosa, the poor in spirit are those who are
not really poor for they possess many riches that are not
materiel ones, riches that bring much pleasure but the pur-
sult of which does not consume all of their time and thought.
On the other hand, the truly poor person is one who 1is

consumed by the desire for wealth to the point that nothing
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else ig important,

These ideas of Rosa were in direct conflict with
those of Hafeel, Both he snd Rosa expected an inheritance
from Rosa's aunt Micaela, and some of their most violent
quarrels were over the management of this money. On these
ooccasions, "Parecfa que Rafael y ella se odlamsen® (page 816).
REafael spoke of travel, stops in luxurioums hotels, a
narvelous house, and to Rosa he would say, "Serds una nujer
elegantfsina . . . Serds mi orgullo” (page B15). Ros2 knew
that in those hotels she would not be the npride of Rafsoel,
She was not elegant and never would be becsuse elerance
really d1d not matter to her. When Rosa suggested nsing
scme money to help a needy friend, that she wes not cone
cerned about leaving her own son a million, Rafael lost
all patience and shouted:

Me ves a enfadar, Rosa., No he visto 2 nadie wie

irrazonable que td . . . Por una vez en la vida me vas
e obedecer cuando nos llegue e&sa herenclas nor una veg
en la vida te protegerd contra esa estupidez innata
que tienes . . . (page B816).
Rosa knew that Rafael suffered for lack of o thousand things
he wanted,

Quizd llevaba ocamino de per nobre de esnfritu algdn
dfa, pero por sahora no lo ere del todo. Y sufria.
Porgne el deseo de lam ocosap de la tierra 4e sufriniento
Yy 8 un pequeflo inflerno que nada apaga. Se sufre
sienpre (pase 812).

Rosa feared wealth because, "Sabhfa que ere muy 4i1ffcil que

sus vidas transsurriesen en squella divine naz, 4ivina

alegrfa y generosidad que les daba la pobreza" (page 817),
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All of thie conflict betweenrn the two was unwarrented
because dofia Micaels left Roaszs only a beautiful grand pilano.
By selling 2ll their furniture and removing a partition in
the apartment, the couple made room for the plano, and "el
plano, que habfa sido tan mel recibido, llegd a hacerse algo
as? como un sfmbolo en la easa® (page B818). A planist
gave weekly concerts there and many friends gathered regularly
around the piano to enjoy the musice. Rose nlayed 1t when
she came home from the office. A1l admired its beauty and
the charm of the roon. Rosa began to take interest in
care of the house.

In the midst of this new~-found joy., the 1llnesces of
the son Pablo and of Rafsel brought real poverty to the
femily. For the first time there were urpaid bdille. In
desperation Rosa decided the plano must be sold, "i(md
importa vender el pisno, Rafael? M4s bien nos estorbz que
otre cosa" (pege 828). Reluctantly Rafael acrreed and the
pianist, Jacinto, arranged the sale, The money ". . . fue
une bendicién” (page 828),

Sale of the niano brought to a clinmax the confliot
of the two personalities. Rosa Xmew from the worrled look
on Rafaelts face that ", . . €]l pverdfe £lro que habis
estimado mucho" (pare 812). She did not exnect the sn-uish
she felt the dey che Ymey the moverz were cominr. She

could not look at the nisno, she 414 not o to work as
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usual, money she should have saved she spent to bmy gifts
for Rafael, Pablo, and the servant, Luisa, After al) these
acts of rebellion, she returned home late, but not too late
to see the plano carried away as she watohed, hidden in
the shadows across the street., She oonfessed all this to
Rafael as she suddenly burst into tears upon entering the
house:

He estado huyendo de mf misma sin darme ocuenta., He
estado retrasando, retrasando este llegada . « « Y al
fin, ahora mismo, he aleangado a ver odmo se llevaban
el plano . . . Entonces comprendf, isabes?, que era de
eg80 de 10 gue he estado huyendo toda la ma¥iana. De
verlo sscar de cas&. . . . Soy ridfoula . . . Pero
ino entiendes? Alrededor de 61, nuestra vida parecia
haberse asentado . « « la vida empezd & adquirir una
egpecie de soliderz (pagems 831-832).

To which words Hafael replied:

{Qué importa el piano nil nsda de lo que podamos
tener? Importamos nosotros y nuestra elegrfa y lo
que podamos hacer nogotros. . . . Hace seis afos que
vivo con una mujer divinamente loca. Y la locurs acaba
por pegarse (page 832),

Rosa haed never expected to hear these words from Rafsel,
She smiled at last and dared to look at the empty room

that she found not desolate, but full of joy and Yirht,

She began to think, as always, that she had *, . . #n su
vida de la tierra un poco del reino de los cieloe (nare
832). Thus through the pain and anxiety that Ranhael and
Rosa shared, they gained understandings of egch other and of
themselves. Hed Raphael 1ov€d Roga less, 1t is dnoubtful

he would have bheen able to chanre his sense of values oo
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completely, but through the love and devotion he received
he came to know the meaning of el pobre de espfritu. The
author skilfully developed this satisfactory ending.

The story La nifia, takes its title from the
character, Olivia, a seven-year-cld orphan who, unknowingly,
serves as & mediator in resolving the conflict between
Carolina, the true protagonist of the story, and her niece,
Asunoién, a confliot between a step-mother and the oldest
child in the family. Through the story of la nifia Olivia,
the author also tells the plight of children in the sluas
who suffer pangs of hunger and the angulsh of insecurity.

The main thread of the story involves the life of
Carolina; the problems that she faced when she gave up her
ocareer and married her bhrother-in.law, Luis, in oxrder to
provide adequate oare for seven children who were left
without a mother when her sister died in ehildbirth.
Carolina admitted to Asuncidn, as she told her the true
story behind the marriage, that actually she 4id not do it
for the sake of the children. Although she loved them
very much, she 41d it because she thought it was a task
God expected her to do. To Asunoién she saild:

Lo hioe porque pensé gue en agquel momento era la

tarea gque Dios pedfa de mf. La mds hermosa, callads

¥y buena tarea a hacer por su Amor . . . (page 878).
Carolina, when she was a young girl, had rebelled against
her family ties and had left h-me to earn money to follow
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a medical ocsreer. She bsgan her career with bdbrilliant
success, However, at the end of the Civil War she renounced
this career to become 2 nun decauase she felt ". . . una
sdbita e inesperada necesidad de consagrarse a Cristo en
sus pobres . . ."” (page 837). She was happily engrossed
in this work when her sister became 111 Auring pregnancy and,
in spite of all the care that she and the husband Luis
could provide, dled when twin sons were born. Carolina
arranged for care of the young children in a goverrment
home for children and for a housekeeper to care for tﬁe
oldest girl Asuncidn and for the home, "iPero esta casa
resultaba un desastre!” (page 877). There were a number
of housekeepers, who were badly pald because the earnings
of Luls were small compared with the ocost of living. They
robbed the house, and left 1t and Asuncidén d4irty and
unkept. They even mistreated the child, dut there was no
money to put in a boarding-school., It was at this point
that Carclina was faced with a decision that would affect
the rest of her life. In the words of the author, ". . .
en vez de meterse monja, ocoro pensaba, se oasd con su
cufiado . . ." (page 838). She was in conflict with self-
interest as opposed to sense of duty. She loved her work
as & nurse but she felt an obligation to her sister's
children, whon she also loved, She d4i1d not love lLuis,

"Jamds nos quisimos como dos enamorados . . ." (page 876),
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but, in spite of thls, she declded to change her plans for
her 1ife. She told Luis that for the sake of the children
they ought to marry. To Asuncidn, Carolina explainsd:

Tu padre hizo el saorificio de aceptarme, con mis
nanfas, y yo le acepté ocon las suyas. . . . Creo que
despuds de pasar los afios peores luchando oomo negros
para vivir y para daros de comer, ahora emperanos a
gentirnos un poco descansados, y estamos contentos
« + « (page 877).

The task Carolina had undertaken had cost her much personal
pain. Of the bedroom she shared with Luis she thought,
"Este cuarto es mi 'sufridero'." She remembered the deep
anguish she had suffered during those first weeks,

e « «» 6n que dormir junto a Luls, oyendo su respira-
oidn. . . . Ella habfa pasado terribles insomnios . .
. levantdndoge, despacio, a medianoche para ver si los
gemelos . . . estaban bien. . . . Agquella prueba fue
terrible. No habfa pensado en e¢lla, la verdad, cuando
propuso ella misma a su ocuflado . . . (page 8#85.

She had thought she would have a little room of her own,
but there was no space and she 4did not even propose 1it.

She was 80 buasy during the day that she fell asleep as soon
as she hit the pillow. She became used to the situation,
but she thought as she reminisced:

Nadie més que Dios sabfa lo gque la habfa costado
acostumbrarse, 1o que le hablia costado dejar de pensar
en ella nisme definitivemente, olvidarse siempre . . .
(page 848).

It was because Carolina had resolved this oconflict with
herself and had been able to fcrget herself entirely that
she was prepared to faoce the oconfliots with her husband

and with her nlece, Asuncidn.



149
Actually her conflicts with Luis had been minor.
They concerned her many preoccupations and particularly
the one that was known by her family as la manfa de los
hogpitales. She visited the slck regularly and was par-
ticularly concerned with the hospital where she had worked
as a noviee and where now she was privileged to go and come
as she 1liked. Her interest in this work meant that sghe
was sometimes late for meals and that she ocoasionally
forgot to 4o the tasks Luls had left for her. He depended
.upon her to proofread the soientific articles he wrote,
before they went to the printers. Both the insonvenience
of walting for meals and the delay in sending materials to
the printer was a souroe of annoyance to Luls, but he was
a patient man and overlooked these faults in view of the
great responsibility that Carolina tock for his family. As
he defended her against the ascusations of Asuncién he
realized that
X1 no crela perfacta a Carolina., También €1 se
impacientaba oon sus distrasoionss y ocon sus genialidades
¢« +« « Conocfa mejor que sue hijos las pocas
disposiociones de Carolina para el hogar. Pero,
precisamente por eso, €1, Luls tenfa con e€lla una
dueda de gratitud, e poocos maridos pueden tenexr con
sus mujeres (page 82?&).
Carolinea was concerned with pleasing Luls, and, when she
had falled to do so, "La alegria hablfa desaparecldo de los

ojos azules de aquella mujer . . ." (page B847),
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The crisis in the confllet between Carolina and
Asuncidn ocame when Carolina wae late for lunch on two
consecutive deys because she was involved ixn trving to
arrange for care of ls uifia, a fact the family 414 not know.
Carolina had sensed the animosity of Asuncién for sonme
time but the warning of open conflict came on the day that
Carolina wes not only late to luneh, but had forgotten to
correct Luls'! proofs. VWhen Carolina announced she must
hurry to do them at once because ". . . tu padre es lo
primero . . .", Asunoidén replied "iPap4 lo primero? . . .
(Estds gegura de que mi padre es para tl lo primero?"
Carolina asked her to explain her remark and she answered:
Te 4izo eso porque mi padre es un hombre solo, un
hombre que estd ahandonado, mientras td te dediocas a
tus beaterfas y a tus hospitales. . . . Lo olvidas
t0do . «+ « Todo lo que sea de €1 . . . . Y despuds
te pasasg las horas muertasz en la iglesisa . . . nme
atrevo a decirte que ml madre fue infinitamente nds
carifiosa con €1, completamente distinta . . . (pages
846-847).
Carolina felt that she would dissolve into tears in the
face of this outburst of accusations, bdut she maintained
her composure.
Asuncién's attitude came to the attention of the
father the next day. When Carclina was again late to lunch,
| Asuncién remarked to her father that 21l husbands did not
Q tolerate the things he allowed Carolina to do. Luis was a

handsome, intelligent and kind man who "Con sus hijos era
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bondadosfsimo" (page 862), but he would not permit
this criticism of Carolina, Vhen he ceme to her defense,
Asuncién began to cry. She finslly seid she had given
the nmatter much thought, and that she wished to leave home
because "No quiero vivir mdes aqu?f, aguantando a esa mujer"
(page 863). Luls pointed out that Carolina had loved and
cared for her, but Asuncién declared: "Carolina no quiere
a nadle. No es una mujer de carne y hueso, &g un mamarracho
insensible, . . . (page 863).

At this oritical moment Caroline arrived with la
nifla, Olivia, a dirty, unkept, child, whose mother was
dying in the hospital., The mother had asked Carolina to
make arrangements for the child and this Carolina planned
to 4o. The child, unseen, waa sent to the kitchen and
Carolina jJjoined the family in time to heer the hysterical
accusations of Asuncidédn, her demand to be allowed to leave
home, and her final outburst dirsoted to Carolina:

e« » « De t1 no quiero nada, {sabes? Es €1 el que

tiene que decidir. Td, en m1 no tienes ningdn derecho.
No soy tu hija . . . Y me revuelve ¢l estdmago olirte
decir hija a cada paso, quitdndole eate tftulo a mi
madre (page B866).
Iuls was disposed to punish the girl but Carolina, who had
been preparing herself for this, and who remembered her

own defiance and desire for independance in her youth,

sent Asunoidn to her room to recover.
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It was in her room thet Asuncidédn encountered
Olivia, "Un diablillo sucio y negro se estaba mirando en
el espejo del tocador” (page 868). 0livia, after being
well-fed and becoming bored in the kitchen, had wandered
into Asuncidn's bedroom and found her crying there.
Asuncidn forgot her own problems in her interest in el
dieblillo « « . gracioso and declided to give her a bath.
The child's soreams of fright brought Carolina, who helped
rescue Asunoidn from the struggle with the bath. As the
two watched over the c¢hild as she slept, Carolina talked
with Asuncién.

It came as a shock to Carolina to learn that the
regentment and animosity that Asuncidn felt toward her was
prompted by & story she had heard from various sources
concerning the’eircumstancea of Carolina's merriasge to
her father. She declared that . . . me han dado pruebas,
pruebas de que ml madre fue deagraoiada por tf" (page 874).
Carolina had never been aware that the marrliage had pro-
voked gossip and maliclous comments about her ganes de
hombre. She did not know it had been sald that the
romance began before her sister's death and had hastened
it, that she had taken advantage of her slster's illness
in oxrder to invade the house, 3She was unaware that her
actions had prompted this public opinion. Actually the

comnunity was now in agreement with her nephew Luls, who,
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according to Asuncidédn, "I'ice que no le importa, que t¢ hes
sido muy buena y blen se te puede perdonar tu novels
amorossa . . o' (pege 874). Carolina became furious, a
reaction Asuncidén had never seen before on the part of her
aunt. To admit the truth of the marriage was a palnful
task for Carolina, but she told Asuncbn the whole story,
as the father had wished her to do., The conversation
ended agreeably, as it turned to a serious dlascussion about
plans for la nifie. Thus it was mutual concern over Olivia
that relieved the temsion between Carolina and Asuncién
and helped to bring peace to the family again. One wonders
if the suthor's own feelings about her step-mother, whom
she hated, provided meterial for this part of the story.

Carolina had found Olivia, dirty and helf-starved,
living in a filthy and barren apartment in the slum area
of the clty with Alberto, a vagabond painter., Carolinas
had befriended her mother, Marfa, when she was visiting
patients in the hospital and because, "Habfa algo en la
alte y flaca mujer que inspiraba confianza" (page 843), the
woman had asked Cerolina to get her child and arrange for
her care. Carolina knew nothing about the chlld, but she
had promised a dying women to do something about her chlld
and so, when 0Olivie begged, "iLlévame contigo!", she knew
she would be acting a8 a cowerd to do otherwice. She could
feed Olivia but where would she sleep? She solved this
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dilemmez with the thought ". . . in enbargo, i Jesds,
niffo, vinlese pidiéndome glberque, yo le darfa mi cama y
dormirfa en el suelo, aunque se enfadage Luls . . .”

(page 862).

Through the story of the life of Olivia, the
author reveals the bodily suffering and mentel angulsh
experienced by the children in the slums who not only have
inadequate materlial needs, but often are starved for
affection and leck the security of deing loved. Olivia's
mother, 2 widow, had eloped with Alberto, a vagabond
painter, because sghe was bored with life in the home of
her rigid mother-in-law. FHer mother-in-lew had descridbed
Yarfa as coarse, impudent, and shiftless, and this was
true. Alterto was an alcdolic and was never able to pro=-
vide for her and Olivia, or 2 child she had by him, e
did not want the responsibility of a family and had not
nerried Marfa. After she was serlously burned and sent
to a hospital, he arranged for his mother to take their
child and wrote to Olivia's grandmother to come for her.
Because the letter was not answered, he assured the grand-
mother was dead and was planning to leave the child to
governnent officlials. This wag & threat to her and she
begged "1Yo no quiero ir a la cércell? (page 855). However,
01ivia 1llked Alberto and was about to tell Carclinma she

preferred to stay with hin, when = e remembered that he
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had decelved her so mnuoch. ne had promised her amany

things: a doll, food, & new dress, & vislit to see her
mother, but, after locking her in the house, he was
accustomed to return home empty~-handed, ". . . apareocia
tambaleante y amenszdndola de muerte y se quedaba dormide
despuds de vomitar en caulquier sitio. . . . habfan sido
innumerables las mentiras y decepciones que ella habla
sufrido de parte de Alberto . . ." (pages 856=57).
Olivia'e painful experiences with poor environment
and lack of love and attention ended when she became the
responsibility of Carclina. As they rode ln a taxi to
Carolina's house the ohild sald to her thoughtfully: "iiira,
aunque td eres muy fea me gustas mucho, {sabes?' (page
861). 0Olivia's first experience with her anew environment
was unhappy, however. iHer mother, who was acocustomed to
say that “. . . los castigos no podfan ocon ella® (page 871)
because Olivia never shed a tear, would have been shocked
to see the tearful child in the arme of Carolins shaking
with fright after a bath. She had been acoustomed to
hungexr, solitude, never to play with chilildren her own age,
and at six, to have full care of her baby brother. All of
this she had endured without emotion, but in the bvathtiub
she began to tremble ‘. . . ocomo un perrillo asustado”,

and to shout, 'iie voy & quemar . . ." (page 870). Clivia
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enjoyed the attention she was recelving, "Sadia que
nreocupaba a squellas dos nuevas madres que le habfan
aparecido e, inconscilentemento, querls preocuparles mids
fun" (page 872).

Oliviats probvlems were solved when the grandmother
arrived in response to Albertots letter, and took 0Olivia
home to live in the country. She never asked about her
mother. She was about to utter the name of Albertc when,
looking throuzh the train window at the countryside, she
saw ", . . la figura de un caminante, oon un atadillo
sujeto a un palo . . ." but that was only for an instant,
", .+ . 8quel en que el tren se cruzd con el vagabundo
desconocido . . " (page 896). After that she forgot
Alberto forever.

The author develops the story Los emplazadogs on the
premnise that at the baptismal festivities of Teresa, the
protagonist, the devil, enveloped in red flames, appeared
on the sgtair and was seen to hold up four fingers of one
hand, indicating that there were four persons present whon
he would meet again in twenty years, "Cuatro emplazados a
veinte aflos . . ." (page 908). According to the author,

El diaeblo tenfa una idea algo confusa de lo que le

hebfa llevado 2l1lf aquella tarde., Sabfa solamente que
en aguel bautizo estarfan cuatroc personas--ademnds de
la bautizads--, Y por una serie de clirounstanciss,
que quizd se pudieran aprovechar admirablemente, sabla
que estas personas estarfan en peliszro de oamer en sus

manoe, a lo mejor, en une misma redada y en un mismo
dfa, & veinte afios vists (page 910).
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.28 the devil gazed over the crowd he declded the four
emplazadog would be: Teresa, who was belng baptized
{pege 212); don Nicanor, also called don Nicolds, who
in the midst of an argument concerning the priests ssaiad,
"4 ver sl hay un dfa une buens escabechina de ellos y se
respira mejor . . " (page 91C), and thus confirmed the
devils intultion that this was the man that ". . .
claramente le vid merir fusilado Jjunto con el ocura de su
pueblo, en una tarde sangrienta de revolucidn® (pages 910-
911); iilcolasillo, the nephew of don Nicolds, who waz hit
in the eye wlth a pastellllo that a guest threw and the
devil falled to catch; and Cornello, & young soldier who
lived on the fourth flooxr of the house, 2 braggart and liar.
As the devll was leaving he ran into Pagquito Sudrez Gaya,
the two-year-old son of the family on first floor and he
knew "/iquel niffo también llevabe la sefial de los emplazados
e velnte aflos vistal" (page 913). The devil did not know
why there was a f1fth emplazado but perhaps he would be
there ", . . para estropearlo todo. @Quiz& para ocontribulr
.« o o1 {page 913).

Under thls gulse of mystery, suspense, and fantasy,
the author develops a story of events that took place in

the smrall isolated mining village, Villa del Robre¥, durlng

¥4 flictlious village in the province of Leén which
was also a setting in the novel La muler nueya.
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the Spanish Civil War. This 1s the only story Carmen
Laforet has written that deals so direotly with men 1in
the service and the effeot of the war on civilians. She
avoids politios and even goes so far as to state that
Teresa, who is a teacher in La Fundacidn escolar ", . .,
no pertensofa a ningun partido polftico y habfa ganado
su puesto por oposicidén antes de la guerra . . ." (pages
928-929). The setting of the story is on the campus of
the school whers the nationalists or Franco's foroces have
encamped, after taking command of the village following
the hasty departure of )¢s rojos, the government forces.
There the author has assembled the four smplazados Just
twenty years after the baptism of Teresa. Cornelio Péreg
Roger is commander of the troops, his aid is Lieutenant
Francisco Gdmez Gaya, also kmown as Paocquito, and among
the officers is the bitter and discontented Nioolds
Gongzdlez BombIn, the former Nicolasillo who is out to
avenge the ruthless assassination of his unole, don
Nicanor, who was shot, along with the village prieat, as
predicted by the devil.

Teresa had never been seriously disturbed by any
events in her life, not even by the fantastic story abdbout
her baptism, until she found herself living alone in the
teachers' residence, surrounded by the soldiers. The other

teachers had fled before los rojos arrived but she preferred
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to remaln rather than try to join her femily in Madrid.
¥ow her conflicts were with her envirorment, the situation
in which she found herself, 2nd she was afrald. Actually,
Teresa no era miedosa, pero aquellos d4fas no eran

ordinarios pars la vida de nsadie, . . . Les habian

hablado de violaclones y crfmenes cunando entraran las

tropas y no se habfa convenoido. No habfa guerido

huir con los demds , , . lLe parecfa que aquélla era

su casa" (page 928).
iwo 1individuals in partioular were involved in Teresa's
frightening experiences during the twenty~four hour period
following the arrival of the nationalist troops: a leader
of the leftist troops, a looal miner whose children Teresa
had taught, and the young nationalist lieutenant, Francisco
Gdmez Gaya, known as Paquito. Teresa met Paquito when he
came to her door for the key to the achool buildings in
order to inspect them. Paquito was immediately attraoted
by her but she acted so frightensd as she showed him
about that he finally asked: "i{3e asusta de mi?", a question
to which she replied, "No, no « . « De usted no tengo miedo"
{page 925). When Paquito left her at her house he intro-
duced himself, said he was a lewyer 1in clvil life and
added, “S5i alguna vez me necesita, ya sabe . . ." (page
926), Teresa was very oordlial in her reply, but little
did she realize the iunportance of this offer.

Paguito did not know that Teresa was frightened

because the local miner had hidden himself in her house
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and hed threstened her 1life with 2 revolver if she
divulzed his presence, The mlner had falled to escape
with hils troops and had entered the house to hide there
until dark, hoplng to escape past the sentrles. Lot only
was Teresa afrald of him but, as she told him:s "Aqul,
terde o pronto 1o van a descubrir. .os va a costar la
vida a les dos . . " (page 927). She sald this because
"Le habfan dicho que ocultar a un enemnigo era delito de
alta traicidn . . ." (page 930). Teresa was tormented by
a conflict of emotions in regard to this man. Che wonld
have been enraged at his mammer in ordering her to bring
food, not to leawve the house, not to tallz with anyone,

e « « £1 no hublege sldo por la profunde compasién
que aquel tipo le¢ inspiraba. Quizd fuese una compasién
sueide. . . Tunca podra considerar enemigo a un
hombre ouya vida dependia de ellr (page 931).

She had not dared to move about or to go out, ". . .
Teresa vivia en ansiedad mortal” (page 931). As Teresa
left the house to go with Pagquito to show him the build-
ings, she felt the eyes of the man upon her but,

De pronto sintié una extrafis calma. Si1 el hombre
desconflaba de ella dispararfa tan pronto ssliese.

e « «» Pero si el hombre tenfa una sola probabilidad
de escapar era conflando en Teresz, en su silenclo
nisericordioso, Nadlie dispard (page 932).
She prolonged the inspection of the bulldings because in
the presence of Paquito %, . . se sentfa segura' (page 933).

ihen she returned to the house she locked herself in her
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requested food. e entered her roon wnlle she was in
the Xxitchen and upon ner return,

Iferesz tuvo un repentino aviso de peligro. . . .
ella no vefa al hombyre ahora. Pero algo hadbfa
canbledo en su manere de hablar, en el anmblente, en
todo . . + Era un peligro distinto del de morir
ahogada o atravesada por un balazo el que su 1lnstinto
le avisaba en el susurro torpén e impacisnte del
honbre. . . . &3 como 81 se lo hublera soplade el
demonio (page 939).

Terror seized her as the man advanced toward her., Suddenly
he was stopped by three knooks on the door.

Teresa ", . . @6 sentfa a salvo" (page 940). When

she answerad, it was Paquito. Prompted by terror and a
desire to escape, she offered to acocompany Paquito to the
library to get a book because "Ni por un momento se le
oourrid gue agquel Jjoven encantador e infantll pudiese
significar otro peligro® (page 940). When, loocked in the
privacy of the library, Pagquito took her in his arms and
kissed her, it was anger and indignation that prompted her
reaction to slap him, not fear. She waa in conflict with
the teachings of her childhood and with her own emotions.
Remorse followed; she asked Paguito's forglveness and then
sald "iPor qud hiciste e30? . . . Ein justificaclfon . . .
ey otra clase de hombres, a log que una tlene miedo . . .*",

to which Paquito replied, "Y yo no soy eza clase de hombre
peligroso . . ." (page 942). ©She had consldered him a
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centlemagn, she zaid, and, therefore, ", , . no scomprendo
nor quf nasd aquells” (nage 9413),

Prom this point on the conflict between Teresa and
Paguito bezan to resolve., He realized he had misunderstood
her motive for locking the library door and elosing the
ghutters. “e had thought 1t was becsuse she wanted to be
alone with him, but when she sald the aunt who sent her to
the university, “Me ensefid a protegerme contra los hombres,
« « o HMe contaba historias terribvles de muchachas solas,
asediadas vor el Adeseo de hombres bhestiales . , .* (page
SL4l), he knew hs was wrong, He realized her actions were
prompted by fear bescause, in spite of his behavior, when
he offered to take her home she said: "Tengo miedo de
estar allf . . . No te lo puedo expliocar . . .' (page 945),

Teresa fell asleep. 8he awoke two hours later and
saw Paguito watching her, Then Teresa

e« + » 8intfo aquel calor profundo en su cuerpo,

aquells asombrosa debilidad, que jamds relacionéd con
el demonio, y que, sin embargo, estaba atigando all{f,
junto que le hacfa arder las orejas--, aquel invisible
convidado a su bautizoe a quien habfe llegado la hora
de aparecer (page 945).
1o Paguito she said: “iAdn te sientes enamorado?"
(pege 945). She sald this Y. . . con una suave chanza,
blien segurs de la respuesta, y su voz 82118 eposionada y
be ja', Fraquito clasped her hand amd ", . , de uno a otro

pasd una cdlida corriente., Jn aoplo mds del demonio y

s+ o' (pages 94S-9L6),
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Thue the devil iInterceded in the conflict hetween
Paquito and Terese and influenced Teresa in her conflict
with hergelf, She awoke in the library. at dawn to find
herself alone snd ", , . se centfa entumecida, erfernma,
Hizo maouinalmente le seflal de la cruz . . ." (page 946).
She 413 not think of Paquito nor of the man in her house
but ", . . en agquella buena mujer, su madrina . . . que
la habfa hecho crecer creyente y purz" who had said to
her "No amanezecas nunca en pecado mortal . . . No pases
el peligro de morir asf . . .7 (page 946). She thouzht
that, ". . . jands hasta entonces habla amanecido en
necado . . . « Nientras sentfa un miedo a la nuerte que
jam4s le parecfa haber experimentadoc hasta entonces, y
que . . . nada justifiocaba" (page 946).

Teresa was wrong; 211 her fears cf death were
Sustified because, when Pagquito returned to camp at mld-
day and wan ordered to appear in el saldn de sesiones, he
found her aslone in the room with Cornelio who sald:

Alférez, aquf le entrego a esta prislonera. Vauns

a juzgarla en Juiclo sumarfsimo. Usted, que es abogado,
gserd el juez inmtructer: . . . voy a2 reunir el Consejo
de Guerra en cuanto coma, y seguramente habrd que
fueilaria . . .(page 948),

Paguito wvas terrified. Up until thils point "idn
no conocfae bien a Cornelio Roger ni sabfa lo que la guerra

es" (page 948)., He had enjoyed hilsg life in the army. e

had not been upset at the prospect of military service.
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When he left hone,

e o o« Vivié unos minutos de azoramiento y de intensa
tristeza A causa de 1la pena de su nadre, . . « pere
se sentla compensado por los ojos brillantes de su
hermanillo . . . y las sonrisas orgullosas de las
hermanas. « « « ¥ 8intiendo . . . en el espiritu la
magnifica certidumbre de ester en armss por una causa
que le parecfa pagrade . . . 6l corazén comenzd a
latirle exaltado y romé&ntico, con una fellcidad como
le parecfa no haber sentido jauds (page 915).

To the chaplain he had sald onec day: '"Lstoy contento.

Le. guerra es cosa de hombres. 4&llo cree usted, padre?™
(page 918). He had been particularly happy during his
encampment in an isoclated mountain village where he con<
versed frequently with an old man. In these conversations,

Acumulaba conocimientos y sensaclones como sl se
ectuviege preparando para algo. « « » .1 se le occurfa
la posibilided de que tal vez fuera pera morir. La
idea de la muerte . . . no entraba para nede en su
imesginacidn, en aquellos dfas en gque la vida era tan
rica (pages 919=920).

raquito's oonflicts in 1life had been with himself. when
veresa nad rejected his first attempt to make love to her
and had heard the bitterness in hls volce when he said,
"Y yo no soy esa clase de hombre peliugroso’ {page ¢L2),
he did not know
« « o las luchias que el muchacho llevaba consigo
mismo pars ser puro, para ser ocasto, paras cuardar sus
me Jores energfas dediodndolas al estudio, al deporte,
a prepararse a ser un hombre sano y digno (page 942),
Paguito learned that Teresa was sccused of hiding
a leftist officer ir her house ard of having a2 nicture of

Lenin in her possession. He sent at once for Nicolds Bombin,
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who had mads the accusstion. Thus the four emnlazados were

together again but ". . . so0lo un personeje invisible
recordaha que se habfan encontredo ya otra vez; veinte
afios antes” (page 950)., Nicolds Bombin, wvho had previously

acoused Teresa of being a roija nerdida (pame 926), now

baged his accusations on the fact that he hsd seen the
leftist officer, shot by the sentinels that norning,
running from Teresa'es house. ‘lmon gearchia~ the place he
had found evidence that the man had been sheltered there.
The picture was ldentified as that of Teresn's father and
Paquito, using the s8kill he had acquired in his leral
training, quiockly established facts as to Teresa's where-
abouts that convinced Cornelio she was unoware the leftist
wag in her house, Nicolds Bombin admitted he had searched
Teresa's house upon arrival at the school and found every-
thing in order., He nlso sdmitted that he sav Teresa

leave with Pacuito after ten o'clock that nirht and that
when he rushed into the house the next mornin~ after the
leftist fled from it, she was weering her cost and arsneared
to have just arrived, Psasculto, to the omrzevrent of 211,
including Teresa, announced that he and Tererr were engaged
and had spent that nicsht torether. The m~n muct have oome
in Teresa's absence snd fled when he hesrd her arrive.

Paguito esked permission to marry Terenn ~t orce and that
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the whole matter not come to the attention of the Couneil
of War because "Va en ello el honor de mi mujer” (pare
953). To Cornelio's comment, 'Y estuvieron ustedes
pelando la pave . . .", Pagquito replled "l'asta casi el
emanecer, sf . . . (page 954), Teresa, who had been
sobbing when Paquito arrived at the court, looked at him
with admiration and toward Cornello with rellief because
he said: "ie algro mucho de que no hays Consejo de
Guerra, Fodré dormir la siesta . . ." (page 955),

Cornello had a more important reason to be
relieved that the Councll of War did not meet because, at
the appointed hour, there was an explosion that demolished
the bullding. As he saild to Paqulto later "Si el Conse jo
de Guerra llega a efectuarse, & esta hora ninguno de los
cuatro que estuvimos por la maflana en el salén de sesiones
existirfamos . . ." (page 958).

Thus, in spite of the meddling of the devil, the
story ended happlly with all the conflicts solved.
Cornelio celebrated thelr good fortune by asking the three
to dine with him, At the table, "Teresa contd inclusdw
animada al fin por reaceldn y por unsasg ocopitas de champafia
-=la historia de su bautizo . . .", & story which all of
ther had heard before and about which they agreed with
Paguito when he said: "jiMe parece, Teresa, que es un

cuento popular gque tu familia te aplics a tit . . ."
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(page 959). So the story of los emplazaedos came to a
close without any of the four recognizing they had been
the participants and that thelr appointment with the devil
had been fulfilled. ‘The situations in the story are con-
trived but the reastions of the characters are realistic.

=1 viaje divertido is the story of the traumatio

experiences of £lisa Lépez when she accompanied her
sister-in-law Rosa to Madrid to attend the wedding of
Antonio, the younger brother of her husband, Luis.
Elisa's conflicts were primarily with her husbend and his
family and with her own cousin Javier, but her reaction
to thease pressures resulted in self-confilct because of
her feelings of inadequacy and her consequent lack of
gecurity and self-respect.

Elisa, at twenty, was the wife of the young
village doetor and the mother of two small children. Hexr
parents, who had been wealthy farmers with a large estate,
had been robbed and assassinated during the Spsnish Civil
War., Elisa was only four at the time., Someone had come
to the honge one night and asked her parents to acoompany
them to identify the bodieg of two young men that were
presumed to be her dbrothers. Elisa wes left alone to wait
until they returned for her. The child became frightened
and called to the neighbor, Rosa, who rescued her and hid

her in her own house. Later the men returned, searched
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the house, and burned all the contents of her father's
office. 'he parents'bodles were found the next dey. Rosa
fled wlth the chlld to Burgos where she lived until the
end of the war. BRosa and her husband José kept rmlisa
end raised her as their own daughter. Elipa had had a
happy life with Hosa and memory of her terrifying experience
did not seem to have disturbed her; In fact, she had not
been able to provide any informatlion concerning the
identity of the persons who had come for her parents,
Later, Elisa had married Rosa's brother, Luls, and the
young couple had come back to the villege to live in the
big house of the Ldépez famlily. There lLuis was struggling
to establish a practice as a physician. Llise's wealth
wa8 gone but this was apparently no real problem to her.

A oousin, Javier, claimed to have purchased her father's
land during the war and to have pald cash, money that
was presumably sought and taken by the assassing of her
parents. Elisa was content to be in her old home, she
loved her husband, and was a devoted slave to her two young
children. In faot, "A Elisa podfa vérsela siempre con el
pequeflo gordinfldn en brazos y la nifla agarrada al borde
de su vestido, lloriqueando de celos" (page 966).

Eliza would have been happy if it were rot for the
fact she knew her husband was dissatisfied with her ability

to perform the duties of a wife and mother. !e considered
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her a child who had nothing to do and whom he must look
after and direct. When he arrived home at night he was
accustomed to say "Hija, vengo reventado. . . . Td, oomo
gracias a Dios no haces nada, no puedes comprender este
cansancio” (page 965). Because the children kapt Elisa
busy during the day, she was accustomed to sew at night and
often fell asleep with her needle in her hand and her head
on the table., If Luls dimcovered her sleeping he would
awaken her and say, "No tienes nada que hacer en todo el
dfa y escoges estas horas, para volverte anémica de falta
de suefio.” If she tried to explain that the chlldren kept
her busy during the day he would reply, "A los nifios se
las educa. No saques al pequeflo de la cuna mis gue a sus
horas” (page 966). In regard to her management of the
gexrvant Luis said,"le diré a Rosa que « . . te d¢ algunas
lecciones de cliencia doméatica . . . Las necesitas" (page
968). Luis had no sympathy with Elisa's reluctance to
leave her 1little daughter with him and the old family
servant while she attended the wedding of the brother of
Luis, He felt it was her duty to go with his sister, Ro=sa,
sinee for professional reasons he ocould not, and to her he
said, ". . . no vayas a hacer el ridfculo ocon tus tristezas"
(page 970). Later he said to his brother-in-law, José,
the hushand of Rosas
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A nf no me importa nada que mi mujer vaya sola de
viaje . . . . 81 algo le hace falta a Elisa es
sacudirse un pooco esa preooupacidén, casi enfermiza,
por los nifios. Te confieso que a mf también me hace
falta descansaxr un poeo de ella y de sus eternds
alarmas por las criaturas. Que se divierta todo lo
que gquiera . . .+ S1 es que sabs . . . Porqgue,
econociéndola, lo dudo (pages 971-972).

As Luis sat alone in the dining room at breakfast
after Elisa's departure, he recalled his insistence that
they eat all their meals there, although Elisa preferred
the bdedroom for breakfast beocause it was warmer. But Luis'
hope was to ". . . educarla y dotarla de cierto refinamiento
en las costumbres” (page 177). Later in the story when
Luis became angry with Rosa and his young nieoe Daniela
because he thought they had made Elisa feel inadequate
and unhappy as she compared herself to them,

No se le ocurrid pensar en sus rifias nocturnas,

en el papel de censor-. educador, gqus desde gue se
habfa casado habfa tomado 61 respecto a Elisa, y que
a ella habfa acabado por atsmorisarla y quitarle toda
sensaoidn de antoridad o de wvalfa personal (page 994).
Elisa had been aware of this confliot with her husband since
the beginning of their marriage. This had resulted in a
feeling of inferiority and dissatisfaction with herself,
In the words of the author:
Desde su boda, Elisa vivia ocomo asustada, temerosa
de ser mala esposa, mala ama de oasa, mala nmadre., Une
continua preocupascidén la acompafiaba desde que despertsdba
en su gran cama de matrimonio. A veces, esta sensacidén
estaba como soterrada, se habla acostumbrado tanto a
ella, que la encontraba natural. Otras veces se

imponfa con gran fuerza, haciendo que su corazén se
ocontrajese (page 974),
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Early in the morning, when the rest of her family was
sleeping, Elisa "habfa un momento secreto, un momento en
que « « . se sentfa més firme que todos squellos seres
dormidos. . . « En aguel momento Elise comprendfa su
gran importancia como eje vital de aquella casa, su gran
tarea™ (page 965)., However, after Luls arrived home and
began his ocustomary oriticisms,

Aquella de la noche era una hora mala, una hora de
debilided y angustia. Ers el momento del dfa en que
Elisa se sentfa inmitil, pocc trabajadora y hasta mala
nadre. Era el momento de la jornada en que se comparaba
e ¢« o CONn su oufiada . . . una aujer "de verdad”, somo
decfa su marido, tranquila, serena . . . & quien ella
admiyraba sin poder imitar. . . .« Cuando ., . . me
netfa en la gran cama matrimonial estaba siempre muy
cansada, y oasl le dolfan los ojos de sontenerse las
ldgrimas (page 966).

As Elisa rode in the ocoach beside Rosa on their way to a
near-hy village to take the train to NMadrid, "A Elisa se
le empezd a quitar la gsensacién oprimente que habfa tenido
todos agquellos dfas al pensar en el viaje® and she began
to feel happy and sesoure, Just as she had felt when a
child riding beside Rosa on the way to boarding-school.
Only now Rosa talked with her as an equal, which ", ., .
resultaba deliocioso. Aquella scnsacidn de malestar, de
preocupacidn continua, se fundfa con facilidad, después
de tres afios. Ella no sabla en que consistfa el alivio
que experimentaba . . ."” (page 974). Elise found herself

laughing at the antios of the coachman, and she thought:
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Qué féoll es vivir, Dios mfo, qué féoll . . . A
veoces me parece una cosa tan cansada . . . Pero es
sdlo porque siempre he tenido a alguien observando
todo lo que yo hago para eriticarlo . . . Después
de esta profunda observacidén psicoldgioa que se hizo
a sf misma, Elisa se durmid . . . (page 976).
Thus the beginning of this trip was truly for Elisa el
yiaje divertido as she began to have some insight into
her oconflioct with herself.
The trip, which was the first time Elisa had been
awey from home since their marriesge, also began to have
an effect on the attitude of Luis. Luls was not yet thirty
but his face was lined and "Tenia los ojos tristes,
insatisfechos” and his brother-in-law, José, had the 1idea
he was not happy with his marriage. As they walked along
the street, following the departure of their wives, José
asked Luis why he had married Eliss and the reply of Luis
confirmed Josd's suspoions:
Mds pronto o mis tarde, un hombre tiene que oasarse,
énot . . . Vosotros me metisteis a Elisa por los ojos.
Y, aparte de que ¢s demasiado Buena para mf, no tengo
nada que decir de ella . . . 8%, me alegro de que haga
un ﬂBJ. divertido . . « (plg‘ 972)0
However, in the absense of his wife, Luis began to think
about Elisa more and "No sabfa por qué, le costaba mucho
menos trabajo imaginarla como una nifiita que pensar en ella
tal como era ahora. Y . . « {ofmo era en realided? . . .
Sabfa que no podrfa oconfundirla con nadie, pero no podia

acordarse exactamente de sus faocclones cuando no estaba
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junto a ella” (pages 980-981). He really became thought-
ful and oconcerned when he received a letter from Elisa in
which she said that his relatives were surprised to learn
she was the mother of two cohildren ", ., . son la poca
formalidad que tuve siempre”. As a result of thinking of
this she wrote: ", . . quizd me deberfa de hadber preparado
un pooo mds antes de casarme para poder hablar sontigo de
todas las cosas que a ti te interesan y no decepocionarte.”
She went on to say that beside his niece Daniela, who was
Elisa's age and was attending the univeraity, “. . . ne
siento vieja y paleta” (pages 992-993). It did not oocour
to Luis that his constant oritiocisa of her might have
been partially responsible for these feelings that Elise
expressed. Instead he was furioﬁl at Rosa and Daniela,
whoa he assumed had oritioclzed her and made her unhappy.
His thoughts oontinued:

Luls imagind mentalmente una respuesta carifiosa.

No era muy diffoil decirle a Elisa, gue ella era la

nds dulee y buena de las mujeres para €l. Que la

querfa tal ocomo era, y gque volviese pronto porque

enntra 10 que pensaba la casa resultaba vacia sin

ella, y triste. No 8810 no era difleil esto, sino que

era verdad, . . . (page 994).
However, Luis felt ridiculous about expressing these thoughts
to his wife because it did not seem fitting for a man to
be so sentimental and so the letter was never written.

Insteaad, "Luis se marchd sonriente. . . . Las manos en los
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bolsilloe y en una de las manos el caloer de la osrta de
Elisa, a la que, por fin, no jJuzgd necesario contestar"”
(page 995).

In the meantime, Elisa's situation had developed
into anything but a happy one becasuse of her relationship
with Bosa and with her own cousin Javier, While travelling
on the train to Madrid, Elisa suffered the most terrifying
experience of her life since the night her parents were
taken away, about whiech she had only vegue memories. As
she wvas walking down the alsle of the train she saw in one
of the compartments a faoe that she rsosognized:

« s+ o Una oara y unos brillantes ojos negros, que ge
inclinaban hacia ella, . . . Inconfundible la
TiEion & aptior eremns Lobton, eentimiihs,
todo, mucho mds gque eso, inconfundible agquel gesto
medio oruel, medio tranquilizador (page 983).
Elisa became pale as she imagined she heard again the
words of that mans "'Luego volveremos, nena, ., . » S1
gritas, vendrd el hombre negro del maco a llevarte . . .
T™d, gquietecita hasta que yo vuelva. ¢Ent e ndido?" The
man gpoke to her and this time he said "~-iQue te pasa, prima
Elisa? Parece como si te hubieras asustado al verme , . ."
{(page 983). Elisa could not answer for she fainted and
fell into the arms of a fellowepassenger. When she opened
her eyes amxxl the man smiled at her, she was on the verge
of telling him that the cause of her alarm was a mistake

when she noticed ", . . la mano del hombre, adornada oon
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uns sortija pesada. Una sortija que a ella le parecfa

haber visto ocuando aguella mano dura se retird de su
barbilla aquel afa . . ." (page 984). It was like a
nightmare. Then she heard Rosa ask if it was possible

she 4id not remember Javier and Javier replied: "“e-Yo

soy tu primo Javier. Te administraba la finea gue tu
marido me la vendid . . ." EKlisa was conoernsd about the
way the man smiled at Bosa. It was a different smile than
she remembered and "ParecIa como si entre Rosa y Javier
existiera un seoreto” (page 985).

Hours of anguiah followed for Eliss as she tried
to sleep but could not because of thoughts of that horridle
night vuhon her parents went away and the feeling that her
oousin Javier was among those who came for them. &he
thought: "Si aguel hombre, su primo Javier, pensaba
volver a la casa despuds de asesinar a los padres, no
sexrfa para dejarls a ella vivir® (page 986). Could a men
that was only a relative provoks all this torment and
", « « 81 Javier habfa comprado las tierras de su padre,
Javier pod¥a saber ddnde su padre guardaba el dinero"
(page 987). Both Javier and Rosa indicated he had visited
Rosa's home and seemed surprised that Elisa did not
remenber this cousin. Elisa remendbered she had seen hinm
once beside the well in the garden of Rosa's house where
she was playing. He had offered to point out something
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marvelous that she could see in the bottom of the well,
S8uddenly a note in the voioce of the man had frightened
her and,

Quiso desprenderse de la mano dura gque la empujaba
y entonoes otra se acerod a su booa para ocerrarla., Y
la otra mano, de es0 estaba segura, llevaba una
sortija cuasdrada, pesada. La sortija del asesino de
sus padres, del primo Javier (page 989).
This memory proapted Elisa later to ask Rosa Af Javier were
a good person and "Sin venir a ocuento, Rosa se ruborizd.
« » « Durante los dos segundos que Rosa tardd en contestar,
Elisa tuvo una tremenda intuloidn, Tuvo la seguridad
pammosa de¢ que su cufiada Rosa quexfa a aquel hombre” (page
989). Rosa assured her that Javier was a good man, that
he had loved Elisa when she was a child and added "Una
vez te salvil de caer a Un pozo . . + 4No te acuerdas?”
(page 990). This praise of Javier only intensified
Elisa's tornent. 5he kept thinking:
éEs posible que un ser asf, una persons que es mi
pariente, a quien trato, son quien hablo, a gquien Rosa
estima, o quirids hasta quiere . . . o8 posible que
éste, precisamente, sea un asesino? (page 991).
Not only was Elisa upset by her fears and suspicions con-
ocerning Javier, but also because of Rosa'’s interest in
him. She loved Rosa as if she were her mother and Rosa
", « «» segufa encantadora con su eufiada" (page 996). But
her worries ocontinned:

A Elisa sin saber por qué le daba pena y miedo verla
tan entusiasmada. « » « A olla tambie¢n le habla
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resultado ung feliocidad inccente y despreocupada este
viaje durante el que no tenfa gque consultar a los ojos
de nadie para ver sl estaba bien o mal hecho lo que &
ella se le habfa ocurrido en cade momento . . . Pero
esa alegrfa y despreocupacién se le habfa quitado tan
pronto, que le pareofa vivir en plena pesadilla (pages
996-997).

Elisa knew that Rose went shopping every morning btut it
was Daniels who told Elisa that "Javier y Roesa tomaban
juntos el aperitivo, todos los dfas. . . .* 8he wanted
to protect Rosa and herself ", . . ocontra aquel hombre
horrible y no sabfa qué hacer ni qué decir" (page 997).

The day of the wedding her mother-in-law, dofia
Rosalla, found Elisa sobbing in her room. Elisa had known
her mother-in-law, "aquella dulce y risuefia mujer" (page
996) for many years and had been treated as a daughter,
even before her marrisge to Luis. Dofia Rosalia persisted
in asking why Elisa seemed terrified in the presence of
Javier and finally Elisa said "«<Creo haber reconocoido en
€1 el asesino de miz padres” (page 1001l). Dofia Rosulia,
who waa very upset by these words replied, "--Olv{date de
eso, nifia mfa . . . Yo oreoc que no es verdad lo que crees,
No, no es vexrdad . . ."{page 102), tut she seemed very
quiet and sad. Finally, she said she would have to tell
Rosa, for only Rosa would know if Javier had been,on the
day of the assassination in the village where Elisa's

parents lived.
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Elisa'as oonfliot with Rosa began when she spoke to
Rosa about going out with Javier so often. She had done
this because she was concerned about ". ., . la carifioss
complicidad gque habfa entre Rosa y Javier." Well she
remembered "el feroz enfado que habfa demostrado Rose
apenas habfa ella intentado 'meterse'’ en sus cosas”
(page 999). It was because of their quarrel that dofia
Rogalia had found Elisa orying. Elisa was concerned when
Rosa d1d not appear at the party following the wedding,for
she was sure it was because dofia Rosalia had told her
about Eliza's suspicions. Rosa did oome to Elisa's room
imnediately after the party and threw herself on the bed
saying
-=Estoy enferma-- . . . Ha sido denasiado para nt
e o o Mi madre me ha dicho tus sospechas. . . .
Perddname lo de esta maflana. Lo de estos dfas , . .
No hacfa nada malo, pero no debf salir jamds oon
g:yfor. El viaje pe me subié a la cabeza (pages 1003-
After this Rosa 41d not ssea like Rosa, "Estaba vieja . ,
o" and Elisa felt gullty becauss she was sure that ", ., ,
esta asustada confidencia de Rosa iban envueltas muchas
mentiras."” Ellsa would have given anything to be the same
girl who left on this trip a few days dbefore and "Por ver
la cara de Rosa, segura, impenetrable, como siempre®,
Rosa went on to say to Elisa: "Quiero declir gue creoc a

Javier capaz hasta de ser un ladrén . . . Pero no de ser
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un asesino . . %, and then she added, "De todas maneras
es un hombre malo . « «, ésabes?” (page 1004). Rosa
admitted she had held memories of their courtship, and
she was attracted by him. However, he had not only made
a soene at the party because she did not appear but, she
told Elisa: "Dice gque nos desacrsditard en el pueblo.

No se atreverd . . ." (page 1005).

Elisa's oonfliet with Rosa began to be resolved
with Rosa's revelation of her relationship with Javier.
Elisa knew that in what Rosa was saying: "Una sola cosa,
certisima: las relaciones de Rosa econ Javier habfan
terminado. Cualesquiera que hublesen sido . . . 8e acabaron”
(pages 1005-06). Once again she asked Rosa if she was
absolutely sure Javiar had neither robbed nor assassinated
her parents. There was a brief silence ", . . en el gue
Rosa entrd muy adentro en su coneiensia. ILuego mintid:
~-Egtoy segura. Jdrame gque no pensaras mdas en esto. Que
no se lo dirds a luis” Elisa's voloe sounded so relieved
when she gsaid "No pensaba haberlo discho en ningdn caso.

". « « RoBa . . . 8¢ sintid oontenta de haberla liberado
de aquella carga, que ella ahora llevarfa sobre sus hombros
pare siempre”. Thus the oconfliot between Elisa and Rosa
ended as Rosa sald "Te he querido como a una hija, isabes?
e o o (page 1006), and Elisa's fear of Javier was
alleviated.



180
The relationship between Elisa and Luils also

appeared likely to improve in spite of the rumors spread
by Javier in the village that both she and Rosa were drunk
at the party following the wedding and danced the can-can.
Josd was disturbed and furious, but Luis laughed so hard
that . . . le asomaban ldgrimas 2 los oJjos sdélo de
imaginarse a Rosa y Elise bailando el can-can and he sald
to Josd: "Por mucho que lo piense, no puedo imaginarme a
Elisa oomo no sea con un nifio cogido en un brazo y otro
colgando de sus faldas . . ." (pages 1007-08). BSuddenly
", . « aguellas ideas de la ocarta de Elisa penetraron en
el cerebro de Luis . . ." Elilsa had thought of her sister-
in-law's gay life at the university. Could it be that
Elisa's life wasn't happy? Luis nervously began to oonw
gider all the advantages of Luilsa's life. B5he had children,
a husband, no worry about earning a living. He wondered
if this was enough for her, "Quigzés, a pesar de todo,
querfa mds" (page 1008). Luis found Elisa ohanged on her
return: "Estaba juvenil y encantadora . . . tan gegura de
81 misma, tean candorosa . . ." and suddenly ". . . se
desconcertd y sintié unos ridfsculos y rablosos celos al
verla asf. No =sabfa de quién tenfa celos, édsta es la
verdad. Pero los sentfa" (page 1009). Later, when Elisa
became indignant with him, & reaotion she had never shown
before, Luis ". . . se sintié desarmado.” To her question
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"LPor qué esta broma egstdpida . . .?" he replied "No aé:
fue un pronto . . . Me faastidiabe pensar que yo habfa
estado aquf solo, aburrido, y td te habfas divertido
tanto « . " Elisa replied only "--iEstdpidoi®, as she
thought of her days of fear and suffering, but she said it .
"ocon tanta dulzura, que se sintfo Luls animado . + + ¥
volverse a abrazar a su mujer . . ." (page 1010).

Thus the reader feels that Elipa's life with Luis
19 going to be Tar different as a result of the influence
of o] viale divertido., that was not a happy trip but seenms
to have brought about a happy ending to the confliots and
misunderstanding that exiasted between the two. The author
presents realistically the problems of a young wife and
mother, the feelings of insecurity and insdequacy; problems
that would be typical for the young, unsducated wife of a
profeasional man. The solution of these seems logloal
and satisfactory. It seems improbable that a young woman
like Elisa would have been able to keep seoret her susploions
oconcerning Javier, but the author explainsg this by the
faot Elisa felt fear and not desire for revenge and that
Rosa, whom she loved and longed to proteot, had requested

B8L8XO0Y .



CHAPTER IV

REALISTIC TREATMENT OF EMOTIONAL CONFLICTS
IN THE SHORT STORIES

The short stories of Carmen Laforet are the "slices
of life”™ to whiech some of her critlics have referred.

Some of them are characterigations, others are vivid plo-
tures of brief and passing moments in life, guadros de
ia yida, All of them portray deep, disturbing emotions
evoked by everyday ocourrences among the ooﬁnon people of
the average and low-inocome families,

In the story, Le gggzgg.“a el sefior Paco's life had
been dreary because of his struggle against both the
emotional deprivations and the financial need brought on
by the costly illness of his wife, Marfa, over a period of
twenty years, His confliots were both inter-personal and
environmental. He had not felt oonsern for Marfa's suffer-
ing however, but rather for his own hardship with the loss
of & comnfortable home and the close companionship of his
wife. Added to thls was the resentment he had felt
against his shiftless and quarrelsome daughters. He had
reacted against his problem, not by solicitation and love

k8raroret, Novelss, op. git., vp. 261-344. All the
short stories discussed in this chapter are within these

pages,
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for his wife, toward whom he felt his obligation was ful-
filled hy providing money for medicine, nor by asserting
his authority with his children and demanding oconsideration
for their mother. Rather he had resorted to self-pity
and felt that no one sould reproach hin for the money
spent on wine or the hours of pleasure wlth a neighborhood
widow. Thus he had thought:

Nadie podrfa reprochédrselo con una mujer enferma
siempre y dos hiljas alborotadas y mal habladas como
denmonios. Nadie se lo habla reprochado jamds., Ni la
pobre Marfa . . . ni su propia conoiencia. Cuando
las lenguas de sus hijas se desataron en alguna ocasidn
nds de lo debido, la misma Marfa habfa intervenido desde
8 ocllda . » o suavemente, pero oon firmeza, En la
soledad de la alooba, ocuando algunas noohes habfa
estado €1, nmel humorado, ingquieto, . . . Marfa misma
10 habfa oompadecido--iPobre Paco! (page 266).

Paco had even gone so far as to believe Marfa 4id not
suffer because she 4id not somplain and when one suffers
one complains, "Y suando uno sufre se queja. Eso lo sabe
todo el mundo . . ." (page 267). This was a typlsal

esoape mechanism from his own oonsoience., Both Paco and
his daughters in the struggle sagainst the mother'!s illness
remained selfish to the end. Paco, who had to give up the
hope of a new marriage with the widow when his wife enjoyed
a temporary improvement in health, ceased to rebdesl and
becane uneconcerned, an attitude he assumed even at the time
of her death. "El sefior Paco se portd decentemente en su

entierro; con una oars afliglida. FPero al volver del
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cementerio ya la habfa olvidado” (page 268). The
daughters contimied to quarrel and complain, to neglect
the household tasks, and to keep the home in an uproar,
during the lifetime of their mother who *., . . nunoa, ni
en su agonfa, pudo gozar de paz®” (page 267).

Maria, on the other hand, was always a patient,
tolerant, saorifioing mother, unmindful of herself, une
complaining about her illness, thoughtful and concernsd
about her family. She showed no resentment against the
treatnent she received but scoepted it patiently, ". . .
aquella boca pdflida donde siempre flotaba la misteriosa e
irritante sonrisa . . ." (page 267). Her confliet was not
against her illness as it affected her, but as it deprived
her family of a normal life. £he gave her medioine money
for the needs of her grandshildren. PBetween illnesses she
helped her lazy, quarrelsome dsughters put the filthy
house in order. In this character Laforet extols the
sacrifice of motherhood and the important influence of the
mother in the home, both before and after death. Of the
mother she sald:

La noohe antes de morir, sin poder ya incorporarse
en la cama, Marfa hilvanaba torpemente el trajecillo
de un nieto . . . Y, oomo de ocostunbre, no pudo hacer
nads para impedir las disousiones habituales de la
familia, en su dltima 4fa en la tierra (page 268),

The conflict between the two daughters is typiecal of that

betwesn sidblings unhampered by parental control, ". . . en
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aquella oasa deascuidsada, . . . continuamente, resonaban
gritos y disousiones entre las dos hermanas . . . disocusiones
que eran el esodndalo de la veoindad . . ." (page 267).

The ocause of the quarreling is also typlocal, a gquarvel

over which one was responsible for the daily tasks, ". . .
pretextando cada una que aquel trabajo urgente le pertenecfa
e laotra . . " (page 269).

Ironically enough, the family conflicts in the
atory were solved with the death of the mother. The
daughters stopped their guarreling and shared the work so
that the household ran smoothly. Paco, because of her
death or perhaps becsuse he was getting old, spent more
time at home and even showed affeotion toward the grand-
children. The kitehen was btright and shining and the
meals prepared. The unmarried daughter waited on her
brother-in-law while her sister was busy with the children,
all of whioh made the brother-in-law say happily: "--Esto
parece otra cosa. JIEh, sefor Paco?” (page 269).

At the close of the story Paoco's confliet is with
himself, and the reader feels he suffers remorse as he
realizes what good has come out of the uncomplaining and
torturous life of Marfa--a realization that prompted him
to say, "Marfa era una santa,"

Juan Pablo in E]l veraneo portrays vividly the
arrogant, admired, spoiled, and selfish gon of an aged and



186
poverty~striken mother, a son who allowed his sister to
sacrifice her youth and her educational ocareer in order
that he might pursue his future in Madrid., Juan Pablo had
been proud of his attractive sister, Rosa, who adored him
end was wllling to give up her plans for a university.
career at the age of nineteen, and go to an obscure and
backward village to teach until Juan Pablo could send for
her. In this village she had to face primitive living
conditions, rejection by the natives hecause her ways were
different, loneliness, poverty and lack of food, ridicule
by hexr pupils. In spite of all these confliocts with her
enviromment and her unfulfilled longing to be in the gity
and near her beloved brother, she was not bitter and her
confidenoe in him oontinued through the years. She rejected
her lover, the village dootor, and a 1life in a near-hy
fishing village because she was walting for her brother
to send for her. Rosa struggled to till the smo0il in her
garden to provide food, she sndured hardships and she won
this conflict with her environment. She became loved,
respected, and admired by all the village. She had learned
to love and enjoy the beauties of the rolling countryside
and the sea. She felt no resentment toward her brother,
only hurt and disappointment bescause he was oritioal of
her, her life, and surroundings. Yet he was dlssatisfied
with his situation in the sity.
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Juan Pablo’s conflict was not egainst his sister,
othey than resentaent toward her beoause she had walted
for him to send for her, and now he was forced to feel
uneomfortable in the face of her unselfish saorifioce. His
true oconflict was within himself, He had suffered some
hunger and discomfort, but not enough to foree him to give
up his lazy, carefres way of life. Unlike Paco in La
nuerta, one does not believe that Juan Pablo felt any
appreciation of another'!s sacrifice, nor did he feel
remorse, only dissomfort. He defended himself with the
thought, "Si la chica hubiera tenido fibra de veras, se
habrfa salido del pueblo sin necesidsd de ayuda ajena . . ."
(page 280)., Because he could not fase the truth of the
situation when he visited her after an illness. he immediately
fled baek to Madrid, Although Rosa had given up hope of
a diffarent life and had apparently found happiness at
great cost, Juan Pableo, the weakling, fased a future
haunted by the knowledge of his sister's plight, and the
realigation of his own inadequacy, He felt anger and
irritation against the dooctor who told her story, and only
regret for himself, "Ahora verfa a Rosa siempre asusdndole
oon sus ojos mansos" (page 280),

In La fotograffa one senses the anguish, hardship,
and struggle brought on bty the Spanish Civil War, which
separated a young oouple, Leonor and Sebastiédn, after four
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years of marriage, years during which they had struggled
against poverty and had suffered the loss of their first
child. Leonor, the young wife and mother, in her ocon-
flict against the environment in whioh she found herself
alone with her second child born after Sebastidn's
departure, without monsy to buy suffiocient food except for
the baby, foresd to wear shabby, cast-off elothing of her
husband, ". « . un viejo abrigo y unos oalcetines de
Sebastidn . . . ,"(page 285) kept a smiling face and had
not lost the sparkle from her dark bdlue eyes nor the hope
that tomorrow would be better. This was easy in the early
hours of the day, walking in the sunshine to the market
for her dally shopping, when her body and spirit were
fresh, but at the exd of a day of teaching clazses for
poor pay, of hurrying home to prepare the meals, to wash
the clothing, to eare for the child as she did the house-
hold shores, she thought:

Leonor ya no era Leonor, sino una mujer infatigable,
con la booca apretada . . . Una mujer corriendo por su
dfa como un buen oaballo des earreras, casi oon espuma
en la boca, para caer al fin, soffolienta, pluma en
mano, sobre una ocuartillia . . . & Sebastidn llena de
frases pequefiag . . . inoapaces de expresarle aguella
nostalgia de €1 y aquel asor . . . (page 284).

Leonor's conoern was not for herself but for her absent
husband with whom she carried on a monologue each morning
on the way to the market. Hex favorite theme during those

cold winter days was the photograph, the one she would
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surely be sending him soon. The lack of money to
accomplish this was Leonor's great oonsern. To put her
own nind at ease and to reassure her husband about this
second child, to erase from his memory the little face
of their dead baby, he must see a pioture of their happy,
healthy boy. Leonor wanted o ease the pain of this loas
for her husband as this seoond ohild had eased it for her,

Ahora lea vida iba a tomer un rumbo mevo. Pronto

quizd podrfan reunirse los tres. Sebastidn oonoceria
al niflo, se sentirfs orgulloso de €1 . . . Era
necesario, por lo pronto, enviar una fotograffa s
Sebastidn (page 286).
Leonor, being a strong and determined character, solved
her conflicts of frustration because of lasck of money and
of the need to erase the memory of the death of her first
child, when she "oumplid su propésitoe® and had the photo-
graph taken,

Dofia Marfa, the widow of the photographer, and her
employee Juandn, were not in sympathy with Leonor, the
struggling young wife of the soldiey. Dofia Marfa, in her
greed for money, priced a full.length photograph so high
that Leonor could not afford it, and she had to sacrifice
showing~off the clothing she had so sarefully made for
the boy. Juandn was disgruntled because she arrived at
closing time on a Sunday afternoon and treated her with
disinterest and unpleasant grumblings. These two ocharacters
stand in contrast to the friendly old woman who sold Leonor
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the dally orange for the baby and la trenera,a casual
friend who lived on the fourth floor and who stole
cigarettes for her, so Leonor suspected, from the train
passengers. These two friendships strengthened Leonor
in her lonelinesa. The author does not indloate that
Leonor was upset by her treatment at the photo shop. She
was too overcome with joy and satisfaction at accomplishe-
ing her goal. These minor characters seem to be only
another example of Laforet!s desire to paint contrasts,
the light and th’ dark,

In the story En la edad de)l pato the author descrides
the struggle of adolescent girls with fantasy versus
reality in the process of growing up. These girlas are
frustrated and bored with the restrictions of institu-
tional 1life and resort to a world of fantasy as a relief
from the routine of studying and oclass work., They react
to the restriotions of their youth by preesocious dbehavior,
tricks played on their young professors, silly childhood
names and games, excessive use of cosmetios, ridisulous
ideas about adult life, dsydresming about the world of
nen, fascination for the soldier in uniform, oruel
behavior toward their peera, especially those who were
different and 4id not belong to the group.

The author describes more than the conflict of the
adolesoent girl with her enviromment., 8he describes the
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conflict of the adolescent with herself in the behavior
of Cristina, a talented and agressive girl, who is
apparently the leader of the group. What started out to
be an innocent guessing game, the ablility to identify
oneself in the saricature animal drawings by Cristina,
ended in ridiocule and humiliation for the shy and lonely
girl who was the ocutsider and had been shunned by the
other girls., The game back-fired and Cristina was forced
to face the consequense of her behavior, and that of the
group, when she looked at the sad face of the girl known
as Lechuocita, who had been the object of thelr laughter.
Cristina'’s sudden enlightment and remorse prompted her to
give the girl her cherished fountain pen. But this is
not a satisfactory solution for Cristina for it oould not
erase the harm she had done, the nemory of the hurt
expression on Leshucita's face. When Leshucita asccepted
the gift without a smile, Cristine was left distraught,
self-confidence gone, trembling, and, like Lechuecita,
unable to answer the guestions directed to her in class.

Ultina pnoche is a heart-rendering story of tragedy
and suffering brought on by war, It portrays vividly the
eonfliet of the young soldier against the sircumstances
in which he finds himself, the eirocunstancez of a ware
torn nation where duty to country is expected above self.
Paul Louvain, a young French soldier in 1940, who had
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been executed for desertion the morning the armistice was
declared, reveals in a letter to his sweetheart, Claunde,
the mother of his child, both the struggle against the
envirommental circumstances of war and the struggle with
hinself, his terror and fright, his cowardice, his moments
of heroissm,

In the beginning days of the war Paul felt no love
for France to spur him on. He resented deing in the
army and was in confliot with his surroundingss: hungeyr,
long marches, lice, unpleasant company, bitter hatred
toward his commander, Lieutenant Durand, hatred so vio-
lent he could have killed him. This hatred toward the
offiocer he assuaged by ridiculing him to others and
exasperating him in whatever manner he dared, His
rsbellion toward his physical surroundings, however,
finally led him to long for an injury that would remove
him from the trenches, and hatred of himself for his
cowardioce~-a duo-gconfliet with enviroment and with self.
The conflict with his surroundings won over that of
desire for courage and self-respect. Paul resorted to a
self-inflicted injury. The lieutenant kmew this but 4id
not betray him beocause he knew the other soldiers were
aware of the enmity between them and would think he had
oontrived the accusation. This only intensified Paul's
feslings of self-incrimination., The lieutenant proved
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to be a better man than he, and thie increased his animosity

toward this man. Confliots were mounting for Paul when
he met the girl, Claude, while he was reouperating from
his wounds at the home of a relative in the village where
Claude lived,

Claude had been responsible for helping him resclve
his oconflicts. She taught him love of France, B3he was
proud of his heroism, of what she thought was his suffer-
ing for the sake of his country. Love of her and love
for France became one for Psul. He resolved to cleanse
himgelf of his shame when he returned, but oirocumstances
were against him. He was again placed under the command
of Lisutenant Durand, and he was faced with the ironio
sniles of acquaintarices who knew hig disgrace. He might
have won thig conflicet in spite of all this, for he was
very determined to do so; bBut then the letter came from
Claude about the child she was expecting, his child,
Permission for a leave was refused by the lieutenant,
Again came the duo-confliot against environment and the
struggle within himself, Loyalty to Claude versus loyalty
to France tormented him. At las?t he suooumbed again. He
lacked the strength to face the confliot heroiocally and
he suffered another self-inflicted wound. The lieutenant
had no reason for silence this time. There were witnesses
and clear testimony. He wap oconvicted and sentenced to

be executed.
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In spite of the apparent defeat of Paul, in the end

it was & bodily defeat and not a apiritual one., At this
point one 1s not sure if Carmen Laforet 1s being realistis
or sentimental. Paul had apparently resolved hls con-
flicts and declared that he desired death because he
believed that with his 1life he would pay the debt of dis-
honor. As he watched the dawn of his execution day, he
was thinking of his son as the gymbol of a new and vigorous
youth, of a generation that would reotify the errors of
past generations and again cause France to flower. Paul,
it appears, died dellieving his death was just, He acked
Claude to believe the same, to put aside hate and sorrow,
and live for the future. For Claude, these were bitter
and heart-breaking moments. In an effoxrt to eomply with
Paul'’s request to look only ahead, she destroyed in the
flames his written testinmony to her, but she knew his
words would live forever in her heart, In the words of
the author:

Estes pdginas las ha guardado Claude cuidadosamente
entre sus joyas. Son ellas las gque deben enterar al
nifio, . . . de la historia de su padre. Lo demds que
escribid Paul aquella noche: su miedo helado, sus
cobardfsas y sus herofsmos, 8dlo Claude en el mundo lo
debe oconservar en su sangre, porque lo ha sufrido.

El testimonio esorito le devoraron las llemas (page
304).
The reader feels Claude accepted her fate, deeply grieved
but without sorrow. For most poopl‘ this would not be

reslistic, only for one who felt extreme love of country
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above smelf,

The story of Rogamunda evokes pity for the grotesque
ereature in her faded dress, worn ballet slippers, wearing
a rivbon in her perocxide blond halr, as she poured out
her story of frustration and lonellneas to a young soldier
she met on the train. Fellsa, when a young girl, had
seleocted this romantic name of Rosamunda in order to
remove herself from the monotony of her dreary life into
a dream world where she was loved and aduired as & beauti-
ful and talented actreas. This behavior indlocates a oon=-
flict in her youth with both her dreary surroundings and
her family, who gave her a name she abhorred. This escape
from reality enadbled her to endure her unhappy situation.
She was Jjarked Irom her dream-world by marriage to a
practical man who had no sympathy for her deluslons of
grandenr and expected hexr to assume the responsibilities
of a wife and mother. Through marrlage Rosamunda had
hoped to avold facing reality. 3She expected love to
compensate for the fast she was not a beautiful and
sucoessful actress, However, Rosamunda's married life and
motherhood falled to satisfy her longings for love, for
adniration, and for a successful career. She was again
in conflict with her enviromment, the dreary household
taeks, and with her famlly, her husband and children,
who had no understanding of her and were not shble to give
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her the love and sense of importance she needed to satisfy
her frustration and resolve these confliets. Only one
son understood her and made life bearable bdecause he
listensd a&nlringly to her fantastiec stories about her
sucoessful past. When he died she fled from the unbear-
able relationship with her family back to the oity of her
youth. There she was again in sonflist because of lack
of esteen and social status. She was ridiculed by her
forner friends. 3he was destitute, she had no place to
stay, and she suffered from hunger. Finally she was forced
to endure the humiliation of charity and to cat in e
shelter, sitting smong the beggars.

In the end Rosamunda had to ascept defeat. 8he
begged her husband to take her back, but not because she
had any understanding of her prodblem, not bLecauss she had
resolved her confliocts and was ready to ascept her role
as & wife and mother. She appealed to him only beocause
she was desperate for food and shelter. She was still
living in her dream world and felt that she was returning
to a tomb. In spite of her painful experiences in the
oity, Rosamunda was not ready to face the reality of her
situation nor to admit the truth about herself. She was
atill the great esctress wearing her ballet slippers and
silver ridbbon in her hair, she was still anxious to relate
& false story of her life rather than admit the truth to
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the young soldier or to herself. At the end of the story,
she said to him, "Puede usted llamarma Rosamunda ., . « no
he de enfadarme por eso”" (page 309), as she acocepted,
with a flippant air, his invitation to dreakfast,

In the brief "estampa®, Al Colegjo, Laforet has
axpressed vividly the deep emotional conflicts of e
young mother as she walked with her four-year-old dsughter
on a chilly, foggy morning to her first day of school.
The story is told in first perscn as a first-time experience
for both mother and child. The mother was so stirred Yy
this important osocasion, so filled with anguiain at parting
with her daughter, so desircus of feeling oclose to her,
that she took off her glove in order to fesl the warm,
soft, touch of her little girl's hand and to give to the
child a feeling of reassuranee on this most iamportant
day. The author wrote:
Yo me he guitado el guante para sentir la mano de
la nifia en ni nano y me e infinitanente tierno este
contacto, tan agradable, tan amiocal, que la estrecho
un poquito emosionada. . . . S6 perfectanmente la
fmportancia de este apretdn, sabe que yo estoy con
ella y que somos mds amigas hoy que otro dfa
cualguiera (page 310).
The mother sensed the anxiety of her child through the
touch of her hand and seemed to feel satiafaction from
the need that the child had for her and her own ability
to meet this need. The mother thought:

Es ella ahora la gue intoia una caricia tImida oon
su nanita dentro de la mfa; y por primera ver me doy
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cuenta de que su mano de ouatro afios es igusl a mi
mano grande: tan deocidida, tan posco suave, tan
nerviosa ocomo le mfa. 856 por este contacto de su
mano que le late el ocorazdn al saber gque empieza su
vida de trabajo en la tlerra . . . (page 312).
The conflioct on the part of the mother is one with self,
with a desire to keep the shild with her against one of
desire to let her go. She had pride in the child's
readiness to go out into the world for which she had
preparsd her, yet she felt the pain of parting. 8She
wanted to help this little girl and yet, for a moment,
she felt her nzere presence belied her confidence in the
childt*s ability to stand on her own. As she watched the
child oross the zchool yard alone she thought:
Me parece mal gquedarme all¥f; me da vergliensa
acompafiar a la nifia hasta dltima hora, como sl
ella no supiersa ya valerse por sf misxa en este

mundo nuevo, &l que yo he trafdo . . . Y tampoeo
la beso, porgue s€ gue ella en este momento no

quiere (page 312).
The mother experienced anguish and doudt, not in the
childts ability, but in herself, &oubt as to whether
she had prepared the child well. &8he thought of all the
things she should have told her, now that she wag older,
now that she was going to school and would not be at home
under hexr guidance. The author expressed the mother's
thoughts:

8o0la, desde la puerta, la veo marchar, sin volver
la eabeza ni por un momento, BSe me osurren cosas
para ella, un montén de cosas que tengo que deoirle,

e « « ahora que ya no la tengo en oasa, a mi disposi-
oldn a todas horas . . . (page 312).
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The mother also sxperienced feelinga of remorae because
she had not spent more time with her child, because she
had not enjoyed more fully the moments she had had with
her. She thought about the long walka they were going
to take when she had planned to teach her about the
things of nature as she belleved a good parent shoulad,
walks that 4id not materialize because time was short
and she was always too exhausted after she had dressed
the ochild with eare for the ococasion and answered all the
"porqués®., Instead of the long walk through the park,
they used to find a taxi and go to the grandmotherts home,
& placs of peace where she sould drop into & chalr and
reet while the grandparents answered all the queations,

The motherfs anxiety and remorss concerning her
inadequacy as a parent and the pain of separation from
her child were assuaged by her own pleasant memories of
the days she had spent in that same school, ™. . . 8€ que
el coleglio que le he buscado le gustard, porque me gusta
anf. . ." and by the antisipation of ecompanionship
with her danghtet as they would travel together aoross
the oity to the school each day, ". « . le parecerd bien
ir a buscarlo cada dfa, conmigo, por las calles de la
ciudad . . ." (page 312).

The mothert!s final consolation was in the thought
that although school meant a physical separstion from her
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child, spiritually and intellectually it would bring
thenm together. The mother reminisced:

Se me oourre pensar que oada dfa lo que aprenda

en esta casa blanca, lo que la vaya separando de

af--trabajo, amigos, ilusiones mievase-, la ird

acerocando de tal modo a mi alma, que al fin no

sabré ddnde termine mi elg!ritu ni dénde empieza

el suyo . . . . (page 312).
This was an optimistic conslusion, typleal of Carmen
Laforet and a realistioc one, provided the mother is
well-ad justed and able to allow her child to grow up,
painful as it may be t0 her to let the child go. The
reader feels that the mother in this story is the author
herself because the story is told so vividly it must have
been experienced, and that the closing is a message to
all mothers of the joys they may ocontimie to share with
their children.,

Through Julidn, the protagonist of E] regreso, the
author expresses the torment, anxiety, and fears that
well up in & man who is returning home to his family
oured, after treatment in a mental hospital., For two
years Jullidn had found peace within those walls, and he
had no desire to leave them. Julidn's conflict at this
point of return was not against his family bdbut within
himself. He was afraid to assume again the responsibili-
ties of providing for his family. Added to this he had

guilt feelings because he had been living a pleasant and
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protected life with adequate food and shelter while his
fanily had lived on charity. As he approached the city
and saw the factory chimneys and workmen's houses,
Julidnts guilt inoreased because he had preferred to
spend a happy Christmas-eve at the institution in pre-
ference to going home to be with his family. The author
described his feelings:

Julidn emperd a tener remordimientos de haber

disfrutado, tanto la noshe anterior. . . . Julidn
no tenfa derecho a tan ecaliente y obémoda Noshsbuena,
porque hasfa bastantes afios que en su casa esas
fiestas carecian de signifiecado (page 317).
Julidn's 1llness was the result of a confliot with poverty
and hunger, with economie aconditions that resulted in his
loss of employment as a chauffeur because of the shortage
of gasoline. His concern for his family led him to go
without food in order that the children and his wife,
who was pregnant, might eat. After months of no work and
no food, he beoame violent one day and was on the point
of killing his wife, Herminia, when he was taken away
by the authorities.

In the inatitution Julidn's conflicts had been
resolved with the oare and protection he received and he
longed to remain there. It had bdecome a refuge and sal-
vation for him. The Nother Superior, Sor Marfs de la
Asuncidn, was a mother figure to him: "Julidn la queria
musho. . . « se hadfa llevado una alegrfa al verla®
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(page 315). There was only one unpleasant experience
there, contact with gor Rosa whom he d1id not like. It
cane as a great shogk to him to realire that she looked
like his wife, Herminia, whom he loved very much. This
dislike he eould never understand, "En la vida hay cosas
incomprensidbles” (page 316). Possibly it was the reaction
to guilt feelings concerning his attack on his wife.

The anthor paints a vivid ploture of Julidnts
feelings of inadequacy and loss of sonfidenee upon his
return home. KHe suddenly realired that he had been a
coward, "De pronto se daba cuenta de lo cobarde . . "
(page 318), but his self-esteem was lessened even more
when he found that his femily had been better off without
him, A charitable organigation had helped them and had
found a Job for his wife. Would he rob them of this
security and force hunger on them again? Julidn realized,
a8 he looked at his family, that they expected him to
provide for them now and "De golpe le calan otra vez
sobre los hombros las responsibilidades, angustias. . . .
A haserla pasar hambre otra vez, seguramente, a . . »"
(page 319). The story ends on a note of uncertainty.
Julidn's conflict with his feelings of inadequasy and
his fear of hig situation, the difficulty he is going to
fasce in re-establishing himself in his home and on a job
are unsolved. Ilis family cannot understand his sad feoe,
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they 4o not know that beyond the plle of Christamas gifts
Julidn sees, with all its cruelty, life as always.

Carmen Laforet?’s treatment of the emotional con-
fllots of Pedro in the story Un matrimonio appears to be
more idealistic then realistic. Pedro was a wealthy
young playboy, "alto y fuerte y de cardeter alegre,”
¥ho had attended the university only so that he might
enjoy the agreeable life of Madrid, His father weas
proud of his son and pampered him with money for whatever
he desired., Thus Pedro had lived a gay, carefree life
with no oconflicts with his family or his enviromment.

He had never faced the consequences of his acts, ". . .
Jands se habla privado de nada que le apeteciese en el
nomento. . o . Jamds habfa pensado en las consecusncias
de sus actos” (page 325). On several ocoasions his
father had warned him, "Puede que cuando cambies sea
tarde, ruchacho . . » Pero no era tarde, la verdad,
Pedro tenfa solamente veintitrés aflos" (page 325). It
wag at this point that Pedro oame into sudden oconfliot.
with his environment, the customs of his soclal olass,
with his fanily, and with the people of his community.

Pedro was disnlissed from school for fallure to
study. He had fallen in love with a chorus girl whom
neither the community nor his family would aceept and in
defending her against them he suddenly realiged that,



204
contrary to his previous intentions, he desired to marry
this girl who was pregnant with his ohild end refuged to
destroy a life in ordexr to avold shame, dlsgrece, and
responsibility. Pedro ocould not believe his doting
father would turn against him, and he married Gloria. He
felt it was the idle gomelp of thelr asquaintances that
poisoned his father's mind, and he hated them for this
life of absolute deprivation that had hesen forced upon
him. To Glorla he would say, "Estamos aprendiendo muchas
cosas" {page 323), which made her smile, for she had
never ¥nown anything vut hardship.

It infuriated Pedro that his father refused to
help them., Bitter words were exchanged, but fury
turned into grief and hate when he received only a ourt
telegram from his father in reply to & message announeing
the birth of his son. Pedrn realized "No recordsha haber
llorado desde su infancla; habfs sido un muchacho duro,
pero ahora sintid que se le humedecfan loa ojos" (pages
325-326). It was inconceivable to think of his father's
face as he destroyed Pedro's letters and wrote the words
cutting Pedro out of his life forever, "No tenemos hijom
nl nietos. Indtiles cartas ni petiociones. Arrdglate”
(page 326). Pedro felt he already had rearraaged his life
and accepted his responsiblility when he went to work as a

bricklaysr, when he s0ld his coat for food for the family.
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There is a falry-story ending. As Pedro walked
through the streets on a cold, clear night, marvelling at
the beauty of the starry heavens and the fliokering
lights of the eity, he realized he was deliriously happy.
All of his feelings of hatred and bltterness were gone,
and he felt lilke praying. ¥is overvhelming love for his
wife Gloria, his pride in hia little son, his sudden
gense of responsibllity for them had been his salvation,
He felt only pity for his father, who refused to share
their famlily happinegs. He felt no regrets nor blanme
toward Gloria, who was responsible for his disinheritance,
but gratitnde. He was not able to sleep that night,
not because of worry or anguish, but for pride and jJoy
in hls new sense of well-belng. He had beecome a man.

In the story El & aldo, Carmen Laforet intro-

duees the religlous theme. Isabel, the protagonist, was
not in confliot with any religious belliefs, for she
laocked them. 3he was in confllot wlith her way of life,
with her enviromment, and with herself. 3he felt that
her life was over; and, when she looked back, she had
only empty memories, As Isabel oonsidered her llife, she
thought,
"Tenge affos, y nada nds que affos « « « La vida me ha
dado todo lo que tenfa que darme ya, y cuando miro

haola atrés la encuentro un poco vaclfa . . . Hada de
lo que he hecho hasta ahora me oconvence . . . Nada me
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ha llenado del todo. Los enamoramientos se pasan,
Log hljos crecen y 1la decepcionan a una . . ."
(pages 336-337).
Isabel wee reascting to these attacks of melancholy by
nphysieal 1llness. She felt the necessity of seeing s
doctor but hesitated for lack of plausible symptoms.
L1l of these feelings and physical reactions as described
by Cernen Leforet are common among women like Isabel,
who was an attrective and youthful grandmother, bored
with no responsibilities and no purpose in her life,
frustrated and lonely.
ler famlly was no consolation to her. Hargarita,
her daughter, had done well at the university and showed
promlse as a poetess, but she had nmarried a doctor,
Jullo Lopes=-Gay, whom Isabel consldered uncultured and
dull, and had gone to live in a small community. She
had written no poetry since., Isabel was disappointed
that liargarita was content with raising her famlly and
that she was always concerned about meking a good
impression, always worrylng about what people might
think about her, "largarits, a quien ella habfa educado
para ger libre e independiente como el aire” (page 337).
Isabel, while spending the Christmas holidaye with
her daughter and family, wes suddenly Jolted out of her
melancholy state and tendenoy to enjoy self-pity. In
order to keep pezce in the household of the doctor, she
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visited the local hospital to deliver Christmas gifts
because lier daughter felt unable to endure this annusl
taslz and the doctor refused to send a servant. There,
when she delivered the doctor's Christmas gift to
Januela Bulz she met the helpless invalld who had spent
forty years in a wheel chalr in the hospital. The wonman
could not read and could scarcely spesk but her acceptance
of suffering, her falith in God's will, was a revelation
to the self-centered Isabel. The suthor wrote:

Isabel crefa, un rato antes, que la vida no tenfa

nada que enseflarle ya; y ahora estabs aprendiendo

e« o« + Slempre habfa tenido un gran interes por

aprender . . . (page 32).
Igsabel felt humility and shame when she discovered what
estesn the hospital staff had for her crude but kind
son-in-law, the doctor. She was moved to learn he spent
hours at Manuela's side reading to her and gaining
strength and patience through her faith and courage. She
realized he did this not to seek approval but beoause of
the mutual benefit to himself and his patient. Isabel's
oconception of this man changed, "esa idea la reconciliaba
con Jullo, le hacfa ver en 41 algo muy distinto . . ."
(page 343). This experience changed entirely Isabel's
outlook on life and her attitude toward her family. When
the doctor ingquired about her visit she replied: "Me ha

gustado mucho” (page 343). Margarita thought the remark
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insincere until she saw her mother's radiant face. 3She
had gone reluctantly to take a Christmas gift, and, in
the words of her daughter, she had returned with a face
as gserene as if she had found "la piedra filosofal”,.
Isabel spoke Jjovially, lightly, but seriously when she
sald she had to think now about this treasure she had
found in order not to lose it. The others were not
listening, but she imew the dootor was doing so and was
aware of what she meant.

Through the wisdom of the suffering and unfortunate
Manuela, who believed that because she was able to accept
her suffering, God was ready to listen as she prayed for
others, Isabel was able to resolve her confliots with
the life she had found unbearable, to enjoy her family
and relatives that had gathered for the holidsys. She
was no longer filled with melancholy but a glow of happi-
ness. She did not know what had happened, she would have
to talk with Julio, with her dsughter Margarita, with them
all, perhaps with Manuela again or "Quizrd sélo un poco
oon Dios, como la pobre Manuela habfa hecho tentos afics
para aprender & vivir su vids' (page 344). Isabel's
enlightemment following her experience at the hospital
seems plausible for an intelligent and sensitive woman
such as she seemed to be. One feels that the dootor was

aware of his mother-in-law's problems and, due to his om
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experience, was able to understand this ohange in her.
Since interest in others tends to make anyone forget
hinself, this is a realistic and satisfactory conolusion.



CHAPTER V
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Although Cermen lLaforet claimg that her novels are
not autoblographical, it seems evident that her life
affected her choilce of characters and the problems they
faced. Both Andrea in Nada and Marta in la igla ¥ los
degyoniog lived with relatives because of broken homes.
This was also true of the author. The reader feels that
the emotional conflicts experienced by these two adoles-
cent girls were those the author also had faced. The
anguish expressed by the mothers for thelr small children
in some of the short stories and novels is possibdbly the
concern that the author felt at times as the mother of
snall children. The setting of the novel La isle ¥ log
demonios 18 on the Gran Canaria, the island where the
author grew up and from which she left to pursus her
education. This situation is repeated in Nada. DBecause
of the vivid manner in whioch the author described the
condition and results of poverty throughout her works,
it seems she is presenting some of the sooial problems
she has witnessed in post-war Spain. Her works, however,
do not deal at length with war or soclal problems.

The author's chief interest 1s in her characters

and thelr inter-personal relationships. The same type of
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conflicts and people appear throughout her writings.
Marital disocord and sibling rivalry are predominate themes
and affeoct inter<personal relationship and home environ-
men adversely. The inttor of the young girl enamored
with an older lover or vice versa also appears repeatedly,
and the resultant clash with sooclal mores is considered.
The author is partiocularly concerned with the conflict of
the person against himselfl and his struggle to secure his
identity and maintain his dignity. She expresses vividly
the anguish of loneliness, fear, envy, the longing for
love and affection, bitter frustrations, struggle with
oconscience, feelings of inferiority, lack of self-esteen,
which results in self-inorimination and sense of inferiority.

Carmen Laforet's charaoters are mostly young
people, both married and single, and two novels are devoted
to the anxieties of the adolescent in a post-war world.
Types of characters repeat themselves. There are the
educated and the intelligent, the optimistic and the
desolate, the vagabonds, the unsuncoessful artists, the
poor aristoerats, falthful servants, mysterious and
sonetimes ginister persons, insecure and dominating men,
sensitive, weak, and often pathetic and wanton women
opposed to the severe and rigid type. Thers are constant
contrasts of light and dark.
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The author, in dealing with the inter-personal and
environmental conflicts throughout her works has for the
most part treated them realistically, even though some of
the situations geem ocontrived. Her stories move through
character development and desoription of the emotbnal
experiences of these characters. They contaln very little
action., Her descriptions of emotional confliocts are
vivid and convincing with the result that the reader
endures the pain of these experiences. The characters
are for the most part neurotic and tormented individuals
driven by forces beyond thelr control.

The outstanding characteristic of the works of
Carmen Laforet is the fact that her storles, in spite of
the pessimism and disillusiomnment they contaln, end to
the satisfaction of the reader and with a strong feeling
of optimism for the future destiny of the protagonist.
This is8 in sharp ocontrast to most writers of present-day
Spain and Latin America and maskes the reading of Carmen
Laforet's writing a fascinating and delightful experiencs.
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